
FULL COUNCIL

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via 
the Authority’s Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes 

within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the 
Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are 

consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings as outlined above.  

Dear Sir/Madam

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to be held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER on Wednesday, 31st January, 2018 
at 5.30 pm being a Meeting for the following purposes.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility 
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in 
respect of matters contained in this agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council 
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct



Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must identify 
the item number and subject matter that their 
interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a 
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial 
interest they must notify the Chair when they 
leave

OPEN SESSION

Committee Report(s)

3. 21st Century Schools Programme  -  Proposed New 
Build for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 1 - 224

Other Items

4. To deal with any other urgent business or 
correspondence 

5. To receive communications from Her/His  Worship the 
Mayor 

By order of the Mayor

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FULL COUNCIL REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

21
st

 Century Schools Programme – Proposed New 
Build for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School 

 

 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to agree the location for the new build for Ysgol-y-

Graig Primary School.  If a decision is not made on the preferred site at this 
Council meeting of 31st January 2018, the timelines of the 21st Century Programme 
will not be met. This will result in Council needing to return £3m funding to WG 
(Welsh Government) and there will be no available funding for a new school build 
for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 

 
1.2 On 28th October 2011, Council approved the former Vaynor and Penderyn School 

site as the preferred location to build the new Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School.  
 
1.3    Funding only became available for the design development of Ysgol-y-Graig 

Primary School in 2016/17 as part of the Welsh Government’s 21st Century 
Schools programme.  Given it had been 5 years since the decision was made by 
Council to locate the new school on the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site, 
in October 2016 the Council prepared a further Site Options Appraisal for the new 
school to consider any changes or new information. 

 
1.4 On 6th October 2016, Council approved to go back out to public consultation. 
 
1.5  On 22nd March 2017 a report to Council recommended that the following two viable 

sites:  
 
           - Godre’r Coed Playing Fields (Option 1) and 
           - The former Vaynor and Penderyn School site (Option 2); 

Date Written January 2018 

Report Author Gareth Chapman 

Service Area Corporate 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 31st January 2018 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

                 
            be put forward as part of a 12 week public consultation to identify the preferred 

location for the new build of Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 
 
1.6 N.B Option 2 the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site will include part of the 

Godre’r Coed Playing Field for access, parking and sports facilities.  
 
1.7 CONCLUSION 
 
1.8 Whilst it is acknowledged that both sites are viable to accommodate the new 

school, the professional officers’ advice and recommendation is to build on the 
Godre’r Coed site (Option 1). 

 
1.9 However, having due regard to the public consultation and the strength of feeling 

within the community to protect the playing field at the heart of Cefn Coed y 
Cymmer, Council should debate in full the contents of this report and make an 
informed decision on the preferred location for the new Ysgol-y-Graig Primary 
School. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Council’s instructions are requested as to whether Option 1 the Godre’r Coed 

Playing Field site or Option 2 the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site be 
approved as the preferred location for the new Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 

 
2.2 The approved site be appropriated for planning purposes and delegated authority 

be provided to the Chief Officer, Neighbourhood Services to implement the 
appropriation process.   

 

2.3 Should any replacement land be required to address that being lost as a result of 
the new school proposal and in accordance with provisions of the Fields in Trust 
Deed of Dedication, the following site/sites be proposed - Teddingtons Field 
9,293m2 and the Black Patch 17,956m2. 

 
2.4 Delegated power be granted to the Chief Executive in consultation with The Leader 

and Leader of the Opposition to take all and any such steps and actions necessary 
to progress the new school build.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 It is the Council’s intention to build a new Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School, which will 

be of a suitable size and sustainable construction to enable the school community 
to thrive and develop, to serve the needs of pupils in the community, now and in 
the future. 

 
3.2 The current Band (A) Welsh Government 21st Century Schools and Education 

Programme is a £1.4billion investment over the five year period ending 2018/19.  
Local Authorities were asked to submit bids for the refurbishment and rebuild of 

Page 2



 

schools.  The programme is 50% funded by Welsh Government using a mixture of 
capital and revenue funding, with the other 50% from the Local Authority. 

 
3.3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) approved its Strategic Outline       

Programme for the 21st Century Schools Programme on 8th December 2010. This 
long-term plan identified the key priorities for improving schools over the period 
2012-2024 and was later approved by Welsh Government. The two schools 
identified in Band A were Afon Taf (refurbishment) and Ysgol-y-Graig Primary 
School (new build as the existing school building is in poor physical condition, 
which needs substantial investment to repair and improve). 

 
3.4 In 2011, MTCBC commissioned ‘Austin-Smith:Lord’ architects to produce a 

feasibility study for a new primary school at Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School and to 
undertake a public consultation with the community to identify the preferred site.  

 
3.5 The report looked at a range of proposals and considered two sites in more detail: 
  

 The former Vaynor and Penderyn School site. 
 Godre’r Coed Playing Field (former Vaynor and Penderyn School playing 

fields). 
 
3.6 Consultation was held with the community over the proposals, with the focus on 

the two sites referred to above. The aim of the public consultation was to 
understand the views of all interested parties and to help the decision as to where 
the new school should be built. 

 
3.7 Details of the advantages and disadvantages of both sites were displayed at the 

public consultation event held on 23rd March 2011, which was well attended. 
Attendees were asked to fill in questionnaires and 254 were completed. The 
majority response was that the school should be sited on the former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site.  

 
3.8 On 28th October 2011, a report to Council recommended that Members agree the 

former Vaynor and Penderyn School site as the preferred site for the re-location of 
Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School, to be used with the existing playing fields at Godre’r 
Coed. 

 
3.9 The existing school building is in poor physical condition, which would need 

substantial investment to repair and improve.  
 
3.10    The Council is proposing to build a new primary school, which will be of a suitable 

size and sustainable construction to enable the school community to thrive and 
develop, to serve the needs of pupils in the community, now and in the future. 

 
3.11 The current Band (A) Welsh Government 21st Century Schools and Education 

Programme is a £1.4billion investment over the five year period ending 2018/19.  
Local Authorities were asked to submit bids for the refurbishment and rebuild of 
schools.  The programme is 50% funded by Welsh Government using a mixture of 
capital and revenue funding, with the other 50% from the local authority. 

 

Page 3



 

 
 
What Has Changed since 2011? 
 
3.12 As it has been 5 years since the proposal was considered by Council, in October 

2016, the Council prepared a further Site Options Appraisal for the new school to 
consider any changes or new information. 

 
3.13 The changes since 2011 include new statutory provisions in relation to curriculum 

expectations; 2014 BREEAM requirements; 2014 Education Funding agency 
Schools for the future: designing school grounds; Social Services and Wellbeing 
Act 2016; Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and recommended 
non- statutory standards for sustainable drainage (SUDS) 2017. 

 
3.14 The Council sought expert advice on the public engagement and consultation 

process as it had been 5 years since the decision was made and the public 
originally were consulted. Case law also confirms the expert opinion that 
consultation was necessary before progressing with this process. A considerable 
amount of new information is available and is set out in the consultation 
documentation. Case law indicates that the key issue in deciding whether to go out 
to consultation is whether it would be fair to proceed without consultation on the 
differences between the previous decision and what is being considered now and 
the nature and extent of those differences. Here it was considered that the extent 
of the changes made it necessary for there to be further consultation. 

 
3.15 On 6th October 2016, Council approved to go back out to public consultation. 

 
3.16   The Council agreed that there would be a non-statutory Listening and Engagement 

process first, in order to ensure that the community had information about all of the 
possible solutions before any decision is made about which sites to put forward for 
public consultation.  It also gave the community the opportunity to suggest 
alternatives. 

 
3.17 The outcomes of the Listening and Engagement process were reviewed at the Co-

production stage so that Council officers and stakeholders could consider jointly 
what proposals to recommend to take forward into the formal consultation process.  

 
3.18 On 22nd March 2017 a report to Council recommended that the following two viable 

sites:  
 
           - Godre’r Coed Playing Fields (Option 1) and 
           - The former Vaynor and Penderyn School site (Option 2); 
                 
            be put forward as part of a 12 week public consultation to identify the preferred 

location for the new build of Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 
 
3.19 N.B Option 2 The former Vaynor and Penderyn School site will include part of 

the Godre’r Coed Playing Field for access, parking and sports facilities.  
 
 

Page 4



 

 
 

4.0 PUBLIC CONSULTATION 2017 
 
4.1     The purpose of the Public Consultation was to establish what the public and 

community considered to be the preferred site to build a new 21st Century School 
for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 
 

4.2 Following Council approval on 22nd March 2017, it was agreed that the 12 week 
consultation process would commence on 8th May – 31st July 2017. 
  

4.3 Consultation was originally planned to start on 8th May 2017, but with the 
unexpected announcement of a Parliamentary Election, the Council were advised 
to delay any consultation processes until after the pre-election period. 

 
4.4 In order to adhere to the guidance for public consultation during a pre-election 

period, it was agreed that the public consultation for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School 
would be delayed and would commence on Monday 12th June 2017. 

 
4.5 The process used for consultation took a varied range of methodologies to ensure 

as wide a response as possible.  This gave members of the public an opportunity 
to have their say.  The methodology included: 

 
Online Survey 
 
4.6 An online survey was designed using the “Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub”          

and also hosted on the Council website for a 14 week period (12th June – 
18th September 2017). 

 
4.7 Emails were sent out to the Citizens Panel during the consultation period in order 

to make use of this asset and increase engagement and awareness. 
 
4.8 Emphasis was placed upon Elected Members and staff to also complete the survey 

as well as disseminate wider within the community. 
 
4.9 Results were analysed using an independent analyst CANTA and were 

incorporated with all the other feedback received via other forms as part of this 
public consultation. 

 
Public Consultation Document 
 
4.10 400 hard copies of the consultation booklet were produced, providing detailed 

information on the background of the project, key information on each site, 
outcomes of working with the community, the consultation event timetable and the 
educational vision for the Council.  Included in this document was the consultation 
response form. 

    
4.11 These booklets were distributed across the County Borough centred around 

Council buildings, community centres, as well as schools and Merthyr Tydfil 
College. 

Page 5



 

 
4.12 All paper copy responses were received and collated as part of the overall 

analysis. 
 
Drop In Sessions/Roadshows 
 
4.13 12 sessions in total were held across the County Borough. The last 4 of these were 

in response to public requests for additional events. 
 

Consultation Events 
 

 Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School - 5th July 2017. 

 Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School - 18th July 2017. 

 Cefn Coed Social Club - 20th July 2017. 

 Youth Forum - 1st August 2017. 

 OAP Hall, Trefechan - 24th August 2017. 

 Memorial Hall, Pontsticill - 17th August 2017. 

 Trefechan Nursery - 7th September 2017. 

 Cefn Coed Rugby Football Club - 18th September 2017. 

 Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School - 6th September 2017. 
 

Roadshows 
 

 Civic Centre, Reception - 20th June 2017. 

 Tesco, foyer - 6th July 2017. 
 

Live Social Media Session 
 

 19th June 2017. 
 
4.14 The consultation events/roadshows were publicised using the following 

communication channels: 
 

 Council website. 

 Corporate Facebook. 

 Corporate Twitter. 

 Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub. 

 All staff e-mails. 

 All Councillor e-mails.  

 Posters.  

 Local press (including online). 

 Council’s community magazine - Contact. 
 
Petitions  
 
4.15 Two petitions totalling 1,503 signatures were received from Mr and Mrs Watkins of 

24 Maesgwynne, Cefn Coed and receipt of these were confirmed to Council on 
27th September 2017.  The contents of the petitions have been included and form 
part of the overall consultation analysis.   

Page 6



 

 
Consultation Analysis Report 

 
4.16 For openness and transparency, the Council commissioned an independent 

company CANTA to analyse all the feedback for the public consultation. Please 
see Appendix 1 for a copy of the full report. 

 
4.17 This analysis provides full details of the responses received to the consultation, 

from all sources including: 
 

 Pupils 

 Parents, Carers and Guardians 

 School staff 

 Residents 

 Members of the community 

 Local groups - sporting and otherwise 

 Other stakeholder groups 
 

and through a range of different consultation methods including the formal 
consultation response form (paper and online submissions), consultation sessions 
at community venues, formal letters and petitions received. 

 
Consultation 2017 Feedback 
 
Public Consultation Feedback from CANTA report 
 
4.18 Respondents were asked which site they think is more suitable to build a new 21st 

century school building for the Pupils of Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 
 
4.19 83% of all respondents replying using the consultation response form, identify the 

former Vaynor and Penderyn School site as being the most suitable site for 
development of the new school. 

 
4.20 12% of the respondents feel that Godre’r Coed is the most suitable site, while a 

further 5% did not provide a response to the question. 
 
4.21 The full analysis of all responses to the consultation exercise has highlighted a 

number of key themes: 
 
Concern over the Loss of the Playing Fields 

 
4.22 Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents supporting the former 

Vaynor and Penderyn School site is the loss of the playing fields. The reasons for 
their concern can be broadly summarised into several key areas of concern: 

 

 Loss of a valuable community asset: the green space is used for a wide 
variety of activities from green space for local children to play on through to 
more formal space for structured team sports. The playing fields are 
considered by many to provide a space to improve the health and wellbeing 
of the local community. 

Page 7



 

 

 Protection of the field and its legal status in terms of what it can/cannot be 
used for.  The public supporting the development of the former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site do not feel that sufficient plans have been put forward 
to mitigate the loss of the playing field site and without this they are unlikely to 
be persuaded to change their views. 

 
Historical Use of the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site  

 
4.23 Many of the respondents feel that the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site 

offers the ideal site primarily as: 
 

 It has previously been a school site. 

 It is a brown field site that should be prioritised for development above green 
field sites. 

 Supporters of the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site feel that it has 
ample space to develop a school with all the required facilities. 

 Godre’r Coed supporters however feel that the former Vaynor and Penderyn 
School site does not offer sufficient space for a new school. 

 
Transport and Access Issues 

 
4.24 Transport concerns, access and safety issues are raised by respondents favouring 

each site. It seems that both sites pose problems which need to be adequately 
addressed in any further proposals. The respondents demand clarity on a number 
of issues, including: 

 

 Due consideration to the impact of increased traffic in terms of noise, pollution 
and congestion for each site. 

 Full road proposals for each of the sites. 
 
4.25 Supporters of the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site tend to dismiss the 

concerns that access will be difficult at this site, stating its historical use as a 
school as a reason for its continued use as a school. They also tend to raise the 
issues of increased traffic in a predominantly quiet residential area should the 
school be located on the playing field site. They feel that access to the playing field 
site presents more issues than the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site. 

 
4.26 Supporters of the Godre’r Coed site, however, feel that access is better at the 

playing field site. 
 
4.27 Some clarity is needed on the proposals and plans to help the community reconcile 

their opinions. 
 
Safety 
 
4.28 Safety and safeguarding children is of utmost importance in the consideration of 

the new school building. However, respondents in favour of the former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site have highlighted that safety extends beyond school life, 

Page 8



 

repeatedly raising issues around the playing fields as a safe place for the children 
of the community to play. 
 

4.29 There are several areas where further clarification of the proposals could help the 
public to better understand the implications of the options put forward. Where 
issues are highly contentious, supporters of the 2 sites view the same issue with 
completely opposing views, further clarification is absolutely necessary. These 
would include: 

 

 More detailed clarification around proposed road changes for each site. 

 The impacts of these changes on the local communities and residents. 

 Whether the facilities of a 21st Century school can be adequately 
accommodated on the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site. 

 How the loss of the playing fields would be mitigated in other provision should 
that site be selected. 

 
Officer Feedback 
 
4.30 Considering each site based on the key factors, Council Officers, in their 

professional opinion, made a recommendation on what should be the preferred site 
to build a 21st Century School for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School.   

 

 
Education 

 

 
Advantages 

 
Disadvantages 

Former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site  

 School can be built on 
the site 

 Some opportunities to 
ensure that pupils 
would have access to 
outdoor learning areas 
throughout the day 
(may be away from 
school building) 

 Size of site makes it 
prohibitive to the delivery 
of the requirements for 
physical education  

 As use of Godre’r Coed 
site is required for the 
delivery of physical 
education on a regular 
basis, this would lead to a 
higher staff to pupil ratio 
when walking pupils to the 
site due to Safeguarding 
requirements 

 Limited opportunity for 
expansion if the school 
were to grow in the future 

Godre’r Coed Playing 
Field site 

 School can be built on 
the site 

 Good opportunities to 
ensure that all pupils 
would have immediate 
access to outdoor 
learning areas 
throughout the day 

 

Page 9



 

 The site is large 
enough to be able to 
expand the school if 
the need arises in the 
future 

 
Education Recommendation 
 
4.31 From an educational perspective the preferred site is Godre’r Coed Playing Fields; 

due to the ability to deliver a 21st Century provision on one site which is sustainable 
for the needs of 21st Century learners  

 

 
Engineering & 

Transport 
 

 
Advantages 

 
Disadvantages 

Former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site  

 Can provide a pickup / 
drop off point on High 
Street to allow 
convenient pedestrian 
access and reduce 
vehicular movement in 
the vicinity of the 
school 

 Facility located 
centrally within the 
community so 
opportunity for walking 
and cycling access to 
school 

 Provision of disabled 
persons car parking on 
site 

 Minimal opportunity to 
accommodate on-site 
parking. Restricted to 
disabled only 

 Limited highway access 
for construction traffic to 
the proposed school site.  

 Parking provision is 
located off-site  

 Potential for vehicular 
congestion and increased 
demand on surrounding 
sub-standard highway 
during peak drop off / pick 
up times  

 

Godre’r Coed Playing 
Field site 

 Access for construction 
traffic  

 Access highway off 
High Street to required 
standard, including  
footway provision  

 Able to provide 
dedicated pick up / 
drop off areas for 
pupils 

 Provision of on-site car 
parking for teachers 
and visitors 

 Provision of disabled 
persons car parking on 
site. 

 Increased vehicular 
and pedestrian 
movement in the 
vicinity of the proposed 
school site will have 
detrimental effect on 
highway safety of 
vulnerable users 

 Potential for vehicular 
congestion and 
increased demand on 
surrounding highway 
during peak drop off / 
pick up times  

 

Page 10



 

 

Access Options Appraisal 
 
Overview 

 
4.32 The Consultants ‘WSP|Parsons Brinckerhoff’ (WSP|PB) were commissioned to 

undertake a transport options appraisal for the former Vaynor & Penderyn School’s 
site and Godre’r Coed playing field site. For a copy of the traffic assessment report 
produced by Parsons Brinckerhoff please see Appendix 2.  The purpose of the 
report was to help identify the most suitable access arrangement for each site and 
also: 

 

 Identify the existing highway provision surrounding both sites and constraints 
for movement by all modes 

 Establish operation of the existing network 

 Identify potential access options to both sites with supporting interventions and 
highway improvements 

 Investigate whether these options are feasible in terms of providing safe and 
appropriate access to each site 

 
 
4.33 The report was informed by site visits undertaken between April 2016 and April 

2017.    
 
 
Methodology 
 
4.34 All the access options that emerged following the sifting process were appraised 

using a ten point scale from -5 (major negative impact), to +5 (major benefit) 
against the scheme TPOs. The impact of the access options has been appraised 
against the current situation (i.e. the existing school location and layout). The 
material condition of the existing school means that a Do Nothing scenario where 
the school is not relocated is not a viable option but it can be used as a baseline.  

 

Page 11



 

Appraisal Summary 
 

4.35 The scorings of the appraisal for the former Vaynor and Penderyn School site are 
shown in Table 1.  
 

Table 1: Appraisal Summary Table Former Vaynor School Access Options 

 
ACCESS 
OPTION 

TPO1 TPO2 TPO3 TPO4 TPO5 TOTAL 

A4 -4 +1 -1 -4 -2 -10 

A5 -4 +1 -3 -3 -2 -11 

A6 -5 +1 -4 -4 -4 -16 

A7 -2 +1 -4 -4 -2 -11 

A8 +3 -1 +3 -4 0 +1 

 

 
4.36 Access Option A8 scored the highest of the options to the former Vaynor and 

Penderyn School site with the remainder resulting in a negative impact. 
 
4.37 The scorings of the appraisal for the access options to the Godre’r Coed Playing 

Fields site are shown in Table 2. 

Table 2 Appraisal Summary Table Godre’r Coed Playing Fields Site Access Options 

 
ACCESS 
OPTION 

TPO1 TPO2 TPO3 TPO4 TPO5 TOTAL 

B7 +3 +3 +5 -3 +2 +10 

B8 +3 +3 +5 -2 +2 +11 

B9 +2 +3 +5 -1 +2 +11 

B10 +1 +4 +5 -1 +5 +14 

B11 +1 +3 +5 -1 +5 +13 

 

4.38 Access option B10 scored the highest of the options to the Godre’r Coed Fields 
Site scoring 14. The appraisal shows that all access options to the Godre’r Coed 
Fields Site are expected to result in a positive impact compared to the existing 
situation. 

 
 
 

Page 12



 

 
4.39 Based on the highest scoring Access Options for each site, taken from the 

Transport Options Appraisal report (Appendix 2). The key Constraints and 
Opportunities are outlined in the excerpts below (Option A8 and Option B10). 

 
 

Page 13



 

P
age 14



 

 

P
age 15



 

 
Engineering & Transport Recommendation 
 
4.40 The Transport Options Appraisal Report demonstrates that all of the shortlisted 

access/egress options relating to the Godre’r Coed playing field site scored 
significantly higher than the highest scoring option for the former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site.  It is therefore recommended that the school be built on the 
Godre’r Coed playing fields.  

 
 

Technical Design & 
Build 

 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Former Vaynor and 
Penderyn School site  

 Popular with the 
community 

 No known issues with 
ground conditions 

 Less of the playing 
field will be taken to 
deliver this option 

 Development of a 
Brownfield site 

 Site area fails to meet 
the Education (School 
Premises) Regulations 
1999 

 Significant gradient 
across site requires 
construction of a 
retaining wall and 
elevated plateau facing 
Pontycapel road at 
increased cost 

 Irregular shaped site 
limits design solutions 
including SUDS & 
BREEAM, could further 
increase costs 

 Part of the playing field 
will be required for this 
option i.e. dedicated 
play area and provision 
of highway access 

 Protected by Fields in 
Trust dedication 

Godre’r Coed Playing 
Field site 

 Larger site offers more 
flexibility for 
development 

 Easy to accommodate 
contractor’s parking, 
and main construction 
compound for storage 
& deliveries 

 Sufficient site area to 
accommodate future 
expansion for the 
school 

 Excellent opportunities 

 Very unpopular with 
local community 

 Loss of public open 
space 

 No ground 
investigation report is 
available to identify 
potential issues. Risk 
of additional costs to 
mitigate unidentified 
site abnormals 

 Playing field will be 
unusable by 

Page 16



 

to introduce community 
facilities into 
development 

 Site is flat, no 
requirements for 
retaining walls or 
ramps for access to 
external areas 

 No technical issues 
identified – more cost-
effective construction, 
likelihood of BREEAM-
related problems is low 

community for period 
of 12-18 months during 
construction 
 
 

 
Technical & Build Recommendation 
 
4.41 Although both sites can accommodate a school of the required size, only the 

Godre’r Coed site offers the size and flexibility to be able to accommodate a school 
which meets the standards and aspirations for a 21st Century school.   It is 
therefore recommended that the school be built on the Godre’r Coed playing fields 
site.  

 

Planning 

 
4.42 In principle the proposed development is acceptable at either site, however, 

matters such as siting, design, external appearance, landscaping, access, highway 
safety etc will be considered at application stage, at which point an assessment will 
be made as to whether or not the proposed development complies with policies of 
the adopted LDP. 

 
Fields In Trust 

Deed of Dedication  
 
4.43 The area of land known as Vaynor Fields at Godre’r Coed Road, Cefn Coed is 

registered Freehold to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council at the Land Registry 
under title number CYM297573. The land is held subject to a Deed of Dedication 
made on 5th April 2013 between the Council and the National Playing Fields 
Association, operating as Fields in Trust. 

 
4.44 The Deed of Dedication includes an undertaking on behalf of the Council not to use 

the Property or permit the Property to be used for any purpose other than as a 
public playing field and recreation ground (including use by schools) with a pavilion 
and changing rooms. 

 
4.45 The Deed of Dedication also includes an undertaking on behalf of Fields in Trust 

not to unreasonably withhold consent to any disposal of the Property or to the 
erection of any structures on it, provided that the Council, at the request of Fields in 
Trust, replaces the Property with a piece of land approved by Fields in Trust which 
is of equivalent or better facilities, of the same or greater dimensions, in the same 

Page 17



 

catchment area, as accessible to the public and enters in to another Deed of 
Dedication on the same terms in respect of the replacement site. 

 
4.46 A number of sites within the ownership of the Council can be made available for 

consideration as replacement sites to comply with the requirements of the Deed of 
Dedication should the approval of Fields in Trust be necessary to proceed with the 
development of a replacement school. 

 
4.47 It must be noted that both sites will require the Council to provide replacement 

land.  
 
Potential surplus sites 
 
4.48 The site of the existing Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School and the site of Trefechan 

Nursery School are both likely to be surplus to the requirements of the Education 
Department on completion of the re-location of the schools. The Council’s existing 
procedures require that the availability of the properties will be circulated to all 
internal departments of the Council to consider the potential to utilise for any other 
Council purpose. Should the sites not be required for any operational purpose they 
will be declared surplus to Council requirements. 

 
4.49 A consultation exercise will then be undertaken to obtain any views or comments in 

respect of the potential future use and/or disposal of the properties. If the disposal 
of the properties is taken forward, investigations in respect of the development 
potential of each site will be undertaken as a matter of course. This will inform the 
valuation of each property in order to comply with S.123 of the Local Government 
Act where Local Authorities are required to obtain best value.  

 
4.50 If Godre’e Coed playing field is the preferred site then the former Vaynor and 

Penderyn School site will also be surplus to requirements and the Council will seek 
opinions from the community for any future use.  

 
Estimated Project Timeline  
 
Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School – Estimated Project Timeline 
 

Task Date 

Public Consultation  Sept-17 

Feedback / Analysis Sept-17 

Deliberation Event Nov-17 

Council Decision Jan-18 

Site Investigations Feb -18 

Project Design Feb -18 

Planning  Application May-18 

Procurement of Contractor July-18 

Gateway review Sept-18 

WG Funding Approval Sept-18 

Council Approval Oct-18 

Construction start Nov / Dec-18  

Page 18



 

Completion / Handover Mar-20 

School Occupation (Easter 2020) Apr-20 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 If a decision is not made on the preferred site at the Council meeting on 

31st January 2018 then the timelines of the 21st Century Programme will not be 
achievable. This will result in the Council needing to return approximately £3 m 
funding to Welsh Government and there will be no available funding for a new 
school for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School. 

 

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 

this report. It has been found that a full assessment is required.  The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ 
link. 

 
6.2 The positive impacts are that the new school will support the Council’s Well-being 

Objectives by providing improved accommodation for staff and pupils in a one form 
entry primary school. A new school building will enable the school community to 
sustain their improvements and move to excellence by providing an outstanding 
learning environment in which the children can access high quality learning 
experiences. The Council will also host a learning resource base for up to 15 Key 
Stage 2 pupils with identified additional needs within the new school. 

 
6.3 As the school location will change, the proposal could result in longer home-to-

school travel distances for some pupils. Under these proposals, there are no plans 
to change the Council’s policy on the transport of pupils to and from schools. This 
proposal does not affect the Council’s policy on the admission of children to 
schools. The current home to school transport policy states that transport will only 
be provided for pupils residing more than 2 miles away. 

 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
COUNCILLOR KEVIN O’NEILL 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) 
Date 

Document 
Location 

 
Council Report  
 
 

  21st Century Schools Programme 

 
 
Issues Paper – Listening and Engagement 
 
 
 
 
Council Report  
 
 
 
Public Consultation Document  
 
 
 
Minutes from deliberative event 
 
 

 
Ysgolion yr 21ain Gantrif/21st Century Schools  
http://21stcenturyschools.org 
 
 
Physical Literacy – an all-Wales approach to 
increasing levels of physical activity for children 
and young people(2013) 
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/130621-
sports-and-physical-activity-review-en.pdf 
 

 
28th October 

2011 
 
 

5th October 
2016 

 
March 2017 

 
 
 
 

22nd March, 
2017 

 
 

June 2017 
 
 
 

November 
2017 

 
Estates Department 

 
 
 

Education 
 
 
Communications, 
Consultation and 
Engagement Office 

 
 

Communications, 
Consultation and 
Engagement Office 

 
Communications, 
Consultation and 
Engagement Office 
 
Communications, 
Consultation and 
Engagement Office 
 
Education  
 
 
 
Education  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 
 

Page 20

http://21stcenturyschools.org/
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/130621-sports-and-physical-activity-review-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/130621-sports-and-physical-activity-review-en.pdf


 

 

  

Analysis of the full responses to the Public 

Consultation  on the preferred site for a 

new school building for Ysgol Y Graig 

Primary School 

Final analysis of the 21st Final analysis of the 21st Final analysis of the 21st Final analysis of the 21st 

Century Schools Programme:Century Schools Programme:Century Schools Programme:Century Schools Programme: 
Ysgol Y Graig Primary School 

By: 

                    October 2017 

Page 21



 
 

1 
 

 

ContentsContentsContentsContents    
 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................ 2 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 5 

2. Full analysis of Responses ........................................................................................................... 7 

2.1. RESPONDENT PROFILE ................................................................................................................ 7 

2.1.1. RESPONDENT GROUPS ........................................................................................................... 7 

2.1.2. GENDER ................................................................................................................................ 7 

2.1.3. AGE PROFILE ......................................................................................................................... 8 

2.1.4. MARITAL STATUS ................................................................................................................... 8 

2.1.5. DISABILITY ............................................................................................................................ 9 

2.1.6. ETHNICITY ............................................................................................................................. 9 

2.1.7. RELIGION OR BELIEF ............................................................................................................... 9 

2.1.8. WELSH LANGUAGE ............................................................................................................... 10 

2.2. PREFERRED SITE ....................................................................................................................... 10 

2.2.1. PREFERRED SITE OF RESIDENTS ............................................................................................. 11 

2.2.2. PREFERRED SITE OF MEMBERS OF THE COMMUNITY............................................................... 14 

2.2.3. PREFERRED SITE OF PARENTS, GUARDIANS AND CARERS ........................................................ 16 

2.2.4. PREFERRED SITE BY LOCAL SPORTING GROUPS AND CLUBS ..................................................... 18 

2.3. REASONS FOR PREFERRED SITE ................................................................................................. 20 

2.3.1. THEMES IN FAVOUR OF GODRE’R COED PLAYING FIELD SITE ................................................... 20 

2.3.2. THEMES EMERGING IN FAVOUR OF FORMER VAYNOR & PENDERYN HIGH SCHOOL SITE ........... 22 

3. Key Themes ............................................................................................................................... 36 

4. Conclusions ............................................................................................................................... 37 

5. Appendices ................................................................................................................................ 38 

 

 

 

  

Page 22



 
 

2 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 

Final analysis of the 21Final analysis of the 21Final analysis of the 21Final analysis of the 21stststst    Century Schools Programme:Century Schools Programme:Century Schools Programme:Century Schools Programme:    

Public Consultation on the preferred site for a new school building for Ysgol Y Graig 

Primary School 

 

 

As part of the Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools and Education Programme, Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council’s education department is proposing to replace the existing school building 

and relocate it in a new building on a new site.  

This analysis provides full details of the responses received to the consultation, from all sources 

including: 

• Pupils  

• Parents, Carers and Guardians 

• School Staff 

• Residents 

• Members of the community 

• Local groups – sporting and otherwise 

 

And through a range of different consultation methods including the formal consultation response 

form (paper and online submissions), Consultation sessions at community venues, formal letters and 

petitions received.  

The findings show that the majority of respondents, around 8 in 10, favour the former Vaynor and 

Penderyn High School site for the location of a new primary school.  The full analysis of all responses 

to the consultation exercise has highlighted a number of key themes: 

 

CONCERN OVER THE LOSS OF THE PLAYING FIELDS 

Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents supporting the V&P site is the loss of the 

playing fields.  The reasons for their concern can be broadly summarised into several key areas of 

concern: 

• Loss of a valuable community asset:  the green space is used for a wide variety of activities 

from green space for local children to play on through to more formal space for structured 

team sports 

• The playing fields are considered by many to provide a space to improve the health and 

wellbeing of the local community 

• Protection of the field and its legal status in terms of what it can / cannot be used for 

 

Page 23



 
 

3 
 

 

The public supporting the development of the V&P site do not feel that sufficient plans have been 

put forward to mitigate the loss of the playing field site and, without this, they are unlikely to be 

persuaded to change their views 

 

HISTORICAL USE OF THE V&P SITE 

 

Many of the respondents feel that the former Vaynor and Penderyn site offers the ideal site 

primarily as: 

 

• it has previously been a school site 

• it is a brown field site that should be prioritised for development above greenfield sites 

• supporters of the V&P site feel that it has ample space to develop a school with all the 

required facilities 

• Godre’r Coed supporters however feel that the previous V&P site does not offer sufficient 

space for a new school 

 

TRANSPORT AND ACCESS ISSUES 

Transport concerns, access and safety issues are raised by respondents favouring each site.  It seems 

that both sites pose problems which need to be adequately addressed in any further proposals.  The 

respondents demand clarity on a number of issues, including: 

 

• Due consideration to the impact of increased traffic in terms of noise, pollution and 

congestion for each site 

• Full road proposals for each of the sites 

 

Supporters of the V&P site tend to dismiss the concerns that access will be difficult at this site, 

stating its historical use as a school as a reason for its continued use as a school. They also tend to 

raise the issues of increased traffic in a predominantly quiet residential area should the school be 

located on the playing field site.  They feel that access to the playing field site presents more issues 

than the V&P site.  

 

Supporters of the Godre’r Coed site, however, feel that access is better at the playing field site.   

 

Some clarity is needed on the proposals and plans to help the community reconcile their opinions.  

 

SAFETY 

Safety and safeguarding children is of utmost importance in the consideration of the new school 

building.  However, respondents in favour of the V&P site have highlighted that safety extends 

beyond school life, repeatedly raising issues around the playing fields as a safe place for the children 

of the community to play.   

Page 24



 
 

4 
 

 

Again with supporters of each site feeling their preferred option provides the safest choice, further 

clarification of access / road proposals will help the public understand the implications of each 

proposal more effectively. 

 

CONCLUSION 

There are several areas where further clarification of the proposals could help the public to better 

understand the implications of the options put forward.  Where issues are highly contentious, 

supporters of the 2 sites view the same issue with completely opposing views, further clarification is 

absolutely necessary.  These would include: 

• More detailed clarification around proposed road changes for each site 

• The impacts of these changes on the local communities and residents 

• Whether the facilities of a 21st Century school can be adequately accommodated on the 

former V&P site 

• How the loss of the playing fields would be mitigated in other provision should that site be 

selected 

 

  

  

Page 25



 
 

5 
 

 

Final analysis of the 21Final analysis of the 21Final analysis of the 21Final analysis of the 21stststst    Century Schools ProgrammeCentury Schools ProgrammeCentury Schools ProgrammeCentury Schools Programme:  

Public Consultation on the preferred site for a new school building for 

Ysgol Y Graig Primary School 
 

1. Introduction 

 

As part of the Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools and Education Programme, Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council’s education department is proposing to replace the existing school building 

and relocate it in a new building on a new site.  

Following a programme of site shortlisting, in conjunction with the community 2 sites were 

shortlisted: 

 

• The former Vaynor and Penderyn High School Site 

• Godre’r Coed Playing Fields 

 

Following this shortlisting process the Council carried out an extended period of consultation on the 

preferred site for a new school building.   

 

1.1. METHODOLOGY 

 

The programme of consultation was undertaken by the Council and encouraged responses from 

as wide a range of stakeholders as possible via a number of consultation events.  Responses 

were predominantly submitted via online and paper versions of a Consultation Response Form.  

Responses submitted on the official Consultation Response Form, either online or as a paper copy 

have been aggregated and the results analysed together, for detailed verification and presentation.  

In addition to these, formal responses were received from  

• Estyn 

• The Headteacher of Ysgol Y Graig Primary School, on behalf of the staff  

• The Governing Body of Ysgol Y Graig  

A petition from the Save the Field Group was also received, expressing opposition to the 

building of the new school on the Godre’r Coed site.   

The findings from each of these channels are detailed within this report to provide a full and 

detailed analysis of the views and opinions of those responding to the consultation.  

 

Page 26



 
 

6 
 

 

 

1.2. RESPONSE ANALYSIS 

 

1.2.1.  CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM 

A total of 514 people responded to the consultation via the consultation response form 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In their responses, participants were able to specify in which capacity they were responding i.e. as a 

member of the community, as a parent, pupil, resident etc.   

In the response form, respondents were able to select more than one option.  However, in order to 

accurately analyse responses by stakeholder group it has been necessary to allocate each 

respondent to one single category, to ensure each respondent’s views are heard appropriately.   

This assessment has been completed, using Merthyr Tydifil CBC’s priority stakeholder group analysis.  

Where a respondent has identified themselves as belonging to a range of different stakeholder 

groups, they have been assessed and assigned to the group with the highest priority.  i.e. someone 

identifying themselves as a parent, member of the community and local sporting group will have 

been analysed as a Parent.     

 

Please note all illustrative comments are included exactly as submitted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Format Number of 

responses received 

% 

Online Consultation Response Form 274 
 

53% 

Paper submission of the Consultation Response 
Form 

240  47% 

Total  514 100% 

Page 27



 
 

7 
 

 

2. Full analysis of Responses  

 

2.1.2.1.2.1.2.1. RRRRESPONDENTESPONDENTESPONDENTESPONDENT    PPPPROFILEROFILEROFILEROFILE    

 

2.1.1.2.1.1.2.1.1.2.1.1. RRRRESPONDENT ESPONDENT ESPONDENT ESPONDENT GGGGROUPSROUPSROUPSROUPS    

 

The highest numbers of responses were received from Residents (213 responses for analysis), 

members of the community (119 analysed responses), parents (55) and local sporting groups / clubs 

(46).    The groups with the highest levels of responses are shown below:  

 

Respondent Total number 

resps 

identifying as 

this group 

Respondents 

assessed 

group 

Resident 235 213 

Member of Community 297 119 

Parent / Carer 57 55 

Local Sporting Club / Group 69 46 

Local community groups 23 14 

Pupil 281 9 

 

A full breakdown of the responses received from each of the respondent groups and the numbers of 

assessed respondents in each group is included as Appendix 1 

 

2.1.2.2.1.2.2.1.2.2.1.2. GGGGENDERENDERENDERENDER    

 

104 of the respondents gave details of their gender as follows:  

• 50% identify themselves as female 

• 44% are male 

• 1% are identify as transgender, and  

• 5% prefer not to say 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 Many former pupils identified themselves as pupils in the survey.  For the purpose of the analysis, these 
respondents have been assessed as belonging to one of the other stakeholder groups they selected i.e. 
Resident 

Page 28



 
 

8 
 

 

2.1.3.2.1.3.2.1.3.2.1.3. AAAAGE GE GE GE PPPPROFILEROFILEROFILEROFILE    

 

A total of 80 of the respondents provided details about their age group.  Of those that did: 

• Around a quarter are aged between 35 and 44 (23%) 

• 17% are aged 25 – 34, and 

• 11% are aged 65 – 69 

 

A full breakdown is illustrated in the chart:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.1.4.2.1.4.2.1.4.2.1.4. MMMMARITAL ARITAL ARITAL ARITAL SSSSTATUSTATUSTATUSTATUS    

 

Of the 102 respondents providing a response to the question about their marital status; 

• 64% describe themselves as being married 

• 14% are single 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 
 

9 
 

 

2.1.5.2.1.5.2.1.5.2.1.5. DDDDISABILITYISABILITYISABILITYISABILITY    

 

Overall, of the 103 respondents providing information about disability, 8.7% consider themselves to 

be disabled, 5% said that they would prefer not to say, while 86% do not consider themselves 

disabled.  

 

2.1.6.2.1.6.2.1.6.2.1.6. EEEETHNICITYTHNICITYTHNICITYTHNICITY    

 

102 people responded to the question about their ethnicity.  1% describe themselves as being from 

a non-white background, and a further 4% preferred not to say:  

 

 

 

2.1.7.2.1.7.2.1.7.2.1.7.     RRRRELIGION OR ELIGION OR ELIGION OR ELIGION OR BBBBELIEFELIEFELIEFELIEF    

 

• 49.5% of respondents describe their religion as Christian 

• 38.8% say they have no religion 

• 10% prefer not to state their religion or belief 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 
 

10 
 

 

2.1.8.2.1.8.2.1.8.2.1.8. WWWWELSH ELSH ELSH ELSH LLLLANGUAGEANGUAGEANGUAGEANGUAGE    

 

Respondents were asked to indicate whether they are able to speak, read, write and understand 

Welsh.  Of those that responded to this set of questions (100 respondents) 

• 28% say that they are able to understand 

Welsh 

• 25% are able to read Welsh 

• 21% say that they can speak Welsh and a 

further 21% can write Welsh 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.     PPPPREFERRED REFERRED REFERRED REFERRED SSSSITEITEITEITE    

 

Respondents were asked which site they think is more suitable to build a new 21st century school 

building for the pupils of Ysgol Y GraIg.  

 

83% of all respondents, replying using the 

consultation response form identify the 

former Vaynor & Penderyn High School site 

as being the most suitable site for 

development of the new school.  

 

12% of the respondents feel that Godre’r 

Coed is the most suitable site, while a 

further 5% did not provide a response to the 

question.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



 
 

11 
 

 

2.2.1.2.2.1.2.2.1.2.2.1. PPPPREFERRED REFERRED REFERRED REFERRED SSSSITEITEITEITE    OFOFOFOF    RRRREEEESIDENTSSIDENTSSIDENTSSIDENTS    

 

Further analysis identifies some variance in opinion by the stakeholder groups with the largest 

number of respondents, although most respondents do favour the former V&P site: 

• Residents, 213 respondents, are most heavily in favour of the former V& P site with 94.4% 

thinking it is the most suitable site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Comments from residents focus heavily on the loss of the green space, and its impact on the 

community 

 

“There aren't many places that are safe for children to play in Cefn the old school field is 
perfect, The field in question has seen many events over the years and not just rugby, 
carnivals plus other sport events.” (Res) 

  

“There is no green space left around the village for children to play that space is for all the 
community people walking around the field children playing climbing trees vaynor school 
would be ideal for the new new school” (Res) 
 

“The field must be retained for community. To ensure that there is a GREEN SPACE for all to 
enjoy.” (Res) 
 
“There is a school site already in place. It would be a tragedy to ruin the fields.” (Res) 
 

 

 

Page 32



 
 

12 
 

 

The fact that the former V&P site, has historical use as a school is also of great importance to this 

group: 

 

It's a brown field site where a school with over 500 pupils once stood. I myself went to school 
in that site and I can't see any valid reason why another school servicing far less pupils can't 
be located on it.” (Res) 
 
Its a brown site more than adequate to build a 21st centuty school ensuring the green space 
in the vilage is preserved for future generations” (Res) 
 
It seems a better option as it has been previously used for such a purpose. Any traffic 
problems would occur in both sites so either way the community is affected greatly. However 
with the old school site being used the field can continue to be used by an array of groups 
within the community throughout the year, keeping children active and involved in sport. The 
field is bigger at present than what it is proposed to be and allows for large tournaments, 
sports days, various activities to take place at once thus being the heart of the community. 
(Res) 
 

Access issues are viewed as unimportant by this group, with the use of the Godre’r Coed fields for 

sporting clubs and as a green space being prioritised: 

“The old school site is perfectly viable, any access issues can be overcome. Both proposed 
sites will have pedestrian access to them via Pontycapel Road The community of Cefn Coed 
want the Vaynor fields left for use of sporting groups, for cricket, rugby etc. Cricket would be 
driven from this village if the fields are built on. The former school held over 500 pupils , the 
site is by far large enough to hold a building for less than half that number , this is the wish of 
the community , are the council going to ignore it.” (Res) 

 
The site is right in the centre of the village - it is easily accessible on foot for children and 
parents from all parts of Cefn Coed. There is scope to alter traffic arrangements (e.g. through 
one way systems, designated drop-off points) to allow drop-off by parents and buses from 
Trefechan and Pontsticill. The site is currently derelict and this would be an excellent use of 
the space - it is very close to the Godre'r Coed fields for sport activities that couldn't be 
accommodated on the Vaynor and Penderyn site.  (Res) 
 
“The old Vaynor and Penderyn site is more than suitable as the new location for Ysgol y 
Graig. As an ex Vaynor and Penderyn pupil access and regress was never an issue. Social and 
economic responsibility should encourage and demand communities keep ever decreasing 
'green' resources for our children and communities to utilise and appreciate now and for the 
future.”    (Res) 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 
 

13 
 

 

Several respondents highlight the history of the field site as a reason to keep them in their current 

state: 

“I remember this land being donated by Colonel Jones for the use of the young people of Cefn 
Coed and think that his wishes should be adhered to.” (Res) 

 

The health and wellbeing of the community are highlighted by a number of residents as reasons for 

utilising the former V&P site: 

“The health of the community should be considered when there are so many problems in 
Merthyr.  People need exercise and the children need a field to do this”  (Res) 
 

“We want the field kept as it is for sports and leisure.  The children of the borough need the 
facility to try to keep healthy.” (Res) 
 
“Building here would leave the playing field site available for sports leisure and healthy 
pursuits.  which contribute to maintaining active and healthy communities and securing far 
reaching benefits. We could have a new primary school and playing fields. Not  an either or 
situation.”  (Res) 

 

Residents that favour the Godre’r Coed local tend to raise points around access and safety in their 

comments in support of the playing field site:   

“Old Vaynor site is surrounded by very narrow streets on all sides, the area already has 
parking problems and access is restricted sometimes for larger vehicles. Children would have 
to cross Pontycapel Road to access playing field. I am concerned at the moment that 
emergency vehicles couldn't reach my area (near the viaduct) due to parking on Pontycapel 
Road and parked cars spilling out of South Terrace. We need more parking.” (Res) 
 
“Safety of the children is absolutely paramount.  I understand that two independent 
engineering consultants have deemed the old VP site as unsafe due to access and road 
layout. Any new school should be built for purpose in the 21st century…”  (Res) 

 
 
With several highlighting the ample space on the Godre’r Coed site as an opportunity to 

accommodate a 21st Century School:  

“Plenty of space to accommodate a 21st century school with appropriate outdoor space to 
deliver the foundation phase and Key Stage 2 curriculum. Access is safer for pupils, parents & 
staff and better parking facilities There would be more flexibility for the designers of the 
school on this site as opposed to former Vaynor & Penderyn. The community will not lose the 
playing field, so this site appears to be the best option for school and wider community. Let's 
not forget that first and foremost we have a duty to find the best site for the children.”  (Res) 
 

 

 

Page 34



 
 

14 
 

 

2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2. PPPPREFERRED REFERRED REFERRED REFERRED SSSSITE OF ITE OF ITE OF ITE OF MMMMEMBERS OF THE EMBERS OF THE EMBERS OF THE EMBERS OF THE CCCCOMMUNITYOMMUNITYOMMUNITYOMMUNITY    

 

Members of the community, 119 respondents, also strongly favour the former V&P site, although 

with slightly more in favour of the Godre’r Coed Playing field site.   8 in 10 members of the 

community however feel that the former V&P site is the most suitable: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A number of those members of the community preferring the former V&P site identify it as 

the most suitable due to its history.  Some of the comments include:  

 

There was a school there for over a hundred years that many generations of my family 
attended. It's centrally located. It's been derelict for years and a school would be ideal (MoC) 

 

The field is in trust and the Vaynor and penderyn site is the best site because there's always 
been a school there and our children deserve to have their field to play on its a community 
field and is used by all age groups and it's the only place safe for our children and 
grandchildren and future generations to enjoy (MoC) 
 

It's a brown field site where a school with over 500 pupils once stood. I myself went to school 
in that site and I can't see any valid reason why another school servicing far less pupils can't 
be located on it. Any issues with access or concerns around the road system for those walking 
to school would be the same as you would have if the school were built less than 100 yards 
away on the old school field. (MoC) 
 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount. (MoC) 

Page 35



 
 

15 
 

 

It's the site of a previous school so obviously works as a location. Highways to the field would 
be logistically more difficult, and the village would have both needs met, a school and 
playing/recreational field (MoC) 

 

 

Generally concerns about access are dismissed by supporters of the former V&P site with 

comments such as: 

 

It's the site of a previous school so obviously works as a location. Highways to the field would 
be logistically more difficult, and the village would have both needs met, a school and 
playing/recreational field (MoC) 
 

The old school site is perfectly viable, any access issues can be overcome . Both proposed 
sites will have pedestrian access to them via Pontycapel Road The community of Cefn Coed 
want the Vaynor fields left for use of sporting groups , for cricket , rugby etc. Cricket would 
be driven from this village if the fields are built on. The former school held over 500 pupils , 
the site is by far large enough to hold a building for less than half that number , this is the 
wish of the community , are the council going to ignore it. (MoC) 
 

There was a school there for years and years.... never a problem with access, no RTA's and 
it's closer to main high street (MoC) 
 

 

Among the members of the public that prefer the Godre’r Coed site (16 respondents), 

convenience and an “all-in-one” location are popular themes in the comments:  

 

Site in one place - no need to cross roads to access field. Direct access to green space Drop off 
and collection options safer No compulsory purchase required Site is level Children able to 
gain access to whole school site without leaving the single area Given the community desire 
to retain school in the community, is the best compromise option. (MoC) 
 

The school and its recreation facilities can be all on one site. There is also room to keep the 
rugby pitch for the local rugby club. Everyone wins! (MoC) 
 

 

 

Access to this site is also highlighted by some members of the community as being better at 

the Godre’r Coed site: 

 

Ease of access where all facilities are on the one site for the safety of the children. (MoC) 
 

 

 

Page 36



 
 

16 
 

 

This site is more viable in terms of access and will be easier to build on given the time and 
budget constraints. The inductive plans look amazing and the rugby pitch will still remain and 
be in better condition and be a safer locked site so no more dog fouling issues. (MoC) 
 

All roads and entrances safer. Site flat and overall shape better than school site. (MoC) 
 

There is better access by road to the field and I believe that using that site would have a less 
detrimental effect on local residents. (MoC) 

 

 

2.2.3.2.2.3.2.2.3.2.2.3. PPPPREFERRED REFERRED REFERRED REFERRED SSSSITE OF ITE OF ITE OF ITE OF PPPPARENTSARENTSARENTSARENTS,,,,    GGGGUARDIANS AND UARDIANS AND UARDIANS AND UARDIANS AND CCCCARERSARERSARERSARERS    

 

Although a lower number of respondents identify themselves as Parents2, this group too favours the 

Former Vaynor & Penderyn Site but by a smaller percentage; 60% of parents prefer this site, while 

36% of parents identify Godre’r Coed as the most suitable site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parents favouring the former V&P site (55) tend to focus on the loss of the green site of the 

playing fields if that site were to be selected, and this raises significant concern among 

them.  Some typical comments around this issue are as follows3:  

 

                                                           
2 Base sample of 55 parents 
3 NB all quotes are as written by respondents.  They have not been edited in any way.  

Page 37



 
 

17 
 

 

 

Because you can't create green space which will be lost if you build a school on it. It 

is protected and the consultation doesn't state where the replacement land is going 

to be located, if at all. This is why any council would not build on a green  

space/park in a city center. you have a brown field site which should be first 

priority. (Parent) 

So that the children not only benefit from having a new school but also enjoy continued use 
of green space for their future. Why take away green space when there is a suitable 
alternative. And also when the community has previously opposed a similar proposition. 
(Parent) 

 

Keeps green area in community Previous school site Central (Parent) 

 

There was a school on there before I think it's the perfect site!! And for the reasons of no 
pavements the children are to young to walk to school on their own any way so parents can 
make sure that they get there!! And we get to keep the playing field!! (Parent) 

 
 

The field is an asset of the community which will be compromised by the development. 
Proposed plans reduce the playing area significantly only leaving one full size pitch which will 
not accommodate the needs of the community. Especially mini rugby and other recreational 
sports. Access to all proposed sites will involve compromise however by developing the field 
we will loose a significant community asset” (Parent) 
 

 

 

A couple of parents raise concerns about what the former V&P site would be used for if the Godre’r 

Coed site is used for the school:   

I think this site may be used for building more houses if not retained as a school. (Parent) 
 

As a former pupil of Vaynor and Penderyn, I would like the site to be used for something 
more useful for the community than more housing. It is a vast site and a true future school 
could be housed there. (Parent) 

 

Those parents favouring the Godre’r Coed site (17) typically raise concerns about access & 

safety should the new school be located on the former V&P site.  They consider the Godre’r 

Coed site to be more accessible:  

Access and safety for the children would be better and would facilitate improved recreation 
facilities with the retention of a rugby pitch (Parent) 
 

Site in one place - no need to cross roads to access field. Direct access to green space Drop off 
and collection options safer No compulsory purchase required Site is level Children able to  

Page 38



 
 

18 
 

 
gain access to whole school site without leaving the single area Given the community desire 
to retain school in the community, is the best compromise option. (Parent) 
 

All roads and entrances safer. Site flat and overall shape better than school site. (Parent) 
 

It will be safer for the children to be using one site. (Parent) 

 

Another parents states that the Godre’r Coed site is a winner all round:  

The school and its recreation facilities can be all on one site. There is also room to keep the 
rugby pitch for the local rugby club. Everyone wins! (Parent) 

 

 

2.2.4.2.2.4.2.2.4.2.2.4. PPPPREFERRED REFERRED REFERRED REFERRED SSSSITE BY ITE BY ITE BY ITE BY LLLLOCAOCAOCAOCAL L L L SSSSPORTING GROUPS AND PORTING GROUPS AND PORTING GROUPS AND PORTING GROUPS AND CCCCLUBSLUBSLUBSLUBS    

 

Among the 46 respondents identifying as a local sporting group / club, feeling is strongly in favour of 

the former V&P site with 93.5% of these respondents feeling that this site is the more suitable: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The comments from this group of stakeholders focus on the loss of the playing fields as a 

major loss of community amenities 

 
Taking away of playing fields that are in use on a regular basis by children attending sporting 
clubs is unjustified. The Borough is currently being stripped of all assets and open areas. 
There is land available at the former Vaynor school, but remediation works for this site must 

Page 39



 
 

19 
 

be too costly so instead the council will take the easiest and cheapest option. This is at the 
expense of our children's playing fields. (LSG) 

 
 
Fields are the centre of the junior community. A school on the site will have a detrimental 
effect on this. Open green field sites shouldn't be sacrificed for a school when there are 
suitable brown field sites that can be used. Access to the fields is poor and siting a school in 
this area will require significant development of the road infrastructure of the community. 
(LSG) 
 
The fields are used far to often by the community and by people outside of the community 
and have been for years. (LSG) 
 
 
I play on the playing field with my friends (LSG) 
 
The old school site is not suitable for playing fields. The playing fields are used and enjoyed 
by sporting teams and local residents. Keep both the new school on the old school grounds 
and the playing fields for our children to enjoy! (LSG) 
 
 

A number of other comments focus on the use of the fields by the local sporting groups and clubs, 

particularly focussing on their use by children’s teams: 

 
Cefn fields are used for all the children playing rugby (LSG) 
 
Because it's in use every week by children aged 5-16 & older for sporting activities (LSG) 
 
Because the field is used for sporting events regularly, by children not just from Cefn but all 
over Merthyr. (LSG) 
 
my son along with many others plays rugby on this field.it is essential to promote and 
maintain sporting venues for the children in our community . (LSG) 
 

 

 

With a number of other respondents highlighting the value of the playing fields for exercise, 

health and wellbeing:  

 

These fields are used by 100's of children every week for exercise, it is important for children 
to have a facility like this to cut down on the growing problem of obesity in today's children. 
(LSG) 
 

The playing fields need to be kept as that for the children of the local communities to use. 
The council should be encouraging children to take part in sports not take away the field!!!!! 
(LSG) 

 

 

Page 40



 
 

20 
 

 

2.3.2.3.2.3.2.3. RRRREASONS FOR EASONS FOR EASONS FOR EASONS FOR PPPPREFERRED REFERRED REFERRED REFERRED SSSSITEITEITEITE    

 

Analysis of all the comments submitted in support of their preferred site reveals the emergence of 

several key themes among those in favour of each site.  The following section draws these themes 

together and provides further evidence in the form of illustrative statements submitted by 

respondents:  

 

 

2.3.1.2.3.1.2.3.1.2.3.1. TTTTHEMES HEMES HEMES HEMES IIIIN N N N FFFFAVOUR OF AVOUR OF AVOUR OF AVOUR OF GGGGODREODREODREODRE’’’’R COED R COED R COED R COED PPPPLLLLAYING AYING AYING AYING FFFFIELD IELD IELD IELD SSSSITEITEITEITE    

 

• Accessibility of the site 

• Safety for pupils 

• Room to develop the school and maintain recreational facilities at the Godre’r Coed 

site 

 

Accessibility:   

Accessibility is the area that draws the highest level of comments from those that prefer the Godre’r 

Coed site, A total of 18 comments were submitted that focus on access as their primary reason for 

supporting the Godre’r Coed site.  These respondents tend to be predominantly parents, carers and 

guardians or (PCG) or members of the community (MoC):  

“My reasons are taht the godre'r coed seems a safer location in terms of access.  The children 
would be using the field whenever they can with school and outside of school hours when 
applicable.  NO main road to cross to get from allocated parking to the school grounds twice 
a day.” (PCG) 

 

“The access would be easier to the site,as many of the streets are narrow lanes and will not 
be suitable for parking or the safety of the children walking.” (MoC) 
 

“Easy access, more land and open”  (LComG) 
 

One of the respondents highlights a need to still make changes in order to ensure access is suitable;  
 

“Easier access for dropping off as long as entry exit to high street is changed.  Also use V&P 
site for recreation for village. Please no housing on V&P site.  This has historical value and 
should be used for the community.  Ensure Godre'r Coed fields maintain rugby pitch.” (PCG) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 
 

21 
 

 

Safety: 

The issue of safety and access are closely related and a further 8 respondents offer up reasons 

specifically relating to safety in their support of the Godre’r Coed site.  Some further examples of 

these are given below:  

“Narrow Roads around V&P site .   Godre'r Coed site Children can walk onto sports field from 
the school buildings.   Safer access from high street” (PCG) 

 

“Safety of children”  (MoC) 

 

“Because there is more room for traffic and better for safety of the public which you wont 

have on the other site” (Res) 

 

Space: 

The ability of the Godre’r Coed playing fields to accommodate all the required school facilities is 

highlighted by 13 respondents in their support of this site, with several emphasising that everything 

would be able to be house on the one site:  

 

“My choice was purely down to the fact that building on Godre'r Coed Playing Field SiteÂ will 
ensure the school is on one site, however i can honestly say I don't have a preference as long 
as the school stays within Cefn Coed village”  (PCG) 

 

“I believe that it is more beneficial to have all facilities on one site, especially due to the fact 
that the school will be from nursery age up. From what I have seen on the proposed plans, if 
the new school was to be built on the old VPHS site it would be necessary to take the children 
to the goedr coed site for any recreational activities.”  (PCG) 

 

“This seems to be a more spacious and open area”  (MoC) 

 

Other issues raised: 

 

• The need for compulsory purchase if V&P site used 

• Concern that the school may be lost entirely if the V&P site is selected 

• The opportunity to develop the former V&P site for community use 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 
 

22 
 

 

2.3.2.2.3.2.2.3.2.2.3.2. TTTTHEMES EMERGING IHEMES EMERGING IHEMES EMERGING IHEMES EMERGING IN N N N FFFFAVOUR OF AVOUR OF AVOUR OF AVOUR OF FFFFORMER ORMER ORMER ORMER VVVVAYNOR AYNOR AYNOR AYNOR &&&&    PPPPENDERYN ENDERYN ENDERYN ENDERYN HHHHIGH IGH IGH IGH SSSSCHOOL CHOOL CHOOL CHOOL SSSSITEITEITEITE    

 

Focusing on reasons given by those favouring the former Vaynor and Penderyn site, the 

following themes emerge: 

• It is a Brown field site, with buildings already in place. 

• The need to preserve green space in the area for recreation, sport and the health of 

the community  

• Has been used as a school previously 

• Cefn Coed RFC use the Godre’r Coed site, and it is needed to enable young people to 

remain active 

• The Vaynor and Penderyn site is at the heart of the village and community 

• Some believe it offers a better solution in terms of traffic to and from the school. 

 

There is a strong sense from respondents that Brown field sites should be utilised, rather than 

utilising a green space that they feel is well used and a valuable resource for the community.  This is 

felt particularly keenly among residents, with more than half the comments about building on the 

brownfield site coming from this group:  

 

V&P is a brownfield site and is more easy to get to.  I thought Godrer Coed couldnt be built 

on as it is protected. You will be taking this well used field away from the children and 

community if you build on it.  (MoC) 

It was a school site for many years and should remain a school site.  Brown field sites should 

be built on and not green sites. Brown for buildings and green for activity purposes ie. rugby, 

cricket,children playing recreation MTBC have paid thousands of pounds only recently in 

inspections to see if the VP site is viable and it is!!! It is in the centre of the community. (MoC) 

The former Vaynor Penderyn site is brown field and should be used in the first instance. No 

building should take place on community green spaces/playing fields  (Res) 

The former site is a 'Brown field site' whereas the Godre'r Coed Playing field site is a 'green 

field site' which currently has many uses. (Res) 

Perfectly good opportunity to renovate and upgrade a derelict brownfield site in Cefn. It 

would be a great shame to see such well used playing fields being reduced in a borough wher 

the council are clearly not supporting recreation, health and fitness for our young community 

eg Mountain More. The school should have full access to use fields for PE/ Sports day. (Res) 

 

A currently derelict brown field site that continues to decay as a result of neglect.  since, 

ironically it served the community for circa 100 years as the purposefully designated site for a 

large and fully functioning school. Whereas Godrer Coed playing field site is a very rare 

comodity, a green field site that has been providing recreational sporting amenities that  

Page 43



 
 

23 
 

 

have been continuously used for generation of Merthyr people. The site also supports local 

flora and fauna and is unique within the borough.  A facility we cannot afford to lose. Once it 

is gone it'll be gone forever. (Res) 

Godre'r Coed Field was donated to the community over 80 years ago and is now protected 

for the whole community for recreation. The new school must be built on the former Vaynor 

and Penderyn Site. It is a brownfield site, services are currently on site, it is in the middle of 

the village and is more easily accessible both by predestrians and vehicles. Building on 

Godre'r Coed Field goes against the Council's own policies and Welsh Government Planning 

Guidance. With its protected status with the Fields in Trust it should not have been 

considered for building on. Many people currently use the field for a whole range of 

activities, a lot of which would come to an end if the new school was built on it. I have spoken 

to numerous people in the Vaynor community and from further afield, the vast majority of 

whom are appalled by the proposal that the field may be built on.  (Res) 

 

The loss of the playing fields is a critical issue for those opposed to the Godre’r Coed site, with 

respondents highlighting the value of the playing fields for health and wellbeing, community use as 

well as providing a home for local clubs and groups.  It is an issue for members of most of the key 

stakeholder groups including, parents / guardians / carers, members of the community local sporting 

groups and residents.  

A number of respondents highlight the value of the playing fields as an open space for children to 

play on: 

My 9 year old child attends ysgol-y-griag school ,lives in cefn coed and loves playing rugby 

with all his friends ,they all play on the field most days after school it's the only place that's 

safe in cefn for them to play taking the field away from them and ul be taking their child 

hood away ,there as always been a school on the vaynor site so why not build a new one for 

the children . (PCG) 

 Playing field should be left for recreation (PCG) 

We need space for the children to play! The playing field is an important part of the 

community - for people of all ages! Agree, a school is needed in the village, however, keep 

the green space too! (MoC) 

I would like a new school built in the village but the village also need green space for the 

children and adults to play , if the school was built on the field , where would there be green 

space within the village for the children (Res) 

There is no green space left around the village for children to play that space is for all the 

community people walking around the field children playing climbing trees vaynor school 

would be ideal for the new new school (Res) 

There aren't many places that are safe for children to play in Cefn the old school field is 

perfect, The field in question has seen many events over the years and not just rugby, 

carnivals plus other sport events The problem I have is again the council are ignoring the  

 

Page 44



 
 

24 
 

 

people of Vaynor when they have told them time and time again NO leave the field alone, 

use the old Vaynor and Penderyn site But that is the game they play, 'let's just wear them  

down in the end the people of Vaynor will get fed up and give up' WELL NOT ABOUT THIS WE 

WON'T MERTHYR COUNCIL (Res) 

 

Others are concerned that a valuable community resource will be lost 

To save the field for the children of cefn. This field is always being used on a daily basis it's 

lovely to see when it is full g9r the rugby and special charity days it gets all the community 

together also the round about at the bottom of maesgwynne would never carry all the traffic 

it has trouble now and a number of accidents have happened. a school was originally on the 

other site so it makes sense to put the school back on these grounds and have a drop off stop 

where the carpark is so no cars are actually near the school grounds. (MoC) 

I previously played rugby for Cefn Coed RFC on the Godre Coed field and occasionally 

organised cricket matched and athletics events.I appreciate that it is an irreplaceable asset 

for the village which is regularly in use. Building on this site would be the old case of when it's 

gone its gone, and sorely missed. (Moc) 

It will be great to keep the green space in the village for the use of all the Rugby club's senior, 

mini and junior teams and also all community The loss of the space will definitely have a 

detrimental effect and negative impact and all especially the 180+ children who play for Cefn 

Coed RFC. It will be fantastic if the site was built on Vaynor therefore giving the children of 

Vaynor a 21st century school along with a large green space to use for play and recreation 

Once green space is gone it's gone forever! (LSG) 

You cannot build on a playing field that is used week in week out by lots of teams from cefn 

coed rugby club. This should not be about money, it should be about what's right for the 

community and building on a site which is used regularly by hundreds of rugby players of all 

ages is absolutely criminal !!! (Res) 

The loss of playing fields as proposed by the council is nothing short of a crime.  The old 

school site is perfect for the new school.  For years cricket, rugby and fetes have been 

conducted on these fields and when a site that has already held a school is available. (Res) 

The community fought hard to protect the playing field just a few years ago.  Deciding to 

build on it now would be a betrayal of the community, especially when there is a perfectly 

good brownfield site available. (Not specified) 

 

Others raise the issue of health and wellbeing 

Because we need to save our playing fields for future generations of children from cefn and 

the surrounding communities. We should be encouraging our children to take part in 

sporting activities, to improve their health and wellbeing and to decrease obesity in our 

children. If the school was to be put on the field it would be a travesty for our community. 

The vaynor site is ideal it was a high school for many years and could easily accommodate a  

Page 45



 
 

25 
 

 

small primary school. The council could make the local highway infrastructure safer by 

making some roads one way . I have 3 sons aged 15 , 13 and 7 , they all use the field to play 

and keep fit . Save our playing fields !  (LSG) 

The field is the lungs of the community. Even losing a part of it will adversely affect the 

health and wellbeing of the community. (Not Specified) 

One school has already been demolished why can't they build another on that site, the 

playing field should stay as a playing field. People of the community use the field for 

activities, and the government are often promoting exercise to stay healthy. (MoC) 

Maintain sports facilities given that obesity and health issues are prevalent in Merthyr Tydfil. 

At present the Godre'r Coed playing field is very well used by local community especially 

children and we are desperately short of green spaces and playing facilities in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Preference for use of existing brownfield site rather than green space. (MoC) 

 

And others are concerned for the clubs that currently utilise the playing fields:  

My son plays for Cefn Coed under 12's losing the playing field with probably mean his team 

will have to fold as there will be nowhere for them to train or play (LSG) 

Because I'm a cefn coed rfc player and I want it to be kept there (LSG)  
 

Taking away athe playing field woukd hamstring the local rugby side from u7s to senior level 

rugby (LSG) 

The playing fields are home to Cefn Coed Mini and Junior section. There are a large number 

of young people in Cefn and surrounding areas who are part of this club and the future for 

the club and it's members with be put in jeopardy if the facility is taken away from us. 

Everyone compains when youngsters are wandering the streets so why take away a facility 

which gives them somewhere to train and play games and be part of a fantastic community 

club. Without these youngsters there will be no future for rugby in the community.  (LComG) 

 

There is no confidence among the respondents opposing the development of the Godre’r Coed site 

that there are suitable plans to provide a similar resource for the community.  If the Godre’r Coed 

site is pursued, the concerns of the majority of the public need to be addressed; adequate proposals 

to replace the playing field site with similar sized spaces and comparable other facilities need to be 

put forward.   

 

Among supporters of the development of the former V&P site, the fact that it has previously been 

the site of a school is of great significance: 

the old site has all the ground space required, along with a proven track history of a vibrant 

school within the village. (PCG) 

 

Page 46



 
 

26 
 

 

It makes sense to me as the area has already been used as a school thereby allowing the field 

to be used by children to play or and incorporated for use by the school. (MoC) 

The old V&P site is more suitable and ready to go after being a school for many years.  To ose 

the green space within the village would be a great loss to the community. (MoC) 

 

There was a school on the site before so i don't see why there cannot be a school on the site 

again. There is not a lot of community green space around the villages as it is and if this is 

taken away for a school the village will never get it back. Architects are amazing and can 

design a school that would fit in that space. The fields will still be available and is only a short 

walk from the school on a very quiet road. Its no different to what the school has had to do at 

its current site. If anything, it gives the pupils more opportunity to learn road safety. i just 

think there is no need to take away a field when there is a space for the school which used to 

have a school on it. Land can be built up or taken away to make the area 1 level and house 

the perfect school. (PCG) 

The former V&P school site in the middle of the village with easy access east west north 

&south. Previously contained a school so no planning problems. It is large enough again 

contained a school with up to 600 pupils in fact at one time two schools a grammar and a 

sec/modern. …. (MoC) 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 

green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 

lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount (Res) 

The former Vaynor site was built for the purpose of a school and therefore has the capacity 

to be a school once again in the form of Ysgol-Y-Graig. If the school was to be built in the 

current football field it would cause a multitude of problems, but mainly transportation 

issues…  (Res) 

 

A significant number of respondents feel that access at the V&P site is favourable, and that any 

additional road requirements could be easily met;  

 

There are more roads to this site, as it has already been used as a school. There is only one 

road going to the Godre'r Coed Playing Field Site. Not only that this is the only field the 

children have to play, Its the only place family's can go with little children too be able to play 

(Res) 

 

Already been a school and has access as before at south terrace, plenty of room for buses 

and safe for children up south terrace.As only entrance to school at bottom of street and also 

plenty of car park spaces in school so no extra parking in surrounding street, which would 

cause problems for residents (Res) 

 

Page 47



 
 

27 
 

 

Ample space for new school, one way traffic system to be put into place, school fields should 

be left as they were given to community for recreational use only. (LSG) 

With some road improvements the old school site is the best site because we do not want to 

lose any part of the  field.  It has been used by the village for over 100 yeas and still is in 

constant use. (Res) 

 

2.4. IMPACTS AND ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

 

2.4.1. ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS RAISED BY SUPPORTERS OF GODRE’R COED SITE 

 

8 of the respondents supporting the Godre’r Coed site proposal put forward additional comments to 

support their views.   

A couple raise issues of safety and access: 

Entry-Exit to school via high street at entrance to Maes Gwynne 
 
South Terrace should have a turning circle where it joins the old Vaynor site (not a public 
square as on map) so vehicles can turn safely rather than reverse the length of the street and 
out into on coming traffic at the top of South Terrace. South Terrace also needs some 
additional parking spaces where the old Vaynor site is. I do not live in South Terrace but drive 
passed daily and have had several near misses due to cars reversing out or parked cars on 
blind corners causing obstructions. 

 

One respondent expresses concerns that plans have not been fully explained:  

The rugby club is very much against MTCBC building a new school on the field as it believes 

that it will take away the community facilities for training and games/tournaments. I feel 

that the size of the pitch which would be incorporated in the new school site should have 

been specified, along with confirmation as to whether or not the community would still be 

able to have use of the pitch, in order ease concerns. 

 

And another presents several suggestions for use of additional green spaces:  

From attending the consultation in TRefechan nursery 7 Sept 2017 I would like to know what 
will be happening wi the the nursery site in Trefechan? My understanding is that there are no 
plans so far.  I would like to suggest uses for this site for the local community to use as it would 
be a shame for this site to be calculated in with the green space given back to the public but in 
Cefn.  Trefechan does have a v limited old rusty park.  It would be lovely if we could combine 
the nursery site and the park n make a big woodern adventure park for older children whilst 
using some of that area for smaller/toddler with age appropriate apperaters.  This could 
reflect on the national park that start close by.  I use of pinic tables and maybe a hard standing 
could encourage families to use the space for more than just plaing but a follow on tool for 
learning or maybe even for small community get togethers like father christmas ect.  The idea  
 

Page 48



 
 

28 
 

 
of some kind of athletic course.  A small running track and some outdoor exercise equipment ( 
lke they have around the lake in cyfarthfa) for all age groups to get active.  Or netball/ 
basketball court or multi purpose sports court.  I would hate for this site to become vandalised 
and used no good.  Please could be have some clarification on what we could do with the 
nursery site? My other concern is access to the school from trefechan vwhen the new a465 
road is being build.  I have heard that a right hand only turning out of trefechfa is this true??? 
This could be very dispruptive and add time and pollution to the local area. Many thanks 
 

 

A couple of respondents have concerns over the risk of compulsory purchase and the ability of the 

council to act with impartiality in the decision making: 

You should ask if people are happy with the risk of potential compulsory purchase orders on 
local residents land and property. 
 

My concern is that Councillor Mitton resides by the proposed playing field site near what 
would be the access point for vehicle drop offs. I'm concerned that as a council member 
involved in the decision making process she has a vested interest in preventing the playing field 
site being built on. 

 

The remaining comments focus on concerns around retaining the school and green spaces for the 

community: 

If the school is not built on the GC field and the old school site is deemed unsafe, the new 

school could lost. This would be totally unacceptable, the school should be kept in the local 

community in order to be used for wider use. 

Retain as much green space as possible for the community Community access to sports 

facilities /community buildings on the site 

 

2.4.2. ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS RAISED BY SUPPORTERS OF VAYNOR & PENDERYN SITE 

 

145 Respondents in favour of the former V&P site provide additional comments and considerations 

to support their decision in favour of this site.   

For a significant number of these respondents, the issues of traffic and access around the residential 

area of the playing fields is a huge barrier to their acceptance of this site:  

What considerations have been given to the residents of cyfarthfa gardens from a noise, 

traffic and litter perspective ?? 

Consideration of increased traffic to the lower end of Cefn Coed, in particular the already 

dangerous entrance and exit to Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

There is no thought given to the residents of Cyfarthfa gardens, Maesygwyne & Heol-y-cae. 

The road structure is not suitable for excessive traffic and would be extremely dangerous to  

Page 49



 
 

29 
 

 

young children walking to school down through a very polluted high street with car fumes. 

With the amount of traffic expected its an accident waiting to happen. 

The infrastructure of playing fields site is not suitable.  The surrounding area is residential 

and only suitable for residents traffic. The roundabout is a death trap with many accidents 

and near misses happening on a frequent basis. Whatever Kevin Davies thinks!!! 

More consideration of the inconvenience a potential danger to residents of the proposed 

playing field site. Increase in traffic would make access to parts of the housing estate much 

more difficult. If not almost impossible problems are already encountered reaching  

 

properties when the field is use for rugby matches etc.. Emergency vehicles would be unable 

to each residents if needed when parents would park at schools entrance etc.. 

You should consider the residents of cyfarthfa gardens and maesgwynne. the site is not 

suitable for a school. The residents would suffer disruption on a daily basis with buses and 

cars attempting to drive through a very small estate. it is not safe for anyone 

 

Road safety at school drop off and pick up times is highlighted as being problematic if the Godre’r 

Coed site is selected, with many still feeling that adequate solutions and proposals have not been 

made:  

Wherever the School is built you are going to have problems with the access for Cars etc and 

if this is not policed correctly there will be a nasty accident , as we are all aware parents 

don't like to walk their children to school and like to park as closely to it , even if this means 

breaking the road safety rules 

The flow of traffic when parents drop off/ pick up children 

 

Several respondents suggest that the previous use of the V&P site validate its suitability in terms of 

access:  

The full impact of traffic and parking in the area surrounding the field, I think, has not been fully 

appreciated. In light of the fact Vaynor and Penderyn has already operated in that area with no 

problems. 

the old school site if selected would after completion, provide no problems for the 

community, having been a secondary school previously. The field site would prove a 

nightmare for all residents in lower Cefn Coed with traffic / parking . A previous council study 

proposed a one way system via Pontycapel Road , avoiding the fields. Nothing in the village 

has changed , why has the council proposal 

While others accept that the road structure as it stands may be unsuitable and require work; 

The only limiting factor that I am aware of for the Vaynor and Penderyn site is traffic flow.  

There are many schools, including the current YYG school, where access is not suitable.  It is  

Page 50



 
 

30 
 

 

simply about managing this to prevent risk and there are many ways of doing so: 1) One way 

system, from Lord Raglan, post Cefyn school and exiting near Popty Bakery.2) Traffic 

standstill hours/ times.3) School buses to pull into bus lay by above Popty and pupils to be 

collected and walked along the road safely. 

 

Others are vociferous in their statements surrounding the previous consultations on the siting of a 

new school, protection of the field site and the legality of building on the field site: 

 

Unsuitable road infrastructure, will lead to traffic chaos, and possible accidents, not just at 

school hours but parents evenings, school concerts etc. Why are only two sites proposed?  

 

Two other sites have been discounted for ridiculous reasons. Why is the playing field being 

considered at all, I was always under the impression that it could not be built on. Why is the 

Queens's "proclamation" being ignored? Why is it deemed necessary to build so near to a 

residential estate? Is this even legal? In my experience Merthyr council has always been 

deceptive, even corrupt is not too strong a word. Is something underhand going on here? 

Tread carefully, Grenfell Towers is too recent not too. 

Why did you build cyfarthfa gardens if you knew a school was needed surely the planning 

dept looked into this. Shame on the council (again) 

You should of never considered building in the school field... this has divided a community 

and villiage 

This was decided six years ago. With the council short of money you should not be paying 

again for another consultation. 

 

A number of respondents do not feel that their voices are being heard, and express their 

frustrations: 

The community have already come together to express our opinion a few years ago. Don't 

you think you should have listened then? It's a disgrace we have to go through it all again. 

You're wasting valuable funds, which could be used elsewhere. 

The community's views were expressed previously. Why are you ignoring our wishes? 

The community had already registered an opinion a few years back to keep the site - Godre 

Coed, as a green space . 

The community previously demonstrated to keep Godre Coed as a green space. Accept the 

community's views. 

We - the community, fought to keep Godre Coed as a green space. Please respect our views. 

  

Page 51



 
 

31 
 

 

2.5.  CONSULTATION SESSIONS 

As part of the consultation process, a number of community session were hosted by Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council; 

 

DATE LOCATION NUMBER OF ATTENDEES 

 Civic Centre Reception   

18th July 2017 Ysgol Y Graig Primary School  

 Tesco  

 Cefn Social Club  

17th August 2017 Pontsticill Memorial Hall  

 Trefechan  

   

 

 

 

2.5.1. COUNTERS 

At each of the consultation events, participants were asked to show their preferred site by using a 

counter.  The results for each site were as follows: 

 

 IN FAVOUR OF …. 

LOCATION GODRE’R COED FORMER V&P SITE 

Civic Centre Reception  11 8 

Ysgol Y Graig Primary School 5 9 

Tesco 14 29 

Cefn Social Club 11 125 

Pontsticill Memorial Hall  0 2 

Trefechan 0 0 

Total 41 173 

 19.1% 80.8% 
 

A similar proportion of participants in the consultation sessions indicate their preference for the 

former Vaynor & Penderyn site; 80.8% compared to 83% of the respondents submitting paper or 

online consultation response forms.   

During the consultation at Ysgol Y Graig, participants were asked to make any further comments.  

Most of those made by pupils focus on the types of facilities they would like their new school to 

have; 

Outdoor area, outdoor classroom, calming area, thinking room, music room, science room,  

Playdoh room, reading room, sandpit, music room, Slide. Cooking classroom, art room, 

climbing frame, mini-forest, drinking fountain, football goals, instruments, insect area, PE  

 

Page 52



 
 

32 
 

 

cupboard, sorry room. Log circle, football pitch, calm room, jungle gym, slide, swing, outside 

drinking place 

 

While others reiterate that the playing field is a valuable resource for them outside of school:  

After seeing the plans for the V&P site, I believe it was a waste of time and money having 

plans done for the field.  Vaynor site is perfect. 

 

My preferred sit is V&P, as the field is a valuable asset to the village. 

 

I need the rugby field to stay because rugby is my heart and desire.  Otherwise, I would be 

stuck in the house doing nothing  

 

A couple of respondents feel that the consultation is not going to take into account their views: 

It appears to me that the consultation is purely an administrative necessity.  All the officials I 

spoke to admitted their bias towards the Playing Fields site. 

 

My view on the consultation is that the views of the community are not being taken into 

account.  Our field should be left for the children and families to enjoy the open area and for 

their children to have somewhere in the future to just relax away from the stress of life.  

Please build on the V&P former site.  Our children deserve a new school, so why can’t we 

have both?   

 

 After discussions with the council officers in attendance, it seems that the decision has 

already been made to build the school on the playing field.  Very little consideration seems to 

have been to building on the V&P site because it is an easy option to say that there is a 

problem with the traffic.  There are about 130 children using the field throughout the year.  

It should not be the Architect’s decision alone – he does not understand the locality and the 

strength of feeling in the community.  The use of the field by the children should be 

encouraged – it should not be destroyed.  This is a disgrace – the people of this community 

have not been listened to (except for the select few). The children need this only green space 

in the village. 

 

2 members of the public that attended the Pontsticill Memorial Hall event left additional comments 

which suggest there are still unanswered questions, despite their attendance in person at an event:  

 

If it’s council land why is it being labelled as community land on Council plans 

Use of land would like to see deeds and conditions 

 

A full digest of the comments received from the Consultation Sessions is included as Appendix 3 

Page 53



 
 

33 
 

 

2.6. PETITION  

The strength of feeling among the public against the use of the Godre’r Coed playing fields, 

motivated the creation of a ”Petition in respect of the Consultation for the proposed new school for 

Ysgol-y-Graig” from the Save our Field Group.  

 

The petition contains more than 13004 signatures opposing the building of the new primary school 

on the Godre’r Coed Playing Field.  The accompanying letter states: 

 

The petition shows there is very strong opposition within the community to the loss of their 

village recreation field in its current form. 

It is well known in the village that the filed was donated in the mid 1930s by Colonel Jones 

with the stipulation that sports such as cricket would be played on it.  This would not be 

possible if the new school is built on the field.  Other events such as the junior rugby 

tournaments would also be greatly affected…. 

 

Many of the petition signatories provided additional comments detailing their objections to the use 

of the Godre’r Coed site.  An overview of the analysis of the comments is given in the table below:  

 

Theme of Comment Number of responses 

Leave Green Space/ Save field  362 

Blank/ illegible  306 

V&P site  264 

Leave children's playing fields/ Rugby 140 

Keep field for the community 44 

Bad Idea/ Oppose build  31 

Other  16 

Traffic 10 

Don’t like schools  3 

 

The highest number of comments that accompany the petition signatures focus on the need to keep 

the playing fields as a green space at the centre of the community:  

 

To keep it simple, this green area is for our kids they learn to run, play, ride bikes, play 

football, rugby and hundreds of other things.  It’s a community field …. Keep it as that 

 

                                                           
4 The exact number of signatures is difficult to ascertain due to the number of different forms it was received 
on i.e. handwritten and electronic and duplications of names.  

Page 54



 
 

34 
 

 

This field is the heart and soul of the community please don’t build on it 

My two boys do play for Cefn Coed rugby, they will be gutted if they lose the school fields it 

will be big impact on the kids 

This field is an important part of the community for children now and in the future 

The whole community use this field especially the children. Please save.  

This field is vital for the community health and well being and physical development of the 

children now and in the future.  The school would be best suited to the Vaynor Penderyn site 

as originally planned and promised.   

 

 

2.7. YSGOL Y GRAIG  

 

 

2.7.1. HEADTEACHER RESPONSE  

On the 8th September, a response was submitted from the Heateacher of the Ysgol Y Graig Primary 

on behalf of the school Staff.  

The letter outlines the school’s preference for the Godre’r Coed Playing field site.   

 

She outlines safeguarding as a key issue, and expresses her opinion that the Godre’r Coed site makes 

the children’s safeguarding much easier: 

On the Godre’r Coed site, the whole school is situated in one area.  On the former Vaynor & 

Penderyn School site this is not possible.  As a result, the children will be able to access all 

areas of the Godre’r Coed site easily and safely when undertaking sports and outside learning 

activities… 

 

Addressing the communities concerns over the loss of the playing fields she writes:  

 

We understand the concerns the community have regarding the possible use of the Godre’r 

Coed site but we really feel that these issues could be overcome.  Many schools are now used 

for lots of community activities and we feel that this would be achievable here in Cefn Coed. 

 

A copy of the letter is included as Appendix 4 

 

 

Page 55



 
 

35 
 

 

2.7.2. GOVERNOR’S RESPONSE 

An official response on behalf of the Governor’s was received on the Consultation Response Form.   

The response, from the chair of the Governors, favours the Godre’r Coed Playing Field Site, stating:  

 

 A new build primary school requires a green space and the safety of a single site in 

accordance with the W.A.G requirement.  Educational requirements MUST be the PRIORITY 

 

 

 

 

2.8. ESTYN 

A formal response to the consultation exercise was also received from Estyn.  In their response, 

Estyn highlights their role as being to provide their opinion on the “overall merits of school 

organisation proposals”.   

Estyn considers that the proposal adequately identifies the advantages and disadvantages of each of 

the two site put forward for consultation. 

Overall, they support the proposal to construct a new school building and feel that this will help the 

current school to maintain its existing performance standards.  They do not however support one 

site in preference of the other.  

The full response from Estyn is included as Appendix 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 
 

36 
 

 

3. Key Themes 

 

The full analysis of all responses to the consultation exercise has highlighted a number of key 

themes, as already discussed in detail the respondent analysis.   

 

3.1. CONCERN OVER THE LOSS OF THE PLAYING FIELDS 

Of primary concern to a large proportion of respondents to the consultation is the loss of the playing 

fields.  The reasons for their concern can be broadly summarised into several key areas of concern: 

• Loss of a valuable community asset:  the green space is used for a wide variety of activities 

from green space for local children to play on through to more formal space for structured 

team sports 

• The playing fields are considered by many to provide a space to improve the health and 

wellbeing of the local community 

• Protection of the field and its legal status in terms of what it can / cannot be used for 

• The public in support of the V&P site do not feel that sufficient plans have been put forward 

to mitigate the loss of the playing field site and, without this, they are unlikely to be 

persuaded to change their views 

 

 

3.2. HISTORICAL USE OF THE V&P SITE 

 

Many of the respondents feel that the former Vaynor and Penderyn site offers the ideal site 

primarily as: 

 

• it has previously been a school site 

• it is a brown field site that should be prioritised for development above greenfield sites 

• supporters of the V&P site feel that it has ample space to develop a school with all the 

required facilities 

• Godre’r Coed supporters however feel that the previous V&P site does not offer sufficient 

space for a new school 

 

 

3.3. TRANSPORT AND ACCESS ISSUES 

 

Transport concerns, access and safety issues are raised by respondents favouring each site.  It seems 

that both sites pose problems which need to be adequately addressed in any further proposals.  The 

respondents demand clarity on a number of issues, including: 

 

• Due consideration to the impact of increased traffic in terms of noise, pollution and 

congestion for each site 

• Full road proposals for each of the sites 

 

 

 

Page 57



 
 

37 
 

 

Supporters of the V&P site tend to dismiss the concerns that access will be difficult at this site, 

stating its historical use as a school as a reason for its continued use as a school. They also tend to 

raise the issues of increased traffic in a predominantly quiet residential area should the school be 

located on the playing field site.  They feel that access to the playing field site presents more issues 

than the V&P site.  

 

Supporters of the Godre’r Coed site, however, feel that access is better at the playing field site.   

 

Some clarity is needed on the proposals and plans to help the community reconcile their opinions.  

 

 

3.4. SAFETY 

Safety and safeguarding children is of utmost importance in the consideration of the new school 

building.  However, respondents in favour of the V&P site have highlighted that safety extends 

beyond school life, repeatedly raising issues around the playing fields as a safe place for the children 

of the community to play.   

Again with supporters of each site feeling their preferred option provides the safest choice, further 

clarification of access / road proposals will help the public understand the implications of each 

proposal more effectively. 

 

4. Conclusions 

 

There are several areas where further clarification of the proposals could help the public to better 

understand the implications of the options put forward.  Where issues are highly contentious, 

supporters of the 2 sites view the same issue with completely opposing views, further clarification is 

absolutely necessary.  These would include: 

• More detailed clarification around proposed road changes for each site 

• The impacts of these changes on the local communities and residents 

• Whether the facilities of a 21st Century school can be adequately accommodated on the 

former V&P site 

• How the loss of the playing fields would be mitigated in other provision should that site be 

selected 

By dealing with these issues, some of the arguments and counter arguments can start to be 

addressed.   

The strength of feeling in support of the use of the former V&P site is very strong.  A decision to the 

contrary will need to take account of all the concerns of the community and give them due 

consideration and suitable alternative facilities.  

 

 

 

Page 58



 
 

38 
 

5. Appendices 

 

APPENDIX 1:  Respondent Priority Groups and responses received / assessed group 

 

 

Respondent Priority Group 

(MT CBC) 

Total number 

resps 

identifying as 

this group 

Respondents 

assessed 

group 

Pupil High 285 9 

Staff High 9 9 

Parent / Carer High 57 55 

School Governor High 4 2 

Resident High 235 213 

Local councillor High 0 0 

Central South Consortium Joint Edu 
Service 

High 0 0 

Estyn High 126 0 

Transport High 3 3 

    

Local Sporting Club / Group Med 69 46 

Local Business Med 16 3 

Local community groups Med 23 14 

Member of Community Med 297 119 

Local MP Med 2 2 

Local AM Med 0 0 

    

South Wales Police Low 0 0 

SW Fire & Rescue Low 1 1 

Trade Unions Low 1 1 

Welsh Lang Commissioner Low 0 0 

Local Police & Crime Commissioner Low 0 0 

Total  757 4777 

  

 

                                                           
5 Many former pupils identified themselves as pupils in the survey.  For the purpose of the analysis, these 
respondents have been assessed as belonging to one of the other stakeholder groups they selected i.e. 
Resident 
6 An official letter response was received from Estyn.  We have been unable to verify that any of the completed 
forms were completed officially on behalf of Estyn, in many case respondents also identified with one or more 
other stakeholder groups so they have been assessed as belonging to the highest priority group of their other 
selections.  
7 A number of respondents did not associate themselves with any particular stakeholder group 

Page 59



 
 

39 
 

APPENDIX 2A:  Full digest of Respondents comments - Supporters of the Godre’r Coed Site:  

 

Accessibility: 

More accessible, larger site. PCG 

This site is more viable in terms of access and will be easier to build on given the time 
and budget constraints. The inductive plans look amazing and the rugby pitch will still 
remain and be in better condition and be a safer locked site so no more dog f PCG 

Site in one place - no need to cross roads to access field. Direct access to green space 
Drop off and collection options safer No compulsory purchase required Site is level 
Children able to gain access to whole school site without leaving the single area PCG 

All roads and entrances safer. Site flat and overall shape better than school site. PCG 

Sorry I am unable to tick the boxes but I have marked as best I could using ### My 
reasons are taht the godre'r coed seems a safer location in terms of access.  The children 
would be using the field whenever they can with school and outside of school hours 
when applicable.  NO main road to cross to get from allocated parking to the school 
grounds twice a day. PCG 

Easier access for dropping off as long as entry exit to high street is changed.  Also use 
V&P site for recreation for village. Please no housing on V&P site.  This has historical 
value and should be used for the community.  Ensure Godre'r Coed fields maintain rugby 
pitch. PCG 

Ease of access where all facilities are on the one site for the safety of the children. MoC 

There is better access by road to the field and I believe that using that site would have a 
less detrimental effect on local residents. MoC 

most convenient MoC 

Easier access. Better parking MoC 

The proposed site at the old Vaynor school would increase congestion from cars in the 
surrounding streets which are narrow and have limited pavements. MoC 

The access would be easier to the site,as many of the streets are narrow lanes and will 
not be suitable for parking or the safety of the children walking. MoC 

Better access from the bottom of Cefn coed more green areas for the children to play out MoC 

Easy access,more land and open LComG 

For Vehicle safety access Res 

Old Vaynor site is surrounded by very narrow streets on all sides, the area already has 
parking problems and access is restricted sometimes for larger vehicles. Children would 
have to cross Pontycapel Road to access playing field. I am concerned at the mo Res 

I think the area around the old school site is not suitable for increased traffic and 
pedestrian movement and there will be significant safety hazards around the narrow 
streets of Holford St, Old Church St and South terrace. Res 

Access and parking TU 

For health and safety reasons I think we need to have all facilities on the the same site. 
The access to the site will be a lot easier instead of using narrow roads and hopefully 
there will be less congestion than it would be if the Vaynor site was used. Staff 

Alot more room and is more accessible than on the old site. Resident of south terrace 
and with two young children. Not attending ysgol you grain though. There is enough 
traffic in the street without any more busses and cars.  

 

Page 60



 
 

40 
 

Safety:  

It will be safer for the children to be using one site. 
PCG 

Access and safety for the children would be better and would facilitate improved 
recreation facilities with the retention of a rugby pitch 

PCG 

Narrow Roads around V&P site .   Godre'r Coed site Children can walk onto sports field 
from the school buildings.   Safer access from high street 

PCG 

This is a new educational building therefore prime importance must be given to 
government guidance for primary schools. G Coed meets this V&P doesnt.  In the 
councils summary the G Coed site has 8 strengths and 6 weaknesses. The V&P site has 9 
weeknesses and only 5 strengths.  So based on independent assessment the best option 
by a clear margin is the G Coed site.  The fact taht the V&P site would have to be a split 
site will lead to long term health safety issue for the new school. SG 

Safety of children MoC 

For more than 10 years I was employed as a cook in the Vaynor ward.  It is my opinion 
that the safer of the two options by a long way is the Godrer Coed playing field. MoC 

Because there is more room for traffic and better for safety of the public which you wont 
have on the other site Res 

Safety of the children is absolutely paramount.  I understand that two independent 
engineering consultants have deemed the old VP site as unsafe due to access and road 
layout. Any new school should be built for purpose in the 21st century.This is a golden 
opportunity to build a first class community school within the Vaynor community and 
must not be wasted because of selfish vested interests of very blinkered people including 
the 2 local councillors, one of which is a director of Cefn Rugby club and the othr who 
lives opposite the school field site and toilets her dogs on the field. Res 

Members of my family have attended ysgol y graig school since the beginning of the 
1930's.  Surely if this controversy about the siting of the new building continues,the 
village will be in danger of losing it's school. Godrer Coed playing field is the obvious 
choice for the safety of the children.  Their education and safety should come first.  

 

 

Space: 

I would be nice to have outer school with a field next to it to use, Pupil 

More outdoor facilities and better access for parents Staff 

Everything is on one site and no roads between amenities Staff 

The school and its recreation facilities can be all on one site. There is also room to keep 
the rugby pitch for the local rugby club. Everyone wins! PCG 

My choice was purely down to the fact that building on Godre'r Coed Playing Field 
SiteÂ will ensure the school is on one site, however i can honestly say I don't have a 
preference as long as the school stays within Cefn Coed village PCG 

More space PCG 

I believe that it is more beneficial to have all facilities on one site, especially due to the 
fact that the school will be from nursery age up. From what I have seen on the proposed 
plans, if the new school was to be built on the old VPHS site it would be necessary to take 
the children to the goedr coed site for any recreational activities. PCG 

Cefn fields are used for all the children playing rugby LSG 

Page 61



 
 

41 
 

We can use the field to play on Res 

it would give the best option for the children, as they would still have the fields to have 
sports day and recreation. The old Vaynor site will have transport and parking issues I 
would have thought, plus the children would have to walk to the field for s Res 

Plenty of space to accommodate a 21st century school with appropriate outdoor space 
to deliver the foundation phase and Key Stage 2 curriculum. Access is safer for pupils, 
parents & staff and better parking facilities There would be more flexibility for t Res 

It would be nice to have a school and it's groundsall at one site.  The flaying field as it 
stands is only used for rugby.  The tennis courts and changing rooms have been 
neglected over the years and it's starting to look run down and a bit of an eyesore.  It 
would be nice to see it used properly again.  And I feel the access to it would be better 
than the old Vaynor site.  Also it will hopefully stop the residents using it as one big toilet 
for their dogs. Res 

Waste of land build a nice school for our generations to come the bigger the better the 
congestion it would cause to build the school on the old vaynor wouldn't be fair on 
residents of south terrace!.... MoC 

Clean new build on a site that is no where near used on a regular basis. Prefer the plans 
for this site. PCG 

Best site 
Local 
MP 

It seems the most logical lace for a new building, open space for play and least disruption 
to the area.I believe the school will be located closer to the catchment are if it were kept 
in Cefn Coed, relocations elsewhere would cause issue with transport! MoC 

 

 

Other Comments:  

People will lose their houses and gardens if built on vp PCG 

  

Opportunity to provide 21st century site and redevelop old VPHS site as a community 
park and garden for all ages and abilities PCG 

Think we will lose the school in Cefn if it's voted to go on the old vp site PCG 

If given the choice both options would be highlighted, in truth I have no preferred site. 
My only priority is ensuring that a new school is built within the parish of Vaynor. The 
reason for my selection of the playing fields is that the site plans look more impressive 
with the inclusion of sports facility's. PCG 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



 
 

42 
 

APPENDIX 2B:  Full digest of Respondents comments - Supporters of the former V&P Site:  

Brownfield Site:  

Because you can't create green space which will be lost if you build a school on it. It is 
protected and the consulation doesn't state where the replacement land is going to be 
located, if at all. This is why any council would not build on a green space/park in a city 
center. you have a brown field site which should be first priority. PCG 

The vaynor & penderyn site is at tue moment a wasteland so whybruin a perfectly good 
useable field. As long as there was a way of traffic getting from high street cefn to the 
v&p site without causing havoc i think it would be the best choice for the villa PCG 

Ita a brown field site and building here will mean the community can retain the green 
field site for recreation and purposes MoC 

It makes sense to build on a site which has already been used as a school and which is a 
brownfield site. It would be a disgrace to build on a greenfield site which is the focal 
point of the community. In an age when children are less fit and less healthy MoC 

Why would anyone not want to build on a brown site? An architect should be able to 
build anywhere and do a good job of it. It is central to everything, shop, bus route . A 
new school would be in keeping with the history of Cefn Coed MoC 

V&P is a brownfield site and is more easy to get to.  I thought Godrer Coed couldnt be 
built on as it is protected. You will be taking this well used field away from the children 
and community if you build on it. MoC 

It was a school site for many years and should remain a school site.  Brown field sites 
should be built on and not green sites. Brown for buildings and green for activity 
purposes ie. rugby, cricket,children playing recreation MTBC have paid thousands of 
pounds only recently in inspections to see if the VP site is viable and it is!!! It is in the 
centre of the community. MoC 

It is a waster of land and the playing fields are getting used LSG 

It will b better sited at vaynor& pendryn high school coz the grounds r just going to waste 
so leave the felds alone LSG 

People use the field but nobody uses the school LSG 

Fields are the centre of the junior community. A school on the site will have a 
detrimental effect on this. Open green field sites shouldn't be sacrificed for a school 
when there are suitable brown field sites that can be used. Access to the fields is poor 
and siting a school in thios area will require significant development of the road 
infrastructure of the community.  LSG 

Use brown field sites first Res 

It's a brown field site where a school with over 500 pupils once stood. I myself went to 
school in that site and I can't see any valid reason why another school servicing far less 
pupils can't be located on it. Any issues with access or concerns around th Res 

The former Vaynor Penderyn site is brown field and should be used in the first instance. 
No building should take place on community green spaces/playing fields Res 

There was a school here for many years which served the community well . It is 
important to try and build on brown land and save our green land. Res 

We have very few green spaces in Cefn Coed as it is, also it is recommended to build on 
brown sites such as this one. Res 

Former V&P High School is a brownfield site in centre of village, a much more 
appropriate location. Godre'r Coed Field is protected by a Queen's Charter. It is widely Res 

Page 63



 
 

43 
 

used by the community and is a regional centre for junior rugby tournaments attended 
by 

The former site is a 'Brown field site' whereas the Godre'r Coed Playing field site is a 
'green field site' which currently has many uses. Res 

Keep the playing field for the recreation and leisure requirements of the community.  
Build on the brownfield site. Res 

I would prefer the brown field site to be used for it's convenient locatio.  It would also 
preserve an important much used facility 'playing fields'that are used by people of all 
ages. Res 

Perfectly good opportunity to renovate and upgrade a derelict brownfield site in Cefn. It 
would be a great shame to see such well used playing fields being reduced in a borough 
wher the council are clearly not supporting recreation, health and fitness for our young 
community eg Mountain More. The school should have full access to use fields for PE/ 
Sports day. Res 

There is no need to build on the field when there is a perfectly good site waiting ready to 
build on. Res 

Local government should have an environmental obligation to re-develop brown sites 
before destroying green areas. Res 

The playing field is an excellent green space for leisure and sports activities which should 
be kept for this purpose.  As there is a former 'brown site' available for development it 
makes sense to develop the brown site and keep the 'green'space. Res 

Recycling a pre-existing otherwise unused building area compared to ploughing up a 
greenfield site. Also access is better on this site as it was previously a school.  The playing 
field site has poor access on a small housing estate having large volumes of traffic would 
endanger the wellbeing of pedestrians residents and their children and pets. Res 

Its a brown field site and there has been a school previously on that site. Res 

Previously housed school Brown field site Easier access and exit if one way system put in 
place Res 

The new school should be built on the old V&P site because its a brownfield and Godre'r 
Coed has a convenant on it. Res 

A currently derelict brown field site that continues to decay as a result of neglect.  since, 
ironically it served the community for circa 100 years as the purposefully designated site 
for a large and fully functioning school. Whereas Godrer Coed playing field site is a very 
rare comodity, a green field site that has been providing recreational sporting amenities 
that have been continuously used for generation of Merthyr people. The site also 
supports local flora and fauna and is unique within the borough.  A facility we cannot 
afford to lose. Once it is gone it'll be gone forever. Res 

It is a brownfield site and already has services needed.  the excuses being put forward for 
not using this site, eg. Not enough pavements for children to walk on, would also apply 
to the playing field site but it is obvious that MTBC favours the latter site and that this 
consultation is just a public relations exercise to pacify the community.  The playing field 
should remain as such.  We are losing enough greenfield sites and this one is flat, thus 
allowing various activities to take place.  The  Welsh assembly issue reports about 
growing obesitiy levels, so why take away a field where people can exercise? Res 

Why destroy a much used green area when there is a brownfield site available? Res 

More environmentally friendly to build on exisiting site Res 

Page 64



 
 

44 
 

Godre'r Coed Field was donated to the community over 80 years ago and is now 
protected for the whole community for recreation. The new school must be built on the 
former Vaynor and Penderyn Site. It is a brownfield site, services are currently on site, it 
is in the middle of the village and is more easily accessible both by predestrians and 
vehicles. Building on Godre'r Coed Field goes against the Council's own policies and 
Welsh Government Planning Guidance. With its protected status with the Fields in Trust 
it should not have been considered for building on. Many people currently use the field 
for a whole range of activities, a lot of which would come to an end if the new school was 
built on it. I have spoken to numerous people in the Vaynor community and from further 
afield, the vast majority of whom are appalled by the proposal that the field may be built 
on. Res 

Why destroy a green area as the field when there is a brownfield available? It s a crime if 
it's built on the field. Res 

Godrer Field is protected for the whole community.  The new school should be built on 
the U&P site as it is a brownfield site.  It is also more central and has better access for 
people and cars Res 

Godrer field is protected.  The new school should be on the former V&P school as its a 
brown field site and is more easily accessible for pedestrians and vehicles. Res 

Utilising a currently brown field site would be adding value to the community Removing 
one of the only green field sites which has been designated protected status for sports 
and recreation activities which is so vital in this current climate of increased  

Utilising currently brown field site would be adding value to the community. Removing 
one of the only open spaces by building over a green field site which has been designated 
protected status for sports & recreation activities which is so vital in this c  

Why destroy a much used and needed green area when there is a brownfield site 
available ?  

Brown Site  

 

 

Loss of the playing fields 

Cefn play on the school feild Pupil 

Field will stay the same. Won't disrupt people living in area as much as other site.Utilities 
already on site ,money saved could improve road safety issues. 

PCG 
 

Its big enough and the county field is needed by others 
PCG 
 

The field is in trust and the Vaynor and penderyn site is the best site because there's 
always been a school there and our children deserve to have their field to play on its a 
community field and is used by all age groups and it's the only place safe for 

PCG 
 

My 9 year old child attends ysgol-y-griag school ,lives in cefn coed and loves playing 
rugby with all his friends ,they all play on the field most days after school it's the only 
place that's safe in cefn for them to play taking the field away from them and ul be taking 
their child hood away ,there as always been a school on the vaynor site so why not build 
a new one for the children . 
 

PCG 
 

School field needed for children to play and other activities. Concerned grandparent 
PCG 
 

Page 65



 
 

45 
 

Do not want to lose the school field and feel V&P site is apt 
PCG 
 

Playing field should be left for recreation 
PCG 
 

Why build on a field the school can use when there's a perfectly suitable site where the 
old school 

PCG 
 

A school was on that site for many years  With many more pupils than YYG.  The same 
arguments aganist the V&P site apply to the playing fields access etc...The vast majority 
of the community would prefer to build on V&P site.  Save our school field. 

PCG 
 

Save the playing fields build new school on old school site MoC 

To save the field for the children of cefn. This field is always being used on a daily basis 
it's lovely to see when it is full g9r the rugby and special charity days it gets all the 
community together also the round about at the bottom of maesgwynne would never 
carry all the traffic it has trouble now and a number of accidents have happened. a 
school was originally on the other site so it makes sense to put the school back on these 
grounds and have a drop off stop where the carpark is so no cars are actually near the 
school grounds. MoC 

the children should be able to enjoy a new school and their sporting facility MoC 

its more practical to build on V&P we get to keep our pitch the school gets more parking 
and use of the pitch MoC 

Why would you take a playing field away from the community when there is another 
suitable site. MoC 

Easier to get to this location and the field should be saved for sport and recreation . MoC 

The field is still in use and is a facility needed by Cefn rfc MoC 

What the people of Cefn Coed want is a new school and a playing field.This can only be 
achieved by building the school on the Vaynor and Penderyn site. MoC 

Not again MoC 

We used to have two schools and a field so why take away the field? MoC 

I previously played rugby for Cefn Coed RFC on the Godre Coed field and occasionally 
organised cricket matched and athletics events.I appreciate that it is an irreplaceable 
asset for the village which is regularly in use. Building on this site would be the old case 
of when it's gone its gone, and sorely missed. MoC 

Im a huge supporter in maintaining and improving existing playing field facilities including 
a fenced small playing area for football and swings etc.. for the children as applies in 
many european countries. MoC 

Leave our field alone MoC 

Safer for children and field would be saved MoC 

Leave the field alone MoC 

The playing fields need to be kept as that for the children of the local communiities to 
use. The council shpuld be encouraging children to take part in sports not take away the 
field!!!!! LSG 

Because I play for cefn coed rfc LSG 

1. The rugby pitch area is much bigger the Vaynor school site. There are nine age groups 
playing on the field using both the pitch and the area to the side of the pitch for the mini 
section. 2. There is currently a parking area for visting teams, the lack of space at the 
Vaynor site means thete would be no provision for parking. 3. Would there be provision 
for changing facilities on the Vaynor site? LSG 

Page 66



 
 

46 
 

My boy plays rugby on the field LSG 

For years the fields have been home to kids having plenty of exercise and making lots of 
friends with Cefn coed rugby club . LSG 

The fields are used far to often by the community and by people outside of the 
community and have been for years. LSG 

The old school site is not suitable for playing fields. The playing fields are used and 
enjoyed by sporting teams and local residents. Keep both the new school on the old 
school grounds and the playing fields for our children to enjoy! LSG 

My son plays for Cefn Coed under 12's losing the playing field with probably mean his 
team will have to fold as there will be nowhere for them to train or play LSG 

Because I'm a cefn coed rfc player and I want it to be kept there LSG 

It will be great to keep the green space in the village for the use of all the Rugby club's 
senior, mini and junior teams and also all community The loss of the space will definitely 
have a detrimental effect and negative impact and all especially the 180+ children who 
play for Cefn Coed RFC. It will be fantastic if the site was built on Vaynor therefore giving 
the children of Vaynor a 21st century school along with a large green space to use for 
play and recreation Once green space is gone it's gone forever! LSG 

Because my child plays rugby on this field and as lots of friends LSG 

Taking away athe playing field woukd hamstring the local rugby side from u7s to senior 
level rugby LSG 

Because it's in use every week by children aged 5-16 & older for sporting activities LSG 

I live in South Tce & went to that school so there will be no difference. Most importantly 
we need the school field for our children to play rugby on etc on the weekends & the 
new school could use it as we did for sports day etc. LSG 

Because we need to save our playing fields for future generations of children from cefn 
and the surrounding communities. We should be encouraging our children to take part in 
sporting activities, to improve their health and wellbeing and to decrease obesity in our 
children. If the school was to be put on the field it would be a travesty for our 
community. The vaynor site is ideal it was a high school for many years and could easily 
accommodate a small primary school. The council could make the local highway 
infrastructure safer by making some roads one way . I have 3 sons aged 15 , 13 and 7 , 
they all use the field to play and keep fit . Save our playing fields ! LSG 

my son along with many others plays rugby on this field.it is essential to promote and 
maintain sporting venues for the children in our community . LComG 

Because we need the field for us young kids to play rugby LComG 

The playing fields are home to Cefn Coed Mini and Junior section. There are a large 
number of young people in Cefn and surrounding areas who are part of this club and the 
future for the club and it's members with be put in jeopardy if the facility is taken away 
from us. Everyone compains when youngsters are wandering the streets so why take 
away a facility which gives them somewhere to train and play games and be part of a 
fantastic community club. Without these youngsters there will be no future for rugby in 
the community. LComG 

HANDS OFF GREEN LComG 

Is the village green LComG 

Leave the field alone LComG 

It served for many years as a school and will still allow the use of the playing fields Res 

Page 67



 
 

47 
 

Cefn Coed RFC have their home on the playing fields which brings a community together 
to play a sport we all love Res 

You cannot build on a playing field that is used week in week out by lots of teams from 
cefn coed rugby club. This should not be about money, it should be about what's right for 
the community and building on a site which is used regularly by hundreds of rugby 
players of all ages is absolutely criminal !!! Res 

There is a school site already in place. It would be a tragedy to ruin the fields. Res 

Because I want the school fields to stay otherwise I ain't got no rugby Res 

It is disgraceful that you are even considering building a new school on the playing fields 
that are used by lots and lots of members of cefn coed rugby club. The school needs to 
be built on the original school site Res 

The playing fields need to be left alone for future generations to enjoy - the school needs 
to be built on the original school site Res 

It would be absolutely criminal to build on the well used playing fields and destroy the 
ability for future generations to play rugby and other sports there Res 

You have no justification or right to build on the playing fields - it is morally wrong ! Just 
do the right thing and build it on the original school site Res 

I don't want to see playing fields lost for future generations Res 

Leave alone Res 

The loss of playing fields as proposed by the council is nothing short of a crime.  The old 
school site is perfect for the new school.  For years cricket, rugby and fetes have been 
conducted on these fields and when a site that has already held a school is available. Res 

Leave school field alone? Res 

Keep the fields Res 

Save our field for sports and recreation.  Build on the VOP site. Res 

Can you please build the school on the V&P site as my son uses the field regularly not 
only to play rugby but also play games with his friends.They wont have anywhere safe to 
play. Also, the old school site is more accessible from where I live to get to. Res 

Hands off Res 

Save the field to train Res 

You have no right to the school field leave it alone Res 

leave alone Res 

Godrer site is the only area in the village which can be used for sport and playing field for 
young people Res 

You have made the wrong decision to try to put the school on the field We use the field 
all the time Build it on V&P Res 

Leave alone Res 

field is important to village and kids Res 

leave alone Res 

Because that's where kids play Res 

Please can you leave our field. I play there with my friends and use it with my family daily Res 

I use the field every day and make lots of friends there I also play rugby on there and it 
helps keep me fit. Res 

Keep the playing field for the youngsters Res 

Best place for school and the field will be safer Res 

Page 68



 
 

48 
 

The decision to build on the old site was taken a few years ago? Whats changed?Save the 
field Res 

Field is needed, as is a school.  Build on V&P and we will all get the best of both worlds Res 

As the ground is already to be built on plus the fields are used by sports and community 
clubs 

SW Fire 
& 
Rescue 

i spent many years playing on the field and think it should be kept for future residents to 
play  

I feel the children and community would benefit more from a new school and also to 
keep the wonderful green space instead of building there.  

The community fought hard to protect the playing field just a few years ago.  Deciding to 
build on it now would be a betrayal of the community, especially when there is a 
perfectly good brownfield site available.   

Keep your hands off our field  

Because i dont want to see the field gone  

 

Green space, health & community: 

The site held a secondary school for many years and has no previous issues! Why take 

away green space when there is a large space available! Staff 

So that the children not only benefit from having a new school but also enjoy continued 

use of green space for their future. Why take away green space when there is a suitable 

altrnative. And also when the community has previously opposed a similar propos PCG 

Keeps green area in community Previous school site Central PCG 

The field is an asset of the community which will be compromised by the development. 

Proposed plans reduce the playing area significantly only leaving one full size pitch which 

will not accommodate the needs of the community. Especially mini rugby and oth 

PCG 

There would be no place for the children to play 
PCG 

For our children and the future PCG 

The playing field is an excellent community sporting resource and it would be 

heartbreaking to see it built on.  The derelict VP site would make the new school the 

heart of the community in the centre of the village. Please dont take away our field! 

PCG 

Don't believe in taking green space which can be utilised for the new school which has a 

perfectly good site 200 yards away. Precedent set as it was the preferred site before and 

housed a comprehensive school. MoC 

Because there's already a site where a school used to be. The playing fields are used all 

the time. Whoever the thick person is who came up with this stupid idea should be 

sacked cos they seriously ain't got a clue about life in cefn MoC 

Page 69



 
 

49 
 

The vaynor & penderyn school site is more than adiquate for the new school .the school 

feild is the hart of the community witch has been used for many year for a wide range off 

events .the feild being used would have a detrimental impact on the local rugb MoC 

One school has already been demolished why can't they build another on that site, the 

playing field should stay as a playing field. People of the community use the field for 

activities, and the government are often promoting exercise to stay healthy. MoC 

The access to both sites would be the same so it seems common sense to me to use the 

old school site and continue to use the playing fields for the benefit of everyone MoC 

save school field, grass roots rugby and green area needed in community MoC 

The field is a valuable open playing space for both members of the local sports clubs and 

local children who simply want to 'play' safely. MoC 

Placing buildings on a playing field is irreversible, and a loss to the community. The NHS is 

struggling to cope with patient numbers as a result of obesity, especially in children, yet 

we see local politicians and officials trying to take this course of MoC 

Maintain sports facilities given that obesity and health issues are prevalent in Merthyr 

Tydfil. At present the Godre'r Coed playing field is very well used by local community 

especially children and we are desperately short of green spaces and playing facilities in 

Merthyr Tydfil. Preference for use of existing brownfield site rather than green space. MoC 

Disagree that the council/Welsh Assembly is considering buildIng on a green site. MoC 

We need space for the children to play! The playing field is an important part of the 

community - for people of all ages! Agree, a school is needed in the village, however, 

keep the green space too! MoC 

In light of the child obesity problem, it would be a backward step to lose a playing field 

that is well used by the local community. It seems more sensible to utilise the old Vaynor 

and Penderyn site than churn up a beautiful field. MoC 

I feel that building on green spaces is further reducing access to the outdoors and open 

spaces for the community. This will impact on the health and well-being of residents due 

to lack of green spaces to exercise and participate in community sports. As a MoC 

Best location. MoC 

Best location MoC 

The playing field should be left as a playing field for the community , the local community 

use this field constantly and this would have a detrimental effect on the community . 

Also the site for the school is inappropriate . MoC 

To keep green area for recreation MoC 

Page 70



 
 

50 
 

There is no need to get rid of a perfectly good field when you have an area to build 

where the old one was. MoC 

Godre Coed playing field site is a place where families can enjoy a taste of the beautiful 

countryside down to the river.  I had the pleasure of livng in Godre Coed farm house 

when Teddingtons was responsible for this lovely area. MoC 

Its where my children and grandchildren attended school and they used the field for 

games and meeting friends. MoC 

The field is very popular for sports and dog walkers. Traffic will be an issue for the 

residents of Cyfarthfa Gardens MoC 

Dont mess the field up the community use it all the time MoC 

Where would the youth of today find other places to play and enjoy their ball games 

meet friends etc.. Playing fields wil be a thing of the past.  The VP High school caused 

very little hassle to the general public with parking etc... if the site was good enough then 

it is good enough to build a 21st century school. MoC 

Thats where the school should be built MoC 

To keep our Vaynor site for the good of community 100% MoC 

Formally are was a school without any concerns. Field are essential for community and 

green space LSG 

Keep as much green space for the community as possible LSG 

Saving green space for our community LSG 

Stop building where children play. LSG 

The playing fields are a massive part of the community and to the young children taking 

part in physical activity on them. Welsh Government are trying to tackle the growing rate 

of obesity and inactivity amoungst young children so taking this facility awa LSG 

These fields are used by 100's of children every week for exercise, it is important for 

children to have a facility like this to cut down on the growing problem of obesity in 

today's children. LSG 

I play on the playing field with my friends LSG 

Because the field is used for sporting events regularly, by children not just from Cefn but 

all over Merthyr. LSG 

Why take away playing fields and green space that is used regular when there's is site not 

being used for anything that could house a school. If the site held a comprehensive then 

I'm sure it could hold a junior school LSG 

Page 71



 
 

51 
 

Because its available & the fields are the playground of the local & further afield children LSG 

Taking away of playing fields that are in use on a regular basis by children attending 

sporting clubs is unjustified. The Borough is currently being stripped of all assets and 

open areas. There is land available at the former Vaynor school, but remediatio LSG 

I think having a school that has a playing field to use would be fantastic for the kids to 

help lead a healthy lifestyle. Also the field is a huge part of the community. I grew up 

playing with friends on it and would like my son to be able to do the same. LB 

Retain the green for village LComG 

Its a brown site more than adequate to build a 21st centuty school ensuring the green 

space in the vilage is preserved for future generations Res 

I would like a new school built in the village but the village also need green space for the 

children and adults to play , if the school was built on the field , where would there be 

green space within the village for the children Res 

There is no green space left around the village for children to play that space is for all the 

community people walking around the field children playing climbing trees vaynor school 

would be ideal for the new new school Res 

This site is the most suitable and we need to keep our green area Res 

There aren't many places that are safe for children to play in Cefn the old school field is 

perfect, The field in question has seen many events over the years and not just rugby, 

carnivals plus other sport events The problem I have is again the council are ignoring the 

people of Vaynor when they have told them time and time again NO leave the field 

alone, use the old Vaynor and Penderyn site But that is the game they play, 'let's just 

wear them down in the end the people of Vaynor will get fed up and give up' WELL NOT 

ABOUT THIS WE WON'T MERTHYR COUNCIL Res 

Greater rates of activity in children have been associated with higher test scores in 

reading and maths Frequent physical activity has been associated with improved 

behavior in the classroom and beyond. It is important we keep our green spaces to 

encourage the above Res 

The children & adults have played on this field for years and is still used for young boys & 

girls to play on there. Res 

The field must be retained for community. To ensure that there is a GREEN SPACE for all 

to enjoy. Res 

I have lived in Cefn Coed for 35 years both my children were born and went to school in 

the village. In that time the Godre, r Coed playing field has allows been leisure centre 

both my children played on the fields and my son played mini rugby for Cefn Co Res 

Page 72



 
 

52 
 

We must save our playing fields for future generations - full stop!!! Res 

I work as a Public Health Nurse and Health Visitor at Keir Hardie Health Park with Cefn 

and Trefechan is part of my catchment area.The Welsh Government has recently 

introduced Healthy Child Wales Programme for all children. This programme has a great 

emph Res 

I think the field should be kept for all the community, not just for the few. The recent 

increases in type two diabetes in the young due to obesity through lack of exercise is 

alarming. Merthyr Tydfil has the most obese children in South Wales from a rece Res 

As members of the Cefn Coed/Trefechan community still use the field for walking 

dogs/rugby training and for just simply to play on. Huge amount of space on the Vaynor 

as an ex Vaynor pupil would love to see the space being utilised Res 

School A Above Res 

To maintain field for sports and healthy pursuits Res 

Its a green belt area Res 

Keep the whole field for recreation of the whole community.  Build on the V&P site Res 

You will be taking all our green spaces if you build on the field Res 

I remember this land being donated by Colonel Jones for the use of the young people of 

Cefn Coed and think that his wishes should be adhered to. Res 

We want the field kept as it is for sports and leisure.  The children of the borough need 

the facility to try to keep healthy. Res 

We want the field to remain as it is for the children and everyone to enjoy.  You have a 

good site to put the school on Make it work. Res 

Godre'r Coed site is the only area in the village which can be used for sport and a playing 

field for young people. Res 

To my knowledge, as a resident of 40 years +, Godre coed field has been known 'the 

playing field' It is, in effect, a mini park in an otherwise built up area. Well used by people 

of all ages for organised and casual sport, genearl exercise and relaxation. Where else 

can we replace it? Given the need to comat health issues such as obesity and the modern 

childs obsession with iPhones and internet we should develop more green space, not 

build over it and in that way encorage a healthier, fitter more outgoing population. Res 

We need one field for future generations Res 

Every one in the community uses it.  Build the school on the Vaynor sight then the school 

the community and rugby can still use it, everyone is winning. Res 

The playing field site it was and should stay a playing field for activities of the children 

and adult of the community Res 

Page 73



 
 

53 
 

Building here would leave the playing field site available for sports leisure and healthy 

pursuits.  which contribute to maintaining active and healthy communities and securing 

far reaching benefits. We could have a new primary school and playing fields. Not  an 

either or situation. Res 

The field should not be touched, it has a covenant on it.  Build on V&P site. Res 

The health of the community should be considered when there are so many problems in 

Merthyr.  People need exercise and the children need a field to do this Res 

Why you are even considering the field is beyond me.Leave the field as it is.We need the 

field for sports and leisure activities. Res 

You shouldnt build on the field when you said you were going to build it on Vaynor a few 

years ago. Res 

I play on the field and my dad showed me how to play golf on it and ride a bike.  Can you 

please put the school on Vaynor site Res 

We need to keep the green belt area Res 

Pleaes keep the field for the community to use and for sport to be played Res 

This is the green belt area of our village providing sports areas leisure area. You should 

be promoting sport not curtailing.  The Chief Executive, architect, highways are all 

strangers to the village.  The policy is sell land for housing etc.. Hands off Res 

Vaynor right place Res 

Do not destroy a much used green area.  Can you build on the Vaynor site it makes more 

sense. Res 

 

History and existing infrastructure of the V&P Site: 

the old site has all the ground space required, along with a proven track history of a 
vibrant school within the village. Pupil 

The site held a secondary school for many years and has no previous issues! Why take 
away green space when there is a large space available! Staff 

It just makes sense for the school to be built on unused wasted land, where our children 
can still be a part of a community in which generations have been previously. Also having 
full use of the school field for all sports and promoting healthy living exe PCG 

As a former pupil of Vaynor and Penderyn, I would like the site to be used for something 
more useful for the community than more housing. It is a vast site and a true future 
school could be housed there. 

PCG 

I believe that the Old Vaynor school site can adequately support a new school building - 
as it did successfully for many years. Transport links are good and with some changes to 
access, paving etc will be the most viable option. Building on the field will 

PCG 

This was the area originally designated for the school. However if this is not viable then 
the school field must be considered. 

PCG 

Page 74



 
 

54 
 

There was a school on there before I think it's the perfect site!! And for the reasons of no 
pavements the children are to young to walk to school on their own any way so parents 
can make sure that they get there!! And we get to keep the playing field!! 

PCG 

It was previously a site of a school , there are several roads surrounding that site which 
will not cause congestion on 1 sole route . Having the school built on this site will allow 
the community and local rugby club to have a sports field . The school field should not be 
chosen as it is already protected . Children of all ages (boys and girls ) are apart of Cefn 
coed rugby club , they train and play on this field several times a week . For many 
children this is their only excercise , to take this field away would take away their clubs 
playing field which would demolish the rugby teams which will have dyer affects on these 
children . For These children would it would have not only have negative health effects 
but negative social effects too . 

PCG 

The Vaynor and Penderyn site was previously chosen as the preferred option for the 
school and I feel this decision should still stand. When operating as a high school, 
children would use the nearby playing fields for outdoor activities/P.E lessons and I see 
no reason why this could not continue in a similar capacity if the new school is built on 
the site. Any loss of land at the playing fields site would be detrimental to the sporting 
teams who currently use it and to the community in general and I believe the access 
options offered to the playing field site via Cyfarthfa Gardens would cause further 
disruption on an already problematic part of the highway. 

PCG 

There was a school on the site before so i don't see why there cannot be a school on the 
site again. There is not a lot of community green space around the villages as it is and if 
this is taken away for a school the village will never get it back. Architects are amazing 
and can design a school that would fit in that space. The fields will still be available and is 
only a short walk from the school on a very quiet road. Its no different to what the school 
has had to do at its current site. If anything, it gives the pupils more opportunity to learn 
road safety. i just think there is no need to take away a field when there is a space for the 
school which used to have a school on it. Land can be built up or taken away to make the 
area 1 level and house the perfect school. 

PCG 

only one place 
PCG 

There was a school there for over a hundred years that many generations of my family 
attended. It's centrally located. It's been derelict for years and a school would be ideal 

PCG 

The site was used as a school for a long time. It is a big enough area to situate Ysgol Y 
Graig. The school could be accessed from the bottom gates, Pontycapel Road, in which 
the road could be changed to a one way system in order to control the flow of tr MoC 

This site has housed a school with no major issues for over 100 years, any issues with 
increased traffic etc can be easily overcome. The field is used daily by a large percentage 
of the community, and used for training and games for the mini section, plus MoC 

The site is purpose built for a school having already housed one for many decades. The 
infrastructure is in place already around the site plus it will bring business back to the 
High Street of the village. Finally it would be tragic to lose the school fie MoC 

School replacing school. MoC 

It makes sense MoC 

It's the site of a previous school so obviously works as a location. Highways to the field 
would be logistically more difficult, and the village would have both needs met, a school 
and playing/recreational field MoC 

perfect location there was a comprehensive school there for over 50 years and the 
school fields must be kept for the community to use for recreation MoC 

Page 75



 
 

55 
 

I went to vaynor and it didn't cause any problems to me attending and leaving the site on 
a daily basis. As a resident in the area I feel that by putting the school on the school field 
is just to get people Back up when there is a perfect option in front MoC 

The V&P site would provide adequate space and access. The school field is a 
resource/space for all the village and should not be lost. MoC 

The community needs the playing fields ... if the old school site was good enough for a 
comprehensive school it should be good enough for a community school MoC 

Because there enough room on the former vaynir site, with available outdoor play..... the 
current pitch can be used for extra curricular activity when needed. I think the traffic to 
and from school is going to be a problem in either site as the roads arou MoC 

There was a school there for years and years.... never a problem with access, no RTA's 
and it's closer to main high street MoC 

Better location MoC 

The best of both worlds, more room for the school and more room for the community 
fields, in the future more room may be needed for both school and fields, if it's all on one 
site, no changes can ever be made in the future MoC 

Road links already in place @ V&P and playing fields are for playing not building!! MoC 

The former V&P school site in the middle of the village with easy access east west north 
&south.Previously contained a school so no planning problems.It is large enough again 
contained a school with up to 600 pupils in fact at one time two schools a grammar and a 
sec/modern. On the issue of access pupils travelled from 
Pontneddfechan,Hirwaun,Penderyn,Pontsticill&Cwmtaf came by school bus as well 
asTrefechan on public transport,village children walked to the site.There were little if any 
problems to do with safety. Not to use this brown field site that is certainly adequate and 
to consider to build on a green field site a field much used by all sections of the 
community MoC 

I attended the vaynor site and it was good enough for me 12 year ago!! There are 
foundation already there and I can't see why there is a big deal about putting it on the 
field there we loss greenary, places to watch the further genaration goruo up playing MoC 

Already a school site, rebuild school as you have recently, in the borough. MoC 

The old school site is fit for purpose , with equal access issues as any other site.It once 
held a school for over 600 pupils , and can surely hold a building for the proposed third of 
that number . It is a site ready for building on , with minimal ground MoC 

Better situated site.  Field needs to be left as it is for recreation and the community. V&P 
site always housed a school. ( of 500 pupils ) which was accessed from 4 entrances, the 
main entrance was from south terrace.  You can improve the roads to do the same now. MoC 

This has always been site for a school with no problems MoC 

This has always been site of a school MoC 

To me it seems common sense to construct a new school on the site of a previous school 
that has already been cleared which in turn would speed up the construction process. MoC 

because all the services are already there and you are not taking away a valuable playing 
field for the children in the community MoC 

It is common sense to build a school where there was a school site. surely better for the 
residents than the eyesore that is there at the moment. With the playing fields nearby MoC 

I attended the field for events and sports and was a pupil at V&P and theres nothing 
wrong with the site. MoC 

No need to get rid of school MoC 

Page 76



 
 

56 
 

Always was a school on the site and the field is in daily use MoC 

No need to get rid of school MoC 

It makes sense to me as the area has already been used as a school thereby allowing the 
field to be used by children to play or and incorporated for use by the school. MoC 

The former V&P high school site is a large area that could be developed to house a 
school.  It has adequate land for developing a stimulating outdoor classroom 
environment including a large play area with access to grassed sports facilities.  In 
addition there would still be space for staff and visitor parking also allowing space for 
delivery services. MoC 

I believe that Vaynor and Penderyn school should be built on the original site as all the 
amenities are already on site. ( water, gas, electric ) and the Godre'r Coed playing field 
site should be used for the purposes of children utilising it for activities such as games, 
football, etc.. MoC 

Why use the field when there were two schools there previously? MoC 

The old V&P site is more suitable and ready to go after being a school for many years.  To 
ose the green space within the village would be a great loss to the community. MoC 

Its best place for a school MoC 

Best place for a school MoC 

It's a ready made site so carbon footprint in construction of the school is lower and the 
new school will.have a vast playing field area to utilise for various sports simultaneously 
rather than the postage stamp which is in the plans for school on playingfield area LSG 

As the old Vaynor site was previously a school site and is ready for development where 
better?!!! As for the alternative site being the school field its location is awful not safe for 
the heavy traffic and children walking to and from school. LSG 

Site is ready for a new school and is easiest option for everyone. LSG 

It has previously been used for a school for it has the amenities to accommodate a new 
building. LSG 

Operated as a school in the past. Has better access to the main road, playing field site 
would need to be through a housing estate which would cause significant disruption. 
Field is used by many in the community and the plan shows significant reduction in LSG 

The site was a school for many years. Building the new school on the playing field would 
mean the Cefn Coed RFC mini and juniors would lose their rugby field, and in a time 
where obesity is at its highest this could only be detrimental on the young people LSG 

Location good and worked well as vaynor and penderyn school I know I was an ex pupil LSG 

Its been proven as a good spot for a school in the past , however traffic flow is an issue 
for either venue unless certain compulsory purchases are put in order to make one more 
viable than the other! Sports facilities in the area have been halved yet the LComG 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is para LComG 

This is a sufficient, adequate are to build an appropriate school with nicely sized playing 
area.  By doing this the children can use the existing playing fields and can continue to 
build on all skills they need, academic, social and physical. LComG 

There is already drainage pipes etc already to go, the school site is already there and it 
was a good school whilst up Res 

Page 77



 
 

57 
 

It seems a better option as it has been previously used for such a purpose. Any traffic 
problems would occur in both sites so either way the community is affected greatly. 
However with the old school site being used the field can continue to be used by an Res 

Why put a school on a field when there is a perfect site right there at the old vaynor and 
penderyn site??? I was a pupil at vaynor many years ago and it was good enough site 
when I was there so whats wrong with putting a school on a site when the foundat Res 

That is the site for Vaynor and Penderyn for Years,best place for the New school,and We 
keep Our playing fields. Res 

There was a high school on this site for years,so to take the field off the community to 
put a school there when there is a perfectly good site ready and waiting is a joke.Plus the 
school going on vaynor site and the field staying as it is,is going to ben Res 

The old Vaynor and Penderyn site is more than suitable as the new location for Ysgol y 
Graig. As an ex Vaynor and Penderyn pupil access and regress was never an issue. Social 
and economic responsibility should encourage and demand communities keep ever de Res 

Vaynor school area is a more suitable proposition. Location is the same. Access will be a 
problem for both sites. Surely the vaynor school area was the plan from the beginning, 
why suggest a new site? Res 

It's a traditional school site whilst the alternative is a playing field so therefore is 
protected from development. Res 

The Old Vaynor & Penderyn site has already provided an educational establishment that 
proved ideally suited to cater for the needs of local children in terms of environment, 
access and health and safety. This site would require minimum preparation for dev Res 

As the former Vaynor & Penderyn school site has already been used for a school, it seems 
the obvious place to rebuild a new one. The Godre'r Coed playing fields are used by many 
organisations, hosts events, sports, recreation and dog walkers alike. Also, Res 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount Res 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount Res 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount Res 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount Res 

Previously been used as a school site. All amenities already there. The community need a 
green space for all to enjoy. Encourages sports activities, helping maintain a healthier 
lifestyle in the community. The health and wellbeing of the community is paramount Res 

The old school site is perfectly viable , any access issues can be overcome . Both 
proposed sites will have pedestrian access to them via Pontycapel Road The community 
of Cefn Coed want the Vaynor fields left for use of sporting groups , for cricket , rug Res 

Page 78



 
 

58 
 

The former Vaynor site was built for the purpose of a school and therefore has the 
capacity to be a school once again in the form of Ysgol-Y-Graig. If the school was to be 
built in the current football field it would cause a multitude of problems, but mainly 
transportation issues. The access into the field from Maesgwynne/Cyfarthfa Gardens is 
for pedestrian use only and the current vehicle access point would not be suitable for the 
heavy traffic a school brings, therefore this would suggest that changes would be made 
and if the traffic was to come through the Maesgwynne/Cyfarthfa Gardens street, it 
would cause a lot of upset, distress and chaos for the residents. Currently, when events 
are held in the football field or in Cyfarthfa park, the residents of Maesgwynne/Cyfarthfa 
Gardens are swamped with traffic and blocked drives, which is unacceptable, especially 
in the case of an emergency, but for general use of your own drive it is a nuisance to be 
blocked in by a non-resident of the street. Furthermore, as mentioned in your 
documents, the current pedestrian crossing is 500m up the high street and the traffic at 
the mini roundabout is already dangerous with a normal flow of traffic. Accidents occur 
here too often, and would naturally only become worse if a school was to be situated in 
this area due to the increase in cars/buses and people. This is not only dangerous for 
drivers, but also for regular pedestrians and the young school children who would be 
walking here daily. There are numerous reasons why the school should not be built in 
this area, but it all stems down to the impracticality and unsuitability of its location. Res 

There are more roads to this site, as it has already been used as a school. There is only 
one road going to the Godre'r Coed Playing Field Site. Not only that this is the only field 
the children have to play, Its the only place family's can go with little children too be able 
to play Res 

I dont want a school opposite my home when there is a site already available.  Vaynor 
and Penderyn is more suitable and has already been a school.The rugby field as I know it 
is for both children and adults to use for sports activities ie. Rugby, Football and cricket Res 

Site more suitable Res 

The old school site is more suitable because it is central for the whole village of Cefn 
Coed and the site should be used for a new school to replace the old one using the space 
for education instread of being of no use at all and thus keeping the green field for 
sporting use. Res 

V& P is already ready for a school so please build there Res 

This is a self contained site already used as a school which is suitable for redevelopment 
as a modern school without depriving the community of much needed green space. Res 

Originally a school site with 500 pupils this site would accomodate a smaller primary 
school without problem the site should be looked at how to make it viable not negatively 
that it is not viable.  This option would maintain one of the last green fields a generous 
size with flat grounds to accomodate a variety of sport and recreation facilitities. Res 

There is already a site available Vaynor and Penderyn.  The rugby field is known for 
activities, rugby, football. Nice to walk the dog Res 

I feel that the former vaynor site is more suitable to accomodate the school as the 
majority of the are of the existing playing fields will remain in tact for recreation 
purposes. Res 

Site its already there, why take away the only playing field in Cefn Coed Res 

There was a school there for 100 years plus with pupils attending from all areas with no 
problems.  The site is now laying derelict. Why use a green field site when this brown site 
is available.The number of pupils to attend the new school is much lower than the 
number attended to the Old school again with no problems. Res 

Page 79



 
 

59 
 

I think that the new school should be built on V&P school site.  the amenities are already 
there the school field should be kept for the Cefn community. Res 

V&P site is better prepared for building on. The playing field is a landmark that gets used 
alot for sports. Res 

MTBC have already spent 20K on seeing if this site is viable. It obviously is and was good 
enough to build on in 2012.The playing fields could still be used for school activities as 
well as the community. Does MTBC know if the field is viable to build on?* Res 

This site used to house over 500 children, and should do so again. Brown field sites 
should be used for schooling.The V&P site is at the heart of the community. Res 

V&P site is a much better option as the field shouldnt be an option at all. It is protected Res 

This site V&P HIgh school site is a tried and tested location. This site was chosen initially 
and there was sufficient good reasons to have this a school area.  The playing field is an 
essential part of the community for usage in sports and other activities. This should be 
protected. Res 

School has already been on this site, so has facilities to accomodate.  Safer for children 
due to location. Res 

The reason for this is becuase a school has already been on this site hence the 
neighbourhood are accustomed to this.  Also it is nicely tucked away where it will be 
safer for the children with respect to traffic etc..Also the site would have all the facilities 
for a school making it easier to build a new school there. Res 

V&P is a site waiting to be built on. The field is played on constantly.  We need to keep 
the field Res 

The site is available and has always had a school.  There are different acesses. which will 
mean less build up of traffic. Res 

The more suitable site for the new ysgol y graig is on the ground of the former V&P site. 
This would then keep the Godre'r Coed playing field for sport which is very important for 
childrens health and education. Res 

Other site more suitable Res 

Always was a good school with over 400 pupils who were safe there so how can it be 
unsafe for 200+ pupils Res 

I believe that the school should be built on the VP site because the school was always 
there. Res 

Already been a school and has access as before at south terrace, plenty of room for buses 
and safe for children up south terrace.As only entrance to school at bottom of street and 
also plenty of car park spaces in school so no extra parking in surrounding street, which 
would cause problems for residents Res 

School site already established. Why take over the playing field site? Res 

Good enough for me to attend and safe for all of us so why change it Res 

It was good enough when I was in school and it was safe so whats wrong with it now Res 

The site was previously a school and the children need the playing field.  There is 
nowhere else or safe for them to play Res 

I cannot see why we have to lose a wonderful community facility when there is a 
perfectly good site close by. The Vaynor and Penderyn site is currently unused and from 
the plans can accommodate the school with staff parking on a small area nearby. This wo  

Myself and my husband both are former pupils and the site is the right place to be  

Always was a school there  

 

Page 80



 
 

60 
 

V&P at the Heart of the Village: 

Keep it local Staff 

This is central in the village Staff 

It will be in the middle of Cefn. Just like the other school was, no problem to get to this 
area, I wen to both schools and lived in Trefechan at the time. Its away from busy roads. 
V&P site is a better location for a school, I dont think the school field would be right for a 
school and rugby field combined Staff 

enclosed area that is central tin the village with multiple access points PCG 

Plenty of space for new school At heart of local community Good access for children to 
walk/cycle to school MoC 

Playing school for children to play Vaynor school is like a jungle in the centre of Cefn. It's 
always been a school MoC 

The old Vaynor and Penderyn Site is more central to the village with multiple access 
throughout the central area of the village. The land on which the old Vaynor and 
Penderyn School was situated is more than sufficient for approximately 220 -250 junior 
sc LSG 

The site is right in the centre of the village - it is easily accessible on foot for children and 
parents from all parts of Cefn Coed. There is scope to alter traffic arrangements (e.g. 
through one way systems, designated drop-off points) to allow drop-of Res 

The site was previously used as a school so access etc would have been previously 
establshed It is situated in the middle of the village, as it is important that the school be 
in the 'village' It will allow the redevelopment of the previous school without Res 

It belongs to the village Res 

The V&P site is more accessible and centrally situated.  Keep the field for the community Res 

Important to have school closer to centre of village Res 

Better sited and easier to keep safe than Godre'r Coed playing field site Res 

The site is located in the area that would benefit the community.  At the moment the site 
is covered in rubbish whilst Godrer Coed playing field is used frequently by families for 
leisure and entertainment. Also, as SWOT document failed to register there is a matter of 
vehicle acess.  The same weaknesses such as narrow road network and difficulties 
accessing the construction plant apply to both sites... this gives an impression that the 
document is biased. Res 

V& P site is more central and easier to get to Res 

It is in the middle of the village of Cefn Coed. Convenient est, west north and south for 
pupils staff and visitors. There are entrances at all points of the campus.  Easy access for 
pedestrian and vehicular acess. Res 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 
 

61 
 

 

Access, Traffic and Transport 

 

It is more central to the village for people who travel by public transport. pupil 

Road access right around several access points field can still be used by school PCG 

Access can be made in a one way circle, in at Lord Raglan ont trhough island at crawshays 
old pub or other way around with roundabout at junction at Lord Raglan. No parking 
along ponty capel road during day. South Wall for residence/ school.  Also site of old 
Chaeple in Helford St, made into carpark for residence and school.  All open to business's 
needing temporary parking. No walls or gates for paring only school.  No reason for 
school not be made compact or submerged . + two story high? Playing field can be 
improved with zebra crossing access from school. Please do not take away what was 
given to community and keeps us united as a village/ healthy. PCG 

poor access to Godre'r Coed playing field MoC 

the other site would have to be accessed via cyfarthfa gardens and the area is too small 
to accommodate buses, especially buses attempting to go around the very difficult mini 
roundabout at the entrance to maesgwynne and cyfarthfa gardens. There will be n MoC 

Ample space for new school, one way traffic system to be put into place, school fields 
should be left as they were given to community for recreational use only. LSG 

The site is more central to the village with various access points for pupils/staff. LSG 

It is a better spot for a school and more accessible LMP 

The field is an integral part of the community and is essential for our youth. The former 
vaynor and Pendleton site is ideal for the new school. Access road from the high street 
could easily be set up by creating an access point (opposite pink pamper) and Res 

Increase of traffic volume access route unsuitable ( many accidents already taking place 
on mini roundabout on high street ) To loose the playing fields would be to the detriment 
of the community, it is such a valuable resource which is always used by a local rugby 
team and by members of the community each and every day. Res 

We do not want to lose a valuable resource as the field. Put a new one way route from 
the High street to the Vaynor site. Res 

Site already stands a change in roads direction would stand Res 

Too much traffic for such a small site as maesgwynne. V&P is a much better access site. Res 

Vaynor and Penderyn is more better for the schoool to be built on as there would be 
more traffic around the streets if you build houses, which I have heard you are going to 
build on V&P  We need the field for sports and the community. Res 

Access to the Godrer Coed site is already barely adequate for the current residential 
traffic due to the narrowness of hte current roadways which cannot be widened because 
of established accomodation.  The number of cars which will add to health and safety 
problems by exaserbating pollution and adding significant risk to traffic.  can buses 
transporting 250+ pupils to and from the site is bound to cause congestion that could 
foreseeably result in a bottleneck into/out of the site, a tailback to the mine roundabout 
and the Gwynns Public House and traffic into and out of Merthyr Town. Res 

better access Res 

With some road improvements the old school site is the best site because we do not 
want to lose any part of the  field.  It has been used by the village for over 100 yeas and 
still is in constant use. Res 

Page 82



 
 

62 
 

Potential difficulties for some families in getting children to and from school Res 

I dont think the council has put enough effort into finding a safe way to access the former 
school site. Has the entrance near the bottom fish shop been considered? or maybe 
making Ponty Chapel Road one way traffic etc... I thought it was the policy of the wales 
planning to give preference to brown field sites. Res 

The amount of traffic in Cefn Coed is already very high and this will increase it. Also the 
fields are used regularly and are a safe place for kids to play.  It would be a shame to lose 
this area to become a concrete space. Res 

If the school was built on the Godre'r Coed playing field, it would cause too much traffic 
congestion. Res 

More suitable for transport Trans 

Traffic/parking would be a major concern for me, and also the vetting or lack of potential 
residents and their background  

 

 

Other comments: 

I think this site may be used for building more houses if not retained as a school. PCG 

Best use of land otherwise it will just be sold for houses MoC 

Best use of land LComG 

Both locations are very similar however vaynor has the infrastructure for a school as it 
used to be. The fields can be kept for green land which is needed for Cefn area. Plus if a 
school was built on the fields vaynor land would be sold for houses. The ar MoC 

You cannot destroy the playing flields - you have a school site already- build it there , we 
all know the only reason you want to build on school fields , so you can sell off the 
original school site - this will be so wrong and you will destroy the playin Res 

You only want to build on school fields so you can sell original school for housing - it's 
morally wrong and you should be ashamed that you are even considering it! Res 

This site is clearly empty for some time, should be utilised for childrens needs not 
housing.  Keep playing field for children and green space Res 

wedfwed MoC 

Best place for school MoC 

Hands off! LCG 

It's a disgrace what you are trying to do!! Res 

The above Res 

Piss Off Res 

hands off Res 

Hands off Res 

leave alone Res 

No chance Res 

I believe it's the best option Res 

 

 

 

Page 83



 
 

63 
 

APPENDIX 3: Consultation Session Comments 

 

Ysgol Y Graig Primary School re-location 

Comments 

Ysgol Y Graig School Council 18th July 2017 

 

Most of the comments made by the children were about what they wanted their new school to 

have:   

 

Outdoor area, outdoor classroom, calming area, thinking room, music room, science room,  

Playdoh room, reading room, sandpit, music room, Slide. Cooking classroom, art room, climbing 

frame, mini-forest, drinking fountain, football goals, instruments, insect area, PE cupboard, sorry 

room. Log circle, football pitch, calm room, jungle gym, slide, swing, outside drinking place 

 

School field, forest, yard, ICT room, jungle gym, play area, scooter and bike parking, Paddling pool,  

Football, rugby, bug home, pond, calm room,  flowers, Playdoh room, sandpit, computer room, Bug 

home, school forest, sandpit, Quiet room, book group, Trampoline park, swimming pool, park, 

football, rugby, better school pens, scooter club, Climbing frame, bug home, quiet room, Pond, 

indoors slide, forest, insect habitat, Jungle 

 

After seeing the plans for the V&P site, I believe it was a waste of time and money having plans done 

for the field.  Vaynor site is perfect. 

 

My preferred sit is V&P, as the field is a valuable asset to the village. 

 

I need the rugby field to stay because rugby is my heart and desire.  Otherwise, I would be stuck in 

the house doing nothing – Brandon. 

 

They shouldn’t build on the field – they should leave it as it is for the children of the village.  I used to 

use this fields as a young girl and I am still at the grand age of 93. 

 

My view on the consultation is that the views of the community are not being taken into account.  

Our field should be left for the children and families to enjoy the open area and for their children to 

have somewhere in the future to just relax away from the stress of life.  Please build on the V&P 

former site.  Our children deserve a new school, so why can’t we have both?  Cheryl Lang. 

 

It appears to me that the consultation is purely an administrative necessity.  All the officials I spoke 

to admitted their bias towards the Playing Fields site. 

 

 

 

Page 84



 
 

64 
 

The school should be built on the site where a school has always stood.  The playing fields are just 

that – playing fields and should be left that way.  The children of Cefn Coed need and deserve a place 

to play and stay healthy to become all round healthy children.  

 

After discussions with the council officers in attendance, it seems that the decision has already been 

made to build the school on the playing field.  Very little consideration seems to have been to 

building on the V&P site because it is an easy option to say that there is a problem with the traffic.  

There are about 130 children using the field throughout the year.  

It should not be the Architect’s decision alone – he does not understand the locality and the strength 

of feeling in the community.  The use of the field by the children should be encouraged – it should 

not be destroyed.  This is a disgrace – the people of this community have not been listened to 

(except for the select few). The children need this only green space in the village. 

 

The Vaynor site should be chosen provided that classroom sizes can be safeguarded and the school 

can have appropriate outdoor classrooms for foundation phase and play areas for kids.  If the playing 

field area can only be used, both the Vaynor and YGG sites must be used for recreational purposes – 

grass pitch and MUGA. 

 

What is best for Cefn Coed y Cymmer?  Advantages of V&P site: 

1) Use of a brownfield site 

2) Central to the village 

3) A creative architect could make a very attractive site 

4) Safety access issues can be overcome 

5) Building on that site will retain a playing/recreational area for the village and school, 

allowing the village to hold fetes, cricket and all acitvities which we should be encouraging to 

make a fit and healthy society – Alan Bush. 

 

As a lifelong resident of Cefn Coed, I am fully behind the school field staying that as it has helped 

generations past and also will in the future to progress in healthy sporting activities.  

 

I think it is scandalous to contemplate the loss of a rugby pitch.  This WILL happen if the school site 

chosen, when the building starts, contactors move boundaries. The old schools site is the residents 

of Cefn Coed’s choice, but will it be listened to? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 
 

65 
 

 

Pontsticill Memorial Hall 

17.08.17  

 

Brendan Lewis 34, Cyfarthfa Gardens – If it’s Council land why is it labelled as community 

land on Council plans. 

Use of land would like to see deeds and conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 
 

66 
 

APPENDIX 4: Responses From the Ysgol Y Graig Primary 

 

Ysgol-Y-Graig Primary School 
Headteacher: Mrs.K Everley 

Brewery Lane, Cefn Coed, 

Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 2LR 

Tel: 01685 723159         

e-mail office@ysgol-y-graig.merthyr.sch.uk 

www.ysgol-y-graig.merthyr.sch.uk 

 

September 8th 2017 

 

FAO Communications, Consultation and Engagement Department 

I am writing on behalf of the school staff of Ysgol Y Graig Primary. As the extended consultation 

process is coming to an end we wanted to re-iterate the views of our staff as a whole. All staff have 

given their views independently throughout this process, but the consensus of opinion is that we 

would like the new school build to be on the Godre’r Coed site. 

The main reason for this is because of issues around safeguarding. On the Godre’r Coed site, the 

whole school is situated in one area. On the former Vaynor and Penderyn school site this is not 

possible. As a result, the children will be able to access all areas of the Godre’r Coed site easily and 

safely when undertaking sports and outside learning activities. This will be more difficult on the 

alternative proposed site.  

We understand the concerns the community have regarding the possible use of the Godre’r Coed site 

but we really feel that these issues could be overcome. Many schools are now used for lots of 

community activities and we feel that this would be easily achievable here in Cefn Coed. There is a 

strong community ethos here which is so important to the identity of this village. We would hope that 

this would only be strengthened by the building of the school on this site and would endeavour to 

work with the community to ensure that this is the case. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

Kathryn Everley 

Headteacher 

 

Page 87



 
 

67 
 

APPENDIX 5: Response from Estyn 

 
Estyn response to the proposal to replace the existing school building for Ysgol y 
Graig Primary School and relocate it in a new building on a new site.  
 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in 
Wales.  
 
Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 
However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and 
the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation 
matters. Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on 
the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 
following response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional 
information such as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional 
Consortia which deliver school improvement services to the schools within the proposal.  
 
Introduction  
 
This is a proposal by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council to establish the preferred 
site to build a new school building for Ysgol y Graig Primary School. The new school 
building will replace the current primary school and nursery with a one-form entry 
primary school.  
 
Summary  
 
The proposal by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is to construct a replacement 
building for the existing Ysgol y Graig Primary School on one of two shortlisted sites. 
These are the former Vaynor and Penderyn High School site and the Godre’r Coed 
playing fields site.  
The proposal asserts reasonably that relocating the school to a new building should help 
support pupil progress by improving continuity and progression for pupils as well as at 
least maintaining the school’s current performance.  
It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the current standards 
of education in the area.  
 
Description and benefits  
 
The proposer has given a clear rationale for the proposed expected benefits when 
compared with the status quo in relation to the learning environment, enhancing 
community facilities and ensuring that all pupils from 3 to 11 years of age are educated 
on the same site. The proposer also explain well how the proposal fits with the local 
authority’s broader strategic plan.  
 
The proposer notes appropriately the advantages of the proposal, which include efficient 
and effective use of resources, the continuity and progression in pupils’  

Page 88



 
 

68 
 

learning, improved community engagement and access to a purposeful learning 
environment.   
The proposer has identified suitably the disadvantages of the current proposal, which 
focus on the impact on travel arrangements for the staff and pupils. It also notes 
appropriately the advantages and disadvantages in relation to each of the proposed 
sites.  
 
This proposal does not change the current provision of home to school transport. The 
current proposal will not create new school places nor will it reduce the current level of 
surplus places within the authority.  
 
Ysgol y Graig Primary School currently teaches Welsh as a second language but does 
not provide education through the medium of Welsh. This arrangement will continue 
under the proposal. The proposer has considered appropriately the outcomes of the 
most recent Estyn inspection report and school categorisation in relation to the National 
School Categorisation system on the quality of leadership and pupil outcomes for the 
school. The proposers’ summary of outcomes for the school is concise and clear and 
compares performance with similar schools based on entitlement to free school meals.  
Estyn inspected Ysgol y Graig Primary School in March 2015 and the judgements for the 
school’s performance and prospects for improvement were good. The local authority has 
also evaluated each school’s performance in relation to the National School 
Categorisation System. Under the system, schools will be in one of four standards 
groups (1 to 4), with schools in standards group 1 demonstrating very good overall 
performance and those in standards group 4 demonstrating the greatest need for 
improved performance. Ysgol y Graig Primary School is currently in standards group 1.  
 
The proposers have undertaken an appropriate equality impact assessment, which 

considers the impact of the proposal on a few vulnerable groups including pupils with 

special educational needs. The Learning Resource Base (LRB) for pupils with special 

educational needs currently located at the school will be included in the proposed new 

building. The proposal asserts reasonably that this is unlikely to have a negative effect 

on the provision for those pupils already attending the LRB. 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT N
O
 70033398-001 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil 

TRANSPORT OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

  
CONSULTATION REPORT 

Page 91



 
   
 

   

 

CONSULTATION REPORT 
 
 
Project no: 70033398 
Date:  June 2017 
 

 

 
 
– 
WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
1 Capital Quarter 
Tyndall Street 
Cardiff 
CF10 4BZ 
 
Tel: +44 (0) 2920 769 200 
 
www.wsp-pb.com 

YSGOL Y GRAIG, CEFN COED, 
MERTHYR TYDFIL 

TRANSPORT OPTIONS ASSESSMENT 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 

Page 92



 

 

Q U A L I T Y  M A N A G E M E N T  

ISSUE/REVISION FIRST ISSUE REVISION 1 REVISION 2 REVISION 3 

Remarks Working draft for 
client comment 

Consultation Draft Consultation Report  

Date 08/06/17 09/06/17 12/06/2017  

Prepared by Rhian Sheady 

Rachel Tooby 

Rhian Sheady 

Rachel Tooby 

Rhian Sheady 

Rachel Tooby 

 

Signature     

Checked by Lisa Goddard 

Steve Hayward 

Lisa Goddard 

Steve Hayward 

Lisa Goddard 

Steve Hayward 

 

Signature     

Authorised by Neil Taylor Neil Taylor Neil Taylor  

Signature     

Project number 70033398 70033398 70033398  

Report number 001 002 002  

File reference A A A  

 

 

Page 93



ii 
 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 
 

P R O D U C T I O N  T E A M  

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF 

Rhian Sheady Graduate Transport Planner 

Josh Burkin Graduate Transport Planner 

Neil Taylor Principal Transport Planner 

 

SUB CONSULTANTS 

Tracsis Traffic Surveys / Parking Beat Surveys 

  

  

 
 

Page 94



iii 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398
  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1 INTRODUCTION ...........................................................................1 

1.1 OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 SCOPE ............................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 STRUCTURE OF REPORT ................................................................................ 2 

1.4 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS ......................................................................... 2 

2 EXISTING CONDITIONS ..............................................................4 

2.1 OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................... 4 

2.2 SITE DESCRIPTION .......................................................................................... 4 

2.3 LOCAL HIGHWAYS ........................................................................................... 8 

2.4 PARKING DEMAND ........................................................................................ 20 

2.5 HIGHWAY SAFETY ......................................................................................... 31 

3 ACCESSIBILITY ......................................................................... 33 

3.1 OVERVIEW ....................................................................................................... 33 

3.2 PROVISION FOR NMUS .................................................................................. 33 

3.3 PUBLIC TRANSPORT ACCESSIBILITY ........................................................ 34 

4 TRAVEL DEMAND OF PROPOSALS ........................................ 37 

4.1 OVERVIEW ....................................................................................................... 37 

4.2 SCHOOL PUPIL TRIPS ................................................................................... 37 

4.3 STAFF TRIPS ................................................................................................... 38 

4.4 COMBINED VEHICLE TRIPS .......................................................................... 39 

5 ACCESS OPTIONS .................................................................... 40 

5.1 OVERVIEW ....................................................................................................... 40 

5.2 PROBLEMS, CONSTRAINTS AND UNCERTAINTIES OF HIGHWAY 
NETWORK ....................................................................................................... 40 

5.3 TRANSPORT PLANNING OBJECTIVES ........................................................ 41 

Page 95



iv 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398
  

5.4 ACCESS TO FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL ................................................... 41 

5.5 ACCESS TO GODRE’R COED FIELD SITE ................................................... 48 

5.6 SUMMARY ....................................................................................................... 58 

6 JUNCTION CAPACITY ASSESSMENTS................................... 59 

6.1 ORIGIN OF TRIPS ........................................................................................... 59 

6.2 TRIP REASSIGNMENT .................................................................................... 62 

6.3 MODELLING RESULTS .................................................................................. 63 

6.4 SUMMARY ....................................................................................................... 69 

7 ACCESS OPTIONS APPRAISAL .............................................. 70 

7.1 OVERVIEW ....................................................................................................... 70 

7.2 METHODOLOGY ............................................................................................. 70 

7.3 APPRAISAL FOR FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL OPTIONS ......................... 70 

7.4 APPRAISAL FOR GODRE’R COED FIELDS OPTIONS ................................ 73 

8 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS ............................................. 76 

 

APPENDIX A SIFTED VEHICLE ACCESS OPTIONS TO FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL 
 
APPENDIX B SIFTED VEHICLE ACCESS OPTIONS TO GODRE’R COED FIELDS 
 
APPENDIX C SWEPT PATH ANALYSIS 
 
APPENDIX D VEHICLE FLOW DIAGRAMS 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 96



1 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 OVERVIEW 

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff (WSP | PB) have been commissioned by Blaenau Gwent County 
Borough Council (BGCBC) on behalf of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) to 
undertake a Transport Options Appraisal for two sites. 

The two sites are being considered for the potential relocation of the Ysgol-y-Graig Primary 
School, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil. This appraisal will help to identify the most suitable access 
arrangements to each site. 

MTCBC’s decision to build a new primary school is part of the Welsh Government’s 21
st
 Century 

Schools and Education Programme investment period ending in 2018/19. 

A brief document history relating to the relocation of the school is as follows: 

 April 2010: Capita Symonds assessed the access options for the relocation of the school to 
the nearby Former Vaynor School Site (Former Vaynor School Site Transport Access Study). 

 April 2011: Austin-Smith Lord produced a feasibility study for the proposed new primary 
school. The report included: 

 A report by Mott MacDonald which reviewed access opportunities for the Godre’r Coed 
Fields Site (Playing Field Site Transport Access Study). 

 A report by Mott MacDonald which reviewed Capita Symonds study of the Former Vaynor 
School Site (Former Vaynor Schools Site Transport Access Study Review). 

 April 2016: WSP | PB were commissioned to undertake a Transport Options Assessment of 
the Former Vaynor School Site. A working draft of the report was provided to the client 
following confirmation that work on this project was to be halted. 

 

1.2 SCOPE 

WSP | PB have been commissioned to undertake a Transport Options Appraisal which: 

 Identifies existing highway provision surrounding both sites and constraints for movement by 
all modes; 

 Establishes operation of the existing highway network; 

 Identifies potential access options to both sites with supporting interventions and highway 
improvements; and, 

 Investigates whether these access options are feasible in terms of providing safe and 
appropriate access to each site. 

Page 97



2 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

This report has been informed by site visits undertaken on Tuesday 25
th
 April 2017, Tuesday 19

th
 

and Tuesday 26
th
 April 2016. 

 

1.3 STRUCTURE OF REPORT 

This report is structured as follows: 

Section 2 describes the existing conditions at each of the sites and the surrounding highway 
network. It includes a review of the Personal Injury Collisions recorded nearby; 

Section 3 provides a review of accessibility for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users to 
both sites; 

Section 4 provides an estimate of the expected trip generation/reassignment. 

Section 5 presents potential access options to each site and the transport planning objectives 
which they are measured against; 

Section 6 provides the findings of the junction capacity assessments; 

Section 7 presents the appraisal of the access options; and, 

Section 8 summarises the main outcomes of the appraisal. 

 

1.4 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 

The two sites being considered for the relocation of Ysgol y Graig Primary School are the Former 
Vaynor School Site and the Godre’r Coed Fields Site. 

The existing primary school has 211 pupils on the school roll and is accessed via Brewery Lane in 
Cefn Coed. 

It is proposed to develop one of the sites to provide the following: 

 A school building to accommodate 240 primary school pupils including a nursery class 

 Land allocated for outdoor activities for school pupils 

 Parking provision and drop-off/pick-up facilities 

 
As part of the development proposals it is intended to retain or provide substitute open 
recreational space for use by the community. 

Page 98



3 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Figure 1.1 shows the existing catchment area for the Ysgol y Graig primary school and the 
postcodes of pupils at the existing school. The catchment largely comprises the village of Cefn 
Coed and other settlements to the north of the A465 Heads of the Valleys road on the fringes of 
the Brecon Beacons national park. As shown, the catchment area is predominately rural in nature, 
being on the edge of the main urban settlement of Merthyr Tydfil. 

The figure demonstrates that the majority of the pupils are from within Cefn Coed, Trefechan and 
the main urban settlement of Merthyr Tydfil. It shows that many pupils travel from outside the 
schools catchment area. 

 

Figure 1.1 – Extent of school catchment area for Ysgol y Graig, shown in red and pupil postcodes 

Page 99



4 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

2 EXISTING CONDITIONS 

2.1 OVERVIEW 

This section of the report describes the existing condition of the site and the existing access 
points for vehicles and non-motorised-users (NMUs). It also describes the local highway 
surrounding the site identifying any existing safety or capacity constraints. 

 

2.2 SITE DESCRIPTION 

The locations of the two potential sites and the existing school are shown in Figure 2.1 below. 
 

 

Figure 2.1 – Location of potential development sites 

2.2.1 FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL SITE 

The Former Vaynor School Site is in Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil located approximately 200m south 
of the existing school. The site is approximately 0.71ha in size and is heavily constrained in terms 
of access. This is due to the residential properties that surround the site to the east, north and 
west. 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Legend 

Existing school location 

Former Vaynor School Site 

Godre’r Coed Fields Site 

 

Page 100



5 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Figure 2.2 –  Photographs showing gradient across Former Vaynor School Site. 

Full topographical survey drawings were provided by BGCBC. This confirmed the presence of 
level differences across the site and the immediate surrounding area. The maximum level 
difference between the northern and southern boundaries is approximately 5.6m over a distance 
of approximately 133m. This equates to a 4% downhill gradient from the north to the south. 
Figure 2.2 demonstrates the level difference across the site. 

 

EXISTING ACCESS 

The Former Vaynor School Site has four existing access points, shown in Figure 2.3 and Figure 
2.4 Two of these are considered to be suitable for vehicular access to the site; although these are 
constrained by the alignments and widths of the surrounding highways.  

The access points currently suitable for use by vehicles are from Pontycapel Road to the south of 
the site, and South Terrace to the west of the site. Further access for NMUs  can be gained to the 
east from Old Church Street and from the north from Holford Street.  

Figure 2.3. Location of existing access points to Former Vaynor School Site. 

Legend 

  Vehicular access 

  Pedestrian access only 

 

Imagery © 2017 Google Map Data © 2017 Google 

Page 101



6 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Figure 2.4 – Existing access gates to the Former Vaynor School Site. 

 

 

2.2.2 GODRE’R COED FIELDS SITE 

The Godre’r Coed Fields site is situated approximately 300m south of the existing school and 
accessed from Godre’r Coed Road via Pontycapel Road. The site is comprised of a rugby playing 
field, changing facility building and two parking areas, as shown in Figure 2.5.  

The Godre’r Coed Fields site is currently used for recreational purposes including Cefn Coed 
Rugby Club as well as local residents for dog walking. 

The site is approximately 2.15ha and is bounded by residential areas to the north, east and south. 
The western edge of the site is bounded by Godre’r Coed Road and shrub woodland. 

EXISTING ACCESS 

The site has one existing vehicle access point which is from Godre’r Coed Road as shown in 
Figure 2.6. Godre’r Coed Road is constrained in width and is on an incline with the highest point 
at the junction with Pontycapel Road. Discontinuous sections of footway are provided on the 
western side of the carriageway whilst no footway is provided on the eastern edge. 

Figure 2.5 - Photographs taken on existing site. 

Page 102



7 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Legend 

  Vehicular access 

  Pedestrian access only 

 

Figure 2.6 - Location of current access points to proposed site. 

 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Godre’r Coed 
Fields Site 

On the south-eastern corner of the site, an informal gated access is situated off Cyfarthfa 
Gardens which is suitable for pedestrian access only. The access points to site are identified in 
Figure 2.7 

 

Figure 2.7 - Access gates off Godre'r Coed Road, facing west 

 

Page 103



8 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

2.3 LOCAL HIGHWAYS 

The highway network surrounding the site is shown in Figure 2.8, identifying the various local 
highway names referred to throughout the report.  

Figure 2.8 shows the locations at which junction turning count surveys have been carried out. 
The junction surveys at Sites 1, 2, 3, 4A and 4B were undertaken by Tracsis on Tuesday 19

th
 April 

2016 between 07:30 and 09:30, and between 14:30 and 16:30. These surveys were undertaken 
as part of the Transport Options Assessment for the Former Vaynor School Site commissioned by 
WSP PB in April 2016. 

The additional junction surveys at Sites 5 and 6 were undertaken by Tracsis on Wednesday 25
th
 

April 2017 between 07:30 and 09:30, and between 14:30 and 16:30. 

Page 104



9 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Figure 2.8 - Local Highway Network and Location of Junction Turning Count Surveys 

P
age 105



10 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

HIGH STREET A5054 

High Street A4054 is aligned north-west to south-east and connects to the A470 to the north of 
both sites. High Street continues as Brecon Road A4054 from the roundabout with Maesgwynne. 

The road has full road markings. Through Cefn-Coed-y-Cymmer the road is subject to a 30mph 
speed limit and is single carriageway. The road has parking restrictions along sections, in the 
form of double yellow lines. Other sections through Cefn-Coed-y-Cymmer have formal on-street 
parking bays with parking restrictions. High Street is well covered by lighting provision with street 
lighting mounted on columns along footways on both sides of the road. The road condition and 
layout is shown in Figure 2.9. 

The average two-way flow observed through the junction turning count surveys in April 2016 was 
632 in the hour between 08:00 and 09:00. This equates to approximately 11 vehicles per minute 
travelling in either direction along High Street in the AM peak. The average two-way flow in the 
PM peak was 577. This equates to approximately 10 vehicles per minute passing High Street 
between 15:30 and 16:30. 

 

MAESGWYNNE ROUNDABOUT 

Maesgwynne Roundabout is a three arm mini roundabout that connects High Street, Brecon 
Road and Maesgwynne. The roundabout is shown in Figure 2.10. 

No pedestrian crossing facilities are provided at Maesgwynne Roundabout. The nearest 
pedestrian crossing facility across High Street is located c.500m north on High Street. 

The following observations were identified in the Mott MacDonald Report
1
 which should be taken 

into consideration; 

 ‘There is no deflection on the northbound approach to the roundabout. This results in traffic 
speeds not reducing on the approach from the south… 

 The deflection on the southbound approach is poorly designed, and observations suggest that 
the kerb and central island are regularly struck by vehicles… 

                                                      
 
 
 
1
 Playing Field Site Transport Access Study produced by Mott MacDonald in April 2011. 

Figure 2.9 - High Street A4054 

Page 106



11 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 No pedestrian facilities are incorporated within the roundabout design. Furthermore, there are 
no other crossing facilities provided on this section of the A4054 High Street.’ 

BRECON ROAD A4054 

Brecon Road A4054 is aligned north-west to south-east and begins from Maesgwynne 
Roundabout. Brecon Road A4054 continues south to a roundabout with Brecon Road and 
Cyfarthfa Road A4054. 

Directly south of Maesgwynne Roundabout footways are provided on both sides of the 
carriageway. Approximately 30m south of Maesgwynne Roundabout Brecon Road crosses the 
River Taf Fechan at which point the footway provision on the west side of the carriageway ends. 

Brecon Road is subject to a 30mph speed limit and traffic calming measures are present on the 
boundary of Cefn-Coed-y-Cymmer as shown in Figure 2.11 and Figure 2.12. 

Figure 2.11 - Brecon Road Bridge over River Taf 
Fechan 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Figure 2.12 - Brecon Road traffic calming 
measures, facing north 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Figure 2.10 - Maesgwynne Roundabout, Facing North 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Page 107



12 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

It is subject to parking restrictions in the form of double yellow lines for 30m south of Maesgwynne 
Roundabout. Continuous street lighting is provided on the eastern side of the carriageway. 

 

MAESGWYNNE 

Maesgwynne is a residential street accessed from the roundabout with High Street and Brecon 
Road. Maesgwynne is aligned north-east to south-west and connects to Cyfarthfa Gardens at its 
south-western end. Footway provision and street lighting mounted on columns are provided on 
both sides of the street. Dropped kerbs are provided for vehicular accesses to driveways of 
residential properties. There are no on-street parking restrictions. The highway layout is shown in 
Figure 2.13 and 2.14. 

 

CYFARTHFA GARDENS 

Cyfarthfa Gardens is a residential street accessed from Maesgwynne and provides access to the 
Godre’r Coed Fields Site through the south-eastern boundary. Dropped kerbs are provided for 
vehicular access to driveways of residential properties. There are no on-street parking 
restrictions. The highway layout is shown in Figures 2.15 and Figure 2.16. 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Figure 2.13 - Maesgwynne facing south-west 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Figure 2.15 - Cyfarthfa Gardens 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Figure 2.14 - Maesgwynne facing north-east 

Map data © 2017 Google 

Figure 2.16 - Access gate to site off Cyfarthfa 
Gardens 

Page 108



13 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

GODRE’R COED ROAD 

Godre’r Coed Road is aligned north to south and connects to Pontycapel Road in the north. To 
the south Godre’r Coed Road provides direct access to the Godre’r Coed Fields Site and onto a 
paved car parking area near the south-western edge of the site. 

The road is restricted in width making it difficult for vehicles to pass over the majority of the road 
length. The road is inclined with the highest point at the northern end. The road borders the 
western edge of the proposed site. 

A footway of c.35m length is provided on the eastern side of Godre’r Coed Road at the approach 
to Pontycapel Road. A footway of c.15m is provided on the western side. The highway 
arrangement is shown in Figures 2.17. 

 

OLD CHURCH STREET 

Old Church Street is aligned north to south and connects from High Street to Pontycapel Road. 
The street forms the eastern boundary of the Former Vaynor School Site, as shown in Figure 
2.18. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2.17 - Godre’r Coed Road  

Page 109



14 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

Old Church Street is restricted in width, making it difficult for two vehicles to pass. A vehicle 
turning head is provided at the southern end. The approach of Old Church Street to High Street is 
constrained with limited visibility due to the properties bounding the carriageway and footway, as 
shown in Figure 2.19. 

A narrow footway is provided on the eastern side of the carriageway, as shown in Figure 2.18, 
which is not of adequate width for use by pedestrians.  

Figure 2.18 - Old Church Street, (left) with 
Former Vaynor School boundary wall on the 

left, facing northwards, (right) at junction with 
Holford Street, facing north. 

 

Figure 2.19 - Old Church Street at junction with 

Holford Street, facing north 

Page 110



15 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

The southernmost section of Old Church Street is a pedestrian only footway for approximately 
30m, as shown in Figure 2.20.

Figure 2.20 - Pedestrian footway on Old Church Street, facing southwards 

Page 111



16 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

PONTYCAPEL ROAD 

Pontycapel Road is aligned east to west and connects to High Street in the east. To the western 
end of Pontycapel Road the carriageway bends towards a north-south alignment to connect to a 
six-arm junction with Bryntaf, Triangle, Old Chapel Road and South Terrace. 

Pontycapel Road forms the southern boundary of the Former Vaynor School Site. It is partially 
covered by street lighting along its length. Due to limited street space, lighting appears to be fixed 
on the frontages of some properties and on columns where possible. 

Dropped kerbs are provided for vehicular access to driveways of residential properties. There are 
no on-street parking restrictions. Pontycapel Road is narrow along most of its length. The road is 
unmarked with only limited places suitable for vehicles to pass due to a restricted highway 
boundary and surrounding residential properties. This is shown in the left image of Figure 2.21.  

The vehicle movements observed entering and exiting Pontycapel Road to/from High Street are 
shown in Table 2.1. The table shows that a vehicle is expected to pass in each direction less than 
every two minutes during the AM and PM peak periods. 

Table 2.1 - Approximate frequency of vehicle movements entering and exiting Pontycapel Road from 
High Street 

TIME PERIOD NUMBER OF VEHICLES APPROXIMATE FREQUENCY OF VEHICLES 

EXITING PONTYCAPEL 

ROAD 
ENTERING 

PONTYCAPEL ROAD 
EXITING PONTYCAPEL 

ROAD 
ENTERING 

PONTYCAPEL ROAD 

AM Peak 

08:00 – 09:00 

34 17 1 vehicle  every 2 
minutes 

1 vehicle every 4 
minutes 

PM Peak 

15:30 – 16:30 

37 33 1 vehicle every 2 
minutes 

1 vehicle every 2 
minutes 

 

Figure 2.21 - Pontycapel Road, left: facing west, right: facing west at junction with Godre’r Coed 

Road 

Page 112



17 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

SIX-ARM PRIORITY JUNCTION 

At the western end of Pontycapel Road is a six arm priority junction. The major arms are formed 
by Pontycapel Road (south) and Old Chapel Road. All other arms have give -way markings which 
are clear and visible. The junction arrangement and priorities are shown in Figure 2.22. 

The junction has limited visibility due to the walls and hedges bounding the carriageway and the 
constrained road alignments, this limits opportunities for hard improvement measures. Figure 
2.23 shows a boundary wall restricting visibility at the junction. 

Given the visibility restrictions at the six-arm junction it is considered undesirable to greatly 
increase traffic movements through this junction.  

 

Figure 2.22 - Six-arm priority junction, left: facing east towards south terrace and right: schematic of 
junction 

 

T
ri

a
n

g
le

 

Figure 2.23 - Restricted visibility for movements at six-arm priority junction 

Page 113



18 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

SOUTH TERRACE 

South Terrace is aligned east to west and links the six-arm junction with an entrance to the 
Former Vaynor School Site. 

Terraced properties are located on both sides of South Terrace along its length, as shown in 
Figure 2.24. Footways are provided on both sides of the carriageway. 

On-street parking results in a narrowing of the road making it difficult for two vehicles to pass and 
potentially requiring some weaving into vacant space. South Terrace is covered by lighting, with 
lights fixed on columns along the northern footway. 

As South Terrace does not link with any other routes, usage is likely to be limited to residential 
access. There is no formal turning head provided at the eastern end of the road, which may 
require some reversing movements when there is insufficient space for vehicles to turn due to on-
street parking demand. 

 

OLD CHAPEL ROAD 

Old Chapel Road is aligned north to south and connects High Street and Lower Vaynor Road with 
the six arm priority junction. Old Chapel Road is unmarked and very narrow, with property 
boundaries directly adjacent to the road. Old Chapel Road is adequately covered by street 
lighting. 

The junction turning count surveys recorded 47 vehicle movements exiting Old Chapel Road and 
18 vehicles entering Old Chapel Road in the AM period between 08:00 and 09:00. In the PM 
period 38 vehicles were observed exiting Old Chapel Road and 29 vehicles were seen entering. 

The highway layout is shown in Figure 2.25. 

Figure 2.24 - South Terrace, facing south-east 

Page 114



19 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

TRIANGLE 

Triangle is aligned north to south and connects High Street with the six-arm junction to the north-
west of the site. Triangle is unmarked with the exception of give-way lines at either end. The road 
is slightly wider than other roads in the vicinity of the site. The road does narrow at one point 
where vehicles would be required to give way to oncoming traffic, as shown in Figure 2.26. 
Triangle is adequately covered by lighting provision. 

The property boundaries surrounding Triangle limit opportunities for hard improvement measures.  

 

Figure 2.25 - Old Chapel Road. 

 

Figure 2.26 - Triangle 

Page 115



20 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

2.4 PARKING DEMAND 

2.4.1 PARKING NEAR FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL 

In April 2016 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff commissioned Tracsis to carry out parking beat surveys 
on the following streets surrounding the Former Vaynor School Site: 

 Triangle 

 Old Chapel Road 

 South Terrace 

 Pontycapel Road 

 Old Church Road 

 Holford Street 

The parking beat surveys were carried out on Thursday 19 May 2016 with parking by occupancy 
being recorded on the various streets from 07:30 to 09:30, and 14:30 to 16:30. The survey 
occurred during school term time on a neutral weekday. Prior to the survey the on-street parking 
capacity was estimated by Tracsis. This involved measuring the potential on-street parking 
capacity and dividing this by a 5m length parking space. 

The total on-street parking capacity surrounding the Former Vaynor School Site was estimated to 
be 212 spaces on this basis. Whilst the standard car length would enable vehicles to park this 
close together, when formalised marked parallel parking bays are provided, the length of this 
provision is normally 6m. If a 6m spacing is used, the actual capacity would be for 177 vehicles.  

At commencement of the surveys 27 vehicles were observed parking on-street within the survey 
area. A small number of off-street parking locations are also available in the areas surrounding 
the site. Vehicles parked in these areas were recorded separately and have not been represented 
in the capacity and demand analysis. 

Figure 2.27 shows the combined on-street parking demand on in the survey area over the AM 
and PM periods.     

 

177 

Figure 2.27 - Total on-street parking demand surrounding Former Vaynor School site. 

Page 116



21 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

On-street parking demand was recorded as 116 at 07:30. The number of vehicles parked on-
street steadily dropped over the two-hour period with the number of vehicles parked on-street 
recorded as 76 at 09:15.  

At 14:30, 73 vehicles were parked on-street. The number of vehicles parked on-street rose and 
fell over the two-hour PM period; the lowest number of vehicles was recorded as 73 and the 
highest was 77. This suggests that there is relatively high levels of parking provision on local 
roads between 14:30 and 16:30 when the new school would generate additional parking demand. 

PONTYCAPEL ROAD 

On-street parking demand on Pontycapel Road over the AM and PM periods is shown in Figure 
2.28.  

On-street parking demand on Pontycapel Road varied between 20 and 27 vehicles over the AM 
and PM periods. The parking capacity on Pontycapel Road was determined to be 60. The 
average number of vehicles parked on-street over the survey period was 24 vehicles; this would 
suggest that capacity remains for a further 47 vehicles.  

 

 
Figure 2.28 – On-street parking demand and capacity on Pontycapel Road. 

Page 117



22 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

HOLFORD STREET 

Figure 2.29 shows the on-street parking demand and capacity for Holford Street. 

 

 
The on-street parking demand on Holford Street varies between 16 and 37 vehicles over the AM 
and PM periods with the maximum demand of 37 vehicles observed at 07:30. The parking 
capacity on Holford Street was estimated to be 39 vehicles. 
 

OLD CHURCH STREET 

The on-street parking demand and capacity on Old Church Street is shown in Figure 2.30. 

 

On-street parking demand on Old Church Street remained between 0 and 2 vehicles over the AM 
and 2 PM periods. The parking capacity on Old Church Street was identified to be 7 vehicles. 

Figure 2.29 - On-street parking demand and capacity on Holford Street. 

Figure 2.30 - On-street parking demand and capacity on Old Church Street. 

Page 118



23 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

SOUTH TERRACE 

The on-street parking demand and capacity on South Terrace is shown in Figure 2.31. 

 

 
On-street parking demand on South Terrace varied between 24 and 35 vehicles in the AM period 
and 20 to 23 vehicles in the PM period. The parking capacity on South Terrace was estimated to 
be 38 vehicles. 

TRIANGLE 

The on-street parking demand and capacity on Triangle is shown in Figure 2.32. 

 

 

On-street parking demand on Triangle varies between 7 and 13 over the AM and PM periods. The 
parking capacity on Triangle is estimated to be 19 vehicles. 

Figure 2.32 - On-street parking demand and capacity on Triangle 

Figure 2.31 - On-street parking demand and capacity on South Terrace. 

Page 119



24 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

OLD CHAPEL ROAD 

The on-street parking demand and capacity on Old Chapel Road is shown in Figure 2.33. 

 

On-street parking demand on Old Chapel Road remained at 2 vehicles for the AM period. For the 
PM period the on-street parking demand varied between 0 to 2 vehicles. The parking capacity on 
Old Chapel Road was estimated to be 6 vehicles. 

 

2.4.2 PARKING NEAR GODRE’R COED FIELDS SITE 

In order to assess the parking demand on the highways surrounding the Godre’r Coed Fields Site 
in April 2017 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff commissioned Tracsis to carry out parking beat surveys 
on the following routes: 

 Route 1: Heol Y Cae and Maesgwynne 

 Route 2: Cyfarthfa Garden and Maesgwynne 

 Route 3: Godre’r Coed Road 

Figure 2.34 illustrates the routes considered for the parking beat survey. 

The parking beat surveys were carried out on Wednesday 26
th
 April 2017 with parking by 

occupancy being recorded on the various streets from 07:30 to 09:30, and 14:30 to 16:30. The 
survey occurred during school term time on a neutral weekday. 
 
It was estimated that the total on-street parking capacity for each route is as follows: 

 Route 1 approximately 93 spaces 

 Route 2 approximately 116 spaces 

 Route 3 approximately 79 spaces 

 

Figure 2.33 - On-street parking demand on Old Chapel Road. 

Page 120



25 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

 

Figure 2.34 – Location of routes considered for 2017 parking beat survey 

Imagery © 2017 Google Map Data © 2017 Google 

Page 121



26 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

ROUTE 1: HEOL Y CAE AND MAESGWYNNE 

Figure 2.35 shows the total on-street parking demand for Route 1. 

On-street parking demand on Route 1 was 26 vehicles at 07:30.  The number of vehicles parked 
on-street steadily dropped over the two-hour period with the number of vehicles parked on-street 
recorded as 15 at 09:15. At 14:30 15 vehicles were parked on-street.  The number of vehicles 
parked on-street did not change much over the two hour period and the highest was 17.   

The data suggests that between 07:30 and 09:15 only 23% of spaces are occupied and between 
14:30 and 16:15 only 17% of the spaces are occupied. Out of all 3 routes, route 1 has the highest 
occupancy rate of parking spaces. 

Figure 2.36 and Figure 2.37 show the on street parking demand over the AM and PM periods for 
Maesgwynne and Heol y Cae, respectively. 

Figure 2.35 – On-street parking demand for Route 1: Maesgwynne and Heol y Cae 

Figure 2.35 – Total on-street parking demand for Route 1. 

Page 122



27 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

 

 
 

Figure 2.37 – On-street parking demand and capacity for Maesgwynne. 

Figure 2.36 – On-street parking demand and capacity for Heol y Cae. 

Page 123



28 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

ROUTE 2: CYFARTHFA GARDENS AND MAESGWYNNE 

Figure 2.38 shows the combined on-street parking demand for Route 2 over the AM and PM 
periods. 

 

On-street parking demand was recorded at 17 vehicles at 07:30.  The number of vehicles parked 
on-street dropped over the two hour period with the number of vehicles being parked on-street 
recorded at 13 at 09:15.  

At 14:30 15 vehicles were parked on-street.   The number of vehicles parked on-street rose and 
fell over the two-hour period.  The lowest number of vehicles was recorded at 10 and the highest 
was 17 at 15:45.   

Figure 2.39 and Figure 2.40 show the on street parking demand over the AM and PM periods for 
Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne, respectively. 
 

Figure 2.38 – Total on-street parking demand for Route 2: Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.  

Page 124



29 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

 

 
 

 

Figure 2.39 – On-street parking demand and capacity for Cyfarthfa Gardens 

Figure 2.40 – On-street parking demand and capacity for Maesgwynne. 

Page 125



30 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

ROUTE 3: GODRE’R COED ROAD  

Figure 2.41 and Figure 2.42 show the on-street parking demand for Route 3 over the AM and 
PM periods. 

On-street parking demand was recorded at 8 at 07:30.  The number of vehicles parked on-street 
rose and fell over the two-hour period and the highest was 10. The number of vehicles parked on-
street recorded as 9 at 09:15.At 14:30 14 vehicles were parked on-street.  The number of vehicles 
parked on-street dropped over the two hour period with the lowest being 9 at 16:30. 

 

Figure 2.41 – Total on-street parking demand for Godre’r Coed Road. 

Figure 2.42 – On-street parking demand and capacity for Cyfarthfa Gardens 

Page 126



31 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Figure 2.43 - Approximate location of collisions recorded near the Godre’r Coed Fields site 

Legend 

Collision resulting in slight 
injuries 

Collision resulting in serious 
injuries 

 

Imagery © 2017 Google, Map data © 2017 Google 

2.5 HIGHWAY SAFETY 

Personal Injury Collision (PIC) data was obtained from BGCBC for a five-year period from 
January 2011 to December 2015 for the local highway surrounding the site.  

The PIC data from BGCBC shows that seven collisions occurred during a 60 month period, this 
equates to an average of 1.4 PICs per annum.  

From observation of collision data available on www.crashmap.co.uk it was noted that following 
the five-year period, one further collision which occurred on 01.05.2016 has been recorded near 
the site. The approximate locations of the eight collisions identified are shown in Figure 2.43 and 
summarised in Table 2.2  

 

Page 127

http://www.crashmap.co.uk/


32 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Table 2.2 - Summary of severity and date of collisions near the site 

REF. DATE OF COLLISION CASUALTY SEVERITY 

1 19.01.2011 Adult Pedestrian Serious 

2 13.02.2012 Driver Slight 

3 20.01.2013 Driver and passenger Slight 

4 26.07.2013 Passenger Slight 

5 18.03.2014 Driver Slight 

6 04.04.2015 Passenger Slight 

7 28.06.2015 Passenger Slight 

8 01.05.2016 Child pedestrian Slight 

ANALYSIS OF COLLISION DATA 

Figure 2.43 shows that seven of the collisions occurred on A4054 High Street and one on Lower 
Vaynor Road, both are within a 30mph speed limit. Seven of the collisions resulted in slight 
injuries and one resulted in serious injuries. 

Two of the collisions involved pedestrian casualties. One collision (Ref. 1) involved an adult 
pedestrian crossing Lower Vaynor Road when he was struck by a vehicle resulting in serious 
injury. The other collision (Ref. 8) occurred on High Street and involved one child pedestrian and 
one vehicle. 

One collision (Ref. 3) involved a vehicle attempting to overtake another vehicle on High Street. 

Three collisions (Ref. 4, 5 and 7) involved vehicles making turning movements at junctions on 
High Street. Collision Ref. 7 occurred at 02:32 hours and the data provided suggests that 
impairment by alcohol was likely to be a factor. 

One collision (Ref. 6) was reported to have occurred when a motorcyclist swerved to avoid 
another bike in the carriageway. 

 

COLLISION SUMMARY 

The analysis found that 1.4 PICs per annum have occurred on the highway network surrounding 
the proposed site. All bar one of the collisions occurred on High Street, the major route through 
Cefn-Coed-y-Cymmer. The records do not suggest that the recorded collisions occurred as a 
result of a highway safety design issue. 

It is recognised that the historic nature of the area results in constrained highway width making it 
difficult or impossible for two vehicles to pass in many areas. The historic nature also results in 
limited footway provision and restricted visibility at junctions due to the boundary walls of many 
properties bordering the highway boundary. 

Any changes to the distribution of existing trips and/or addition of new trips are likely to alter the 
severity and frequency of potential conflict. 

Any substantial additional traffic flow expected to travel on the network is likely to generate 
conflicts on the junctions. It is recommended that highway safety improvement measures such as 
20mph speed restriction zones be implemented.  

Page 128



33 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Legend 

          Existing footways 

          National Cycle Network (on-road) 

          National Cycle Network (off-road) 

 

3 ACCESSIBILITY 

3.1 OVERVIEW  

This section reviews of the accessibility of the site for non-motorised users and by public 
transport. 

 

3.2 PROVISION FOR NMUS 

The footways and formal cycle routes available for movement by NMUs are shown in Figure 3.1. 
There is one pedestrian crossing facility provided over High Street near to the junction with Old 
Chapel Road. 

 

Figure 3.1 – Provision for NMUs 

Page 129



34 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

The streets to the north of the proposed sites are narrow with limited space for adequate footway 
provision. The residential area to the south of the site is a more recent development and provides 
wider carriageways with adequate footway provision; dropped kerbs for driveway access; and 
adequate lighting provision.  

On the network to the north of the site, the historic nature of the area results in a limited highway 
boundary and high number of vehicles parked on street. The pedestrian facilities are poor, with 
limited footway provision and gaps in the continuity of footways. There are also areas where on-
street parking can create a requirement for vehicles to mount the footway in order to pass parked 
vehicles. 

The footways are regularly obstructed by refuse bins and do not provide any dropped kerbs and 
tactile paving where pedestrians are likely to want to cross. It is likely that bins are left on street 
permanently. This is likely to cause difficulties for some pedestrians attempting to access the site 
from the north, particularly any pedestrians with mobility impairments or parents/guardians with 
children in pushchairs. 

 

3.3 PUBLIC TRANSPORT ACCESSIBILITY 

The proposed site is in a suitable location to be accessed by bus. Guidance
2
 recommends that 

the maximum walking distance to a bus stop should be 400m, equivalent to an approximate five 
minutes’ walk. Additional guidance

3
 states that for people without a mobility impairment 400m is a 

desirable walking distance whilst 800m is an acceptable walking distance. 

Access to frequent public transport services within an acceptable walking distance of the site can 
encourage and promote public transport use amongst staff and visitors accessing and using the 
school. There are four bus stops located on High Street which are within 400m walking distance 
of the proposed sites, as shown in Figure 3.2 and Table 3.1. 

Table 3.1 - Bus stops accessible from proposed sites 

BUS STOP NAME BUS ROUTES BUS STOP FACILITIES 

Cefn Bridge, NW-bound 25, 26, 89 Waiting shelter, no seats 

Cefn Bridge, SE-bound 25, 26, 89 Waiting shelter, no seats 

Cefn Coed War Memorial, NW-
bound 

25, 26, 89 Waiting shelter, no seats 

Cefn Coed War Memorial, SE-
bound 

25, 26, 89 Waiting shelter, no seats 

 
 

                                                      
 
 
 
2
 Guidance document ‘Guidelines for Planning for Public Transport in Development’ published by the Chartered Institution 

of Highways and Transportation in March 1999. 
 
3
 Guidance document ‘Providing for Journeys on Foot’ published by the Chartered Institute of Highways and 

Transportation in 2000. 

Page 130



35 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Figure 3.2 – Bus Services Accessible from the Site 

Table 3.2 summarises the bus services which serve the bus stops on High Street. 

Table 3.2 - Frequency of bus services accessible from the proposed sites 

SERVICE ROUTE 

FREQUENCY 

MONDAY TO FRIDAY SATURDAY SUNDAY 

25 Merthyr Tydfil to Trefechan 2 per hour 2 per hour - 

26 Merthyr Tydfil to Trefechan 2 per hour 2 per hour - 

89 Merthyr Tydfil to Aberdare - - 3 per day 

Table 3.2 shows that bus number 25 and 26 provide services on High Street on weekdays and 
bus number 89 provides services on Sundays only. Information on bus service provision outside 
of school hours has been provided as it is expected for the site to provide a playing field to be 
used by the community. 

Between 07:00 and 09:00 on Mondays to Fridays, six services are scheduled to arrive at Cefn-
Coed-y-Cymmer from Merthyr Tydfil and six services from Trefechan. Between 16:00 and 18:00 

Page 131



36 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

on Mondays to Fridays, seven services are scheduled to arrive at Cefn-Coed-y-Cymmer from 
Merthyr Tydfil and eight services from Trefechan. 

Trefechan is within the catchment area of Ysgol y Graig and is well served by buses with regular 
services at the start and end of the school day.

Page 132



37 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

4 TRAVEL DEMAND OF PROPOSALS 
4.1 OVERVIEW 

This section sets out the expected trip generation to the Godre’r Coed Fields Site if it were used 
for the relocation of the existing Ysgol y Graig School. 

 

4.2 SCHOOL PUPIL TRIPS 

TRAVEL MODE OF PUPIL TRIPS 

The travel mode split to the existing school is shown in Table 4.1, this shows that 41% of pupils 
walk to school, 3% travel by bike and 50% of pupils travel to school by private car or taxi. 
Similarly, the National Survey for Wales

4
 found that 41% of pupils in Wales walk to primary 

school, 2% cycle and 49% travel by car or taxi. 

Table 4.1 Travel mode split of pupils to existing school and expected split to proposed school 

Given the close proximity of the existing school to the proposed alternative sites, it is expected 
that the trip generation to the proposed school would follow the same modal split to the existing 
school. For a 240 pupil school this would result in approximately 98 pupils walking to school and 
120 pupils travelling to school by car, as set out in Table 4.1. 

The travel mode survey at the existing school did not differentiate between travel to and from 
school, as such for the analysis it has been assumed that pupils travel to and from school by the 
same travel mode. 

An average ratio of 1.2 pupils per vehicle has been estimated based on a travel survey carried out 
at the school

6
. For the 96 pupils at the existing school who travel by car/taxi this ratio would result 

                                                   
 
 
 
4
 National Survey for Wales, April 2013 – March 2014, https://statswales.gov.wales/Download/File?fileId=485 

5
 Mode splits shown to the nearest whole number so does not total to 100%. 

6
 Playing Field Site Transport Access Study, Mott MacDonald, April 2011. 

TRAVEL MODE 

MODAL SPLIT TO EXISTING SCHOOL AVERAGE MODAL 

SPLIT FOR TRAVEL TO 

PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN 

WALES 

MODAL SPLIT TO 

PROPOSED SCHOOL 
(NUMBER OF PUPILS) 

Number of Pupils % Mode Split 

Walk 79 41% 41% 98 

Bicycle 5 3% 2% 6 

Bus/minibus 13 7% 8% 16 

Private car/taxi 96 50% 49% 120 

Total 193 100%
5
 100% 240 

Page 133



38 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

in 80 two-way vehicle trips in the morning peak and 80 two-way vehicle trips in the afternoon 
peak. 

For the proposed school of 240 pupils, assuming 50% arrive at school by car and a pupil to 
car ratio of 1.2, this would result in 100 two-way vehicle trips in the AM and PM peak. 

 

4.3 STAFF TRIPS 

TRAVEL MODE OF STAFF TRIPS 

The travel mode of staff to the existing school is shown in Table 4.2. The table shows that 21% of 
staff walk to work and 73% of staff travel by private car/taxi. Similarly, the National Survey for 
Wales

6
 found that 14% of people in Wales walk to work and 73% travel by car/taxi. 

Given the proximity of the proposed sites to the existing school it is expected that the trip 
generation by staff would follow the same mode split. 

The new school is expected to employ 37 staff, including an additional 4 staff for nursery classes
7
. 

Table 4.2 - Travel mode split of staff to existing school and expected split to proposed school. 

TRAVEL MODE 

MODE SPLIT TO EXISTING SCHOOL AVERAGE MODE 

SPLIT FOR TRAVEL TO 

WORK IN WALES 

MODE SPLIT TO 

PROPOSED SCHOOL 
(NUMBER OF STAFF) 

Number of Staff % Mode Split 

Walk 7 21% 14% 8 

Bicycle 0 0% 4% 0 

Public transport 2 6% 9% 2 

Private car/taxi 24 73% 73% 27 

Total 33 100% 100% 37 

Based on the existing travel mode split, it is expected that 27 of the 37 staff would travel to work 
by car. This would result in 27 one-way vehicle trips to the proposed school in the AM peak 
and 27 one-way vehicle trips from the school in the PM peak. 

                                                      
 
 
 
6
 National Survey for Wales 2014-2015, https://statswales.gov.wales/Download/File?fileId=484 

7
 Amount of additional staff based upon guidance in Statutory framework for the early years foundation stage 

published in March 2017, http://www.foundationyears.org.uk/eyfs-statutory-framework/ 

Page 134



39 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

4.4 COMBINED VEHICLE TRIPS 

Table 4.3 sets out the expected vehicle trip generation to the site based upon the mode share 
data in Tables 4.1 and Table 4.2.  

This trip generation would need to be accommodated on the local highway network. Junction 
capacity assessments have been undertaken to identify the impact of the development traffic on 
the junctions. 

The vehicular trip generation shown in Table 4.3 also provides an indication of the level of parking 
demand at the start and the end of the school day. 

Table 4.3 - Expected approximate vehicle trip generation to site with proposed development. 

TIME PERIOD START OF SCHOOL DAY END OF SCHOOL DAY 

School pupil 

(two-way trips) 
100 100 

Staff 

(one-way trips) 
27 27 

Page 135



40 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

5 ACCESS OPTIONS 

5.1 OVERVIEW 

This section sets out the Transport Planning Objectives (TPOs) which were identified to appraise 
the access options. This section outlines a set of potential access options for each proposed site.  

The vehicle access options have been initially sifted and those which are deemed viable are 
presented separately for each site followed by accompanying pedestrian access options.  

 

5.2 PROBLEMS, CONSTRAINTS AND UNCERTAINTIES OF HIGHWAY 
NETWORK 

The identified and perceived problems and potential opportunities within the network surrounding 
the proposed site were identified during site visits. The problems and opportunities were used to 
develop the TPOs, in order to make the access options measurable against each other within the 
appraisal process. 

The identified transport issues and potential opportunities identified within this study are shown in 
Table 5.1. 

Table 5.1 - Summary of transport issues and opportunities on the local highway network 

REF. TRANSPORT ISSUE OPPORTUNITY 

P1 Lack of provision for NMUs to north of sites Enhance provision for NMUs 

P2 Conflict between vehicles and NMUs to north of 
sites 

Improve perceived safety of NMUs by enhancing 
NMU provision and rationalising vehicle 

movements 

P3 On-street parking to north of sites Improve parking provision to north and south by 
accommodating development related parking on-

site 

P4 Two-way vehicle flow causing conflict on 
constrained highway widths to north of sites 

Rationalise traffic flows through introduction of 
one-way systems 

P5 Limited visibility at junctions due to restricted 
highway boundaries and obstruction from 

property walls 

Rationalise traffic flows through introduction of 
one-way systems 

 

Page 136



41 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

5.3 TRANSPORT PLANNING OBJECTIVES 

The following objectives have been identified based on the current problems and constraints to 
guide the development and appraisal of access options; 

TPO 1. Minimise the impact of school traffic and parking on the local highway network for all 
users. 

TPO 2. Provide pedestrians with legible and safe routes to school. 

 TPO 3.  Provide an access option that minimises the impact on local residents and land-owners. 

TPO 4. Provide appropriate access for construction vehicles, service vehicles and emergency 
vehicles. 

TPO 5.   Identify an appropriate access strategy which does not compromise the land required for 
a school building and associated facilities. 

5.4 ACCESS TO FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL 

This section presents the vehicle access options to the Former Vaynor School Site. 

INITIAL SIFTING OF OPTIONS 

Eight potential access options were identified for motorised vehicles to reach the site. Following 
an initial high level appraisal of these options, three of these were deemed to be not suitable and 
were sifted out. 

Section 2.3 of this report demonstrates the constrained highway conditions exhibited north of the 
site including issues of narrow highway width, on-street parking and limited visibility at junctions. 
These constraints have been taken into consideration and formed the basis for the initial sifting of 
access options.  

 Detailed diagrams of the three excluded options and an appraisal of the constraints, uncertainties 
and opportunities for each are provided in Appendix A. 

ACCESS OPTIONS 

Following the initial sifting of the potential vehicle access options, five options were shortlisted for 
further consideration as follows: 

Option A4  Vehicles enter by new junction from High Street and exit via Old Church 
Street. Pedestrian access via South Terrace, Old Church Street and 
Pontycapel Road. 

Option A5  Vehicles enter by new junction from High Street and exit via South Terrace. 
Pedestrian access via South Terrace, Old Church Street and Pontycapel 
Road.  

Option A6 Vehicles enter by South Terrace and exit via south of site on to Pontycapel 
Road. Pedestrian access via Holford Street, South Terrace, Old Church 
Street and Pontycapel Road. 

Option A7 Vehicles enter by new junction with Pontycapel Road via south of site and 
exit via South Terrace. Pedestrian access via Holford Street, South Terrace, 
Old Church Street and Pontycapel Road. 

Page 137



42 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

Option A8 Vehicles access parking area on Godre’r Coed Fields via Maesgwynne and 
exit via Godre’r Coed Road onto Pontycapel Road. Pedestrian access via 
Holford Street, South Terrace, Old Church Street and Pontycapel Road. 
Pupils and staff parking at Godre’r Coed Fields Site to walk to school via 
Godre’r Coed Road. 

These five access options are presented on the following pages, along with the key opportunities, 
constraints and uncertainties associated with them.  

 

Page 138



Opportunities 

 Provide dedicated NMU access to site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 

 

Constraints 

Uncertainties 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Restricted width of highway boundary. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 On-street parking limiting road space on 

surrounding network.  

 Requires relocation of bus stop on High Street. 

 Removal of dedicated NMU access to north. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Access requirements to private parking and 

garages. 

 Diversion to access properties on Holford Street. 

 Potential for queuing and increased parking 

demand on surrounding streets during drop-

off/pick-up. 

 Requires acquisition of land outside of site 

boundary. 

 Restricted area for drop-off/pick-up. 

 Restricted visibility when exiting site onto Holford 

Street  and High Street. 

 

 
 Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Land ownership of car parking area north of site. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 

Option A4 

Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

NMU Provision 

 Reduces access from north via High 

Street. 

 Opportunity to formalise access from 

South via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Retain/improve existing access to east 

and west via Old Church Street and 

South Terrace. 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 
Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

 Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Land ownership of car parking area north of site. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 

P
age 139



Opportunities 

 Utilise existing site access/egress to west. 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Rationalise movements at six-arm junction. 

 Provide dedicated NMU access to site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Improve conditions for existing users. 

 

 

Constraints 

Uncertainties 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Restricted width of highway boundary. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Complex six-arm junction arrangement. 

 On-street parking limiting road space on 

surrounding network.  

 Requires relocation of bus stop on High Street. 

 Removal of dedicated NMU access to north. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Access requirements to private parking and 

garages. 

 Potential for queuing and increased parking 

demand on surrounding streets during drop-

off/pick-up. 

 Restricted area for drop-off/pick-up. 

 

 

 

  Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements 

at six-arm junction. 

 Land ownership of car parking area north of site. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 

Option A5 

Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

NMU Provision 

 Reduces access from north via High 

Street. 

 Opportunity to formalise access from 

South via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Retain/improve existing access to east 

and west via Old Church Street and 

South Terrace. 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 
Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

P
age 140



Opportunities 

 Utilise existing site access/egress to south. 

 Utilise existing site access/egress to west. 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Rationalise movements at six-arm junction. 

 Provide dedicated NMU access to site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Improve conditions for existing users. 

 Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to 

acquiring third party land. 

 

 

 Constraints 

Uncertainties 

 Restricted width of highway boundary. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Complex six-arm junction arrangement. 

 On-street parking limiting road space on 

surrounding network.  

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Diversion to access properties on Pontycapel Road 

and Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Limited visibility splays for vehicles emerging onto 

Pontycapel Road. 

 Potential for queuing and increased parking 

demand on surrounding streets during drop-

off/pick-up. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements 

at six-arm junction. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Uncertainty of potential to remove bounding wall of 

Former Vaynor School to widen Pontycapel Road. 

 Uncertainty whether option imposes unacceptable 

limitations of the developable site area. 

 

 

 

 

 

Option A6 

Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

NMU Provision 

 Opportunity to improve access from 

north via High Street. 

 Opportunity to formalise access from 

South via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Retain/improve existing access to east 

and west via Old Church Street and 

South Terrace. 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

      School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 
Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

P
age 141



Opportunities 

 Utilise existing site access/egress to south. 

 Utilise existing site access/egress to west. 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Rationalise movements at six-arm junction. 

 Provide dedicated NMU access to site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Improve conditions for existing users. 

 Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to 

acquiring third party land. 

 

 

Constraints 

Uncertainties 

 Restricted width of highway boundary. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Complex six-arm junction arrangement. 

 On-street parking limiting road space on 

surrounding network.  

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Diversion to access properties on Pontycapel Road 

and Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Potential for queuing and increased parking 

demand on surrounding streets during drop-

off/pick-up. 

 

 

 

 Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements 

at six-arm junction. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Uncertainty of potential to remove bounding wall of 

Former Vaynor School to widen Pontycapel Road. 

 Uncertainty whether option imposes unacceptable 

limitations of the developable site area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Option A7 

Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

NMU Provision 

 Opportunity to improve access from 

north via High Street. 

 Opportunity to formalise access from 

South via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Retain/improve existing access to east 

and west via Old Church Street and 

South Terrace. 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

    School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 
Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

P
age 142



Opportunities 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Provide dedicated NMU access to site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area. 

 Improve pedestrian access to site from south. 

 Improve conditions for existing users. 

 Keep school traffic off school site. 

 Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to 

acquiring third party land. 

 

 

Constraints 

Uncertainties 

 Restricted width of highway boundary. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 On-street parking limiting road space on 

surrounding network.  

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Cost of construction of new highway and improved 

car park on rugby fields. 

 Diversion to access properties on Pontycapel Road 

and Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Parking provision provided away from school 

grounds. 

 Potential for queuing and increased parking 

demand on surrounding streets during drop-

off/pick-up. 

 

 

 Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Acceptability of land take from rugby fields. 

 Acceptability of new junction from residents of 

Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 

 

Option A8 

Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

NMU Provision 

 Opportunity to improve access from 

north via High Street. 

 Formalised access from South via 

Godre’r Coed Road as part of this 

option. 

 Retain/improve existing access to east 

and west via Old Church Street and 

South Terrace. 

School parking provision on 

Godre’r Coed Fields Site 

Provide crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road 

 

 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 
Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

P
age 143



48 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

ONE-WAY WORKING CONSIDERATIONS 

Some options include for  the introduction of one-way restrictions which would require a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO).  

BUS AND COACH ACCESS 

It is expected that there will be a need to accommodate bus and coach access to the site for the 
purpose of school trips. The existing road widths, alignments and presence of parked cars on 
Holford Street, Triangle, Pontycapel Road do not lend themselves to access by coaches. It is 
likely that children would need to be directed to High Street to access the bus or coach for school 
trips. 

CONSTRUCTION AND SERVICE VEHICLE ACCESS 

Option A4 proposes access and egress to the site via Holford Street for pupil and staff vehicle 
trips. If service vehicles were to access the school building from the north this would impact the 
internal usable site area as the building would need to be constructed on the southern part of the 
site. 

For this option the access strategy for service vehicles will be determined depending on the 
building location on site. There is potential for service access to be made via Pontycapel Road or 
South Terrace. Vehicular tracking of a 10m rigid vehicle has been undertaken using the existing 
site access on Pontycapel Road. The exit track is tight with some encroachment onto private 
highway and little room for error. 

FIRE SERVICE VEHICLE ACCESS 

Guidance on fire safety for schools is given in the Building Bulletin (BB) 100
8
. BB 100 advises that 

fire service vehicle access routes should have a ‘minimum carriageway width of 3.7m between 
kerbs’ and ‘fire service vehicles should not have to reverse more than 20m.’ A fire appliance has 
been tracked entering and exiting the site using the existing site access. Pontycapel Road is 3.7m 
at its narrowest point as measured from Ordnance Survey mapping. 

DISABLED USERS 

Option A8 proposes a parking area on Godre’r Coed Fields Site for use by staff and students. For 
this option dedicated parking provision would need to be provided for disabled users closer to the 
school building. 

A parking area for disabled users could be provided on site; depending on the location of the 
school building this could be accessed via Pontycapel Road or South Terrace. There is also 
potential for a parking area to be provided on land of the Ebenezer Chapel access via Pontycapel 
Road or Old Church Street.  

The ground level change across the site will need to be taken into consideration when designing 
links between parking for disabled users and the school building and compliant ramp gradients 
achieved. 

                                                      
 
 
 
8
 Published by the Department for Education and Skills in March 2014, accessed via 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-bulletin-100-design-for-fire-safety-in-schools 

Page 144

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-bulletin-100-design-for-fire-safety-in-schools


49 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

 

PEDESTRIAN ACCESS OPTIONS 

For options A4 to A8 it is proposed for pedestrians to access the Former Vaynor School Site via 
the following routes: 

 From the north via Holford Street 

 From the east via Old Church Street 

 From the west via South Terrace 

 From the south via Pontycapel Road 

As identified in Section 2.3 there is limited footway provision on Pontycapel Road, Old Church 
Street and Holford Street with potential for pedestrians needing to walk on the carriageway with 
vehicle traffic. There is limited potential to improve footway provision on these streets due to 
narrow carriageway widths and properties bounding the carriageway.  

Footway provision is provided on both sides of South Terrace. 

 

 

Page 145



50 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

5.5 ACCESS TO GODRE’R COED FIELD SITE 

This section presents the vehicle access options to the Godre’r Coed Playing Fields site. 

INITIAL SIFTING OF OPTIONS 

Eleven potential access options were devised for motorised vehicles to reach the site. Following 
an initial high level appraisal of these options, six of these were deemed to be not suitable and 
were sifted out. 

Detailed diagrams of the six excluded options and an appraisal of the constraints, uncertainties 
and opportunities for each are provided in Appendix B along with the reasons for sifting. 

ACCESS OPTIONS 

Following the initial sifting of the potential vehicle access options, five options were shortlisted as 
follows: 

Option B7   Vehicular access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

Egress via Godre’r Coed Road and Pontycapel Road. One-way 
restriction on Pontycapel Road. 

Option B8   Vehicular access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

Egress via Godre’r Coed Road and Pontycapel Road. One-way 
restriction on Pontycapel Road east of Godre’r Coed Road junction. 

Option B9   Vehicular access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

Egress via Godre’r Coed Road and Pontycapel Road. No one-way 
restrictions on Pontycapel Road. 

Option B10  Two-way vehicular access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

Option B11  Two-way vehicular access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens for 
school pupil drop-off/pick-up only. 

Two-way vehicular access via Pontycapel Road and Godre’r Coed Road 
for staff parking. 

The remaining five access options are presented on the following pages, along with the key 
opportunities, constraints and uncertainties associated with them. These are preliminary options 
and have not been subject to any further investigation. 

The five vehicle access options would be accompanied by the access arrangements for NMUs 
described in detail in the next section. An indication of the pedestrian access routes to site are 
shown on each option.  

 

Page 146



 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

        School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

Option B7 

Key Constraints 
 Restricted width of highway boundary on 

Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Requires acquisition of 3rd party land. 

 On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road 

space on surrounding road network. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Long diversion to access properties on Pontycapel 

Road and Godre’r Coed Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

NMU Provision 

 Retain/improve existing footway 

provision via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian 

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and 

Maesgwynne. 

 Provide pedestrian crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road from Old Church 

Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road 

access. 

 Potential to connect South Terrace to 

Godre'r Coed Road as traffic free 

pedestrian route. 

 

 

Uncertainties 

 Acquisition of 3rd party land. 

 Acceptability of one-way TRO. 

 Acceptability of new access/egress from residents 

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 Provide crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road 

Opportunities 

  Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from 

Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to 

acquiring 3rd party land 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic 

calming measure. 

 Rationalises movements at Pontycapel Road / High 

Street junction. 

 

 

 

 

Provide traffic-free 

pedestrian route through 

Former Vaynor School site. 

P
age 147



Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

      School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

Option B8 

Key Constraints 
 Restricted width of highway boundary on 

Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Requires acquisition of 3rd party land. 

 On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road 

space on surrounding road network. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Long diversion to access properties on Pontycapel 

Road and Godre’r Coed Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

NMU Provision 

 Retain/improve existing footway 

provision via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian 

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and 

Maesgwynne. 

 Provide pedestrian crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road from Old Church 

Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road 

access. 

 Potential to connect South Terrace to 

Godre'r Coed Road as traffic free 

pedestrian route. 

 

 

Uncertainties 

 Acquisition of 3rd party land. 

 Acceptability of one-way TRO. 

 Acceptability of new access/egress from residents 

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 

Provide crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road 

Opportunities 

 
 Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from 

Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to 

acquiring 3rd party land 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic 

calming measure. 

 Rationalises movements at Pontycapel Road / High 

Street junction. 

 

 

 

 

Provide traffic-free 

pedestrian route through 

Former Vaynor School site. 

Restriction of left turn 

movements from Godre’r 

Coed Road. 

P
age 148



Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

       School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

Option B9 

Key Constraints 
 Restricted width of highway boundary on 

Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Requires acquisition of 3rd party land. 

 On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road 

space on surrounding road network. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Conflicting movements on Godre’r Coed Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

NMU Provision 

 Retain/improve existing footway 

provision via Godre’r Coed Road. 

 Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian 

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and 

Maesgwynee. 

 Provide pedestrian crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road from Old Church 

Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road 

access. 

 

 

Uncertainties 

 Acquisition of 3rd party land. 

 Acceptabiliy of new access/egress from residents 

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 

 

 

Provide crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road 

Opportunities 

  Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from 

Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Potential widen Pontycapel Road subject to acquiring 

3rd party land 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic 

calming measure. 

 Retain two-way access for residents of Pontycapel 

Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

Provide traffic-free 

pedestrian route through 

Former Vaynor School site. 

P
age 149



Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

      School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

Option B10 

Key Constraints 
 Acceptability of additional traffic to Cyfarthfa 

Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Availability of space on proposed site. 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Increased traffic volumes to Maesgwynne 

roundabout in both directions during pick-up/drop-

off. 

 Geometrical constraints of Maesgwynne 

Roundabout relating to deflection and lack of 

pedestrian crossing facilities will need to be 

addressed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NMU Provision 

 Retain/improve existing footway 

provision via Godre’r Coed Road for 

pedestrian only access to site. 

 Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian 

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and 

Maesgwynee. 

 Provide pedestrian crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road from Old Church 

Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road 

access. 

 

Uncertainties 

 Acceptability of new access/egress from residents 

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Availability of space on proposed site. 

 

 

Access to/from the site 

via Maesgwynne 

Opportunities 

 
 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Provide dedicated NMU access to site via Godre’r 

Coed Road. 

 Retain two-way access for residents of Godre’r Coed 

Road and Pontycapel Road. 

 

 

 

 

Provide crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road 

Provide traffic-free 

pedestrian route through 

Former Vaynor School site. 

P
age 150



Vehicular access 
 
NMU Access 
 
One-way TRO 

 

 

 

Former 

Vaynor 

      School Site 

 

Godre’r Coed 

Fields Site 

Option B11   

Key Constraints 
 Restricted width of highway boundary on 

Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. 

 On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road 

space on surrounding road network. 

 Requires new access/egress. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve 

footway provision. 

 Conflicting movements on Godre’r Coed Road and 

Pontycapel Road. 

 

 

 

 

NMU Provision 

 Retain/improve existing footway 

provision via Godre’r Coed Road for 

pedestrian only access to site. 

 Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian 

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and 

Maesgwynee. 

 Provide pedestrian crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road from Old Church 

Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road 

access. 

 

Access from Pontycapel 

Road to staff car park. 

Provide crossing facilities 

over Pontycapel Road 

Access from Maesgwynne 

for drop off and pick up trips. 

Opportunities 

 

Uncertainties 

 Acceptability of new access/egress from residents 

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. 

 Acceptability of increased traffic volumes. 

 Availability of space on proposed site. 

 

 

 

 Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from 

Godre'r Coed Road. 

 Provide dedicated pick up/drop off area. 

 Improve footway network surrounding site. 

 Improve perceived safety of pedestrians. 

 Retain existing parking provision on proposed site. 

 Retain two-way access for residents of Godre’r Coed 

Road and Pontycapel Road. 

 

 

 

Provide traffic-free 

pedestrian route through 

Former Vaynor School site. 

P
age 151



DRAFT 

56 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398  

ONE-WAY WORKING CONSIDERATIONS 

It should be noted Option B7 and B8 would require a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to be introduced 
to allow the proposed one-way working on Pontycapel Road.  

BUS AND COACH ACCESS 

It is expected that there will be a need to accommodate bus and coach access to the site for the 
purpose of school trips. Should buses or coaches be unable to access the school this would result in 
the school needing to direct children to High Street to access the bus or coach for school trips. 

Swept path analysis for a bus and coach to access the site has been undertaken.  

Track runs of these vehicles entering and departing via Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne indicated 
that they would be suitable for 9.8m single deck bus but not for a 15m luxury coach. Improvements to 
the Maesgwynne roundabout, including amendments the traffic islands will assist access and 
manoeuvring by larger vehicles. 

Swept path analysis of a 9.8m bus and 15m coach exiting the site via Godre’r Coed Road and 
Pontycapel Road showed the following: 

1. Exiting Godre’r Coed Road onto Pontycapel Road would require the vehicle to turn on the spot 
whilst the vehicle is stationary on the incline of Godre’r Coed Road in order to carry out the 
manoeuvre. 

2. Navigating Pontycapel Road would be very difficult for buses and coaches leaving very little 
space between the wheels and the kerb or bounding building, assuming the carriageway is free 
from obstruction. However, as identified in Section 2.3, on-street parking often occurs on 
Pontycapel Road and residents’ refuse bins are located in the carriageway. 

3. It is necessary for a bus or coach to utilise both sides of the carriageway to turn right from 
Pontycapel Road onto High Street and turning left is also likely to be a difficult manoeuvre. 

Based upon these findings it is not recommended that buses or coaches utilise Godre’r Coed Road or 
Pontycapel Road to exit the site. 

It is recommended that improvements are made to Maesgwynne roundabout to facilitate access by 
buses, with a turning facility provided on site to enable access and egress in forward gear via 
Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne. These junction improvements should seek to also facilitate 
access and egress from the site by coaches. 

CONSTRUCTION AND SERVICE VEHICLE ACCESS 

Given its constraints, it is not recommended that Godre’r Coed Road is utilised for access or egress 
for construction vehicles or service vehicles. These vehicles should access the site via Maesgwynne 
and Cyfarthfa Gardens. A Construction Traffic Management Plan will be required to manage 
movement by construction vehicles to limit any impacts on local residents and the highway network. 

Page 152



DRAFT 

57 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

FIRE SERVICE VEHICLE ACCESS 

Guidance on fire safety for schools is given in the Building Bulletin (BB) 100
9
. BB 100 advises that fire 

service vehicle access routes should have a ‘minimum carriageway width of 3.7m between kerbs’ and 
‘fire service vehicles should not have to reverse more than 20m.’ The measured OS distance of 
Pontycapel Road at its narrowest point is 3.7m. Swept path analysis has been undertaken which 
indicates that site access and egress by a fire appliance can be achieved via Maesgwynne and 
Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

PEDESTRIAN ACCESS OPTIONS 

Options B7 to B11 propose two pedestrian access routes to the Godre’r Coed Field Site; (i) via 
Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne and (ii) via Godre’r Coed Road. 

As identified in Section 2.3, there is appropriate footway provision on both sides of the carriageway 
on Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne making these streets a suitable pedestrian access route. 

Existing footway provision on Godre’r Coed Road is limited to short sections of footway on either side 
of the carriageway at the approach to Pontycapel Road, as identified in Section 2.3. Should Godre’r 
Coed operate as two-way working, it will likely be difficult to provide a footway due to widths within the 
highway boundary. 

It has been identified that there is potential to provide a footpath through the Former Vaynor School 
Site to connect South Terrace to Godre’r Coed Road. This would provide a traffic free alternative to 
Pontycapel Road where footway provision is limited. It is proposed the footpath should connect to 
Pontycapel Road so that pedestrians are able utilise the proposed crossing facilities. 

ACCESS FOR DISABLED USERS 

There is sufficient space on site to accommodate disabled car parking in close proximity to the 
proposed school building. 

 

5.6 PREVIOUS ACCESS REVIEW 

The 2011 Mott MacDonald report, Playing Field Site Transport Access Study, reviewed two access 
options for to the Godre’r Coed Fields Site for all users, as follows: 

Route 1: Via Cyfarthfa Gardens / Maesgwynne 

Route 2: Via Godre’r Coed Road  

The report identified that following as key issues which will need to be considered for the Godre’r 
Coed Fields Site: 

 ‘Route 1. Vehicular access is considered to be feasible; 

 Route 1. Improvements to the roundabout junction at A4054 High Street / Maesgwynne would be 
required. This is considered to be technically achievable although the cost implications will need 
to be identified; 

                                                      
 
 
 
9
 Published by the Department for Education and Skills in March 2014, accessed via 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-bulletin-100-design-for-fire-safety-in-schools 

Page 153

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-bulletin-100-design-for-fire-safety-in-schools


DRAFT 

58 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

 Route 2 is not considered to be suitable as the main vehicle access… 

 Emergency access could be achieved from Cyfarthfa Gardens, with a secondary access taken 
from Godre’r Coed Road; and 

 Construction access could be taken from Cyfarthfa Gardens, however, the possible environmental 
impacts on local residents would need to be managed.’ 

The report also identified the following issues which will need to be considered for both proposed 
sites: 

 ‘Pedestrian and cycle access to the site on Pontycapel Road would need to be significantly 
improved; 

 To reduce impacts on surrounding residential areas the site design may need to include parking 
for buses, staff and parents; 

 The impacts of the scheme on local residents will need to be considered throughout the 
construction and operational phases of the development; and 

 Although not considered to be the main mode of travel to the site, improved access to public bus 
services needs to be considered. 

The 2010 Capita Symonds Report, Former Vaynor School Site Transport Access Study, was not 
available for review at the time of completing this report. 

 

5.7 SUMMARY 

Eight potential access options were identified for motorised vehicles to reach the Former Vaynor 
School Site, five of which were deemed viable. Eleven vehicle access options were identified to 
access the Godre’r Coed Fields Site, five of which are deemed to be viable. 

The key opportunities, constraints and uncertainties for each option have been presented for the 
viable options to each site. Consideration should be given to minimise impact on local residents, 
including: 

 Impacts of one-way TROs resulting in long diversions for residents, 

 Acquisition of 3rd party land; and, 

 Impact of development traffic on highway network and on-street parking provision. 

To improve pedestrian access to the relocation sites it is recommended to provide the following: 

 Improved footway provision on surrounding street; 

 Crossing facilities at Maesgwynne Roundabout and over Pontycapel Road; and 

 20mph speed restriction zones. 

Page 154



DRAFT 

59 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

6 JUNCTION CAPACITY ASSESSMENTS 

This section provides the findings of the junction capacity assessments undertaken to explore the 
impacts of the identified options. 

6.1 ORIGIN OF TRIPS 

PUPIL TRIPS 

Postcode data has been provided by MTCBC for 200 school pupils at the existing school. The location 
of the postcodes and the number of pupils travelling from each postcode is shown in Figure 6.1.  

Figure 6.1. Location of postcodes for pupils travelling to the existing school 

Page 155



DRAFT 

60 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

In order to identify which direction vehicles access the existing school from the travel modal split in 
Table 4.1 has been assigned to the 200 postcodes. This involves identifying what travel mode pupils 
from each postcode are likely to use. 

The assumptions made to assign travel modes to postcodes are described below: 

 The 44% of pupils who walk or cycle to school live in the nearest postcodes to the existing school. 
These postcodes are all within a 2km walking distance to the existing school, equivalent to a 25 
minute walk or 8 minute cycle

10
. 

 The 7% of pupils who travel to school by bus live in Trefechan. This is due to regular bus services 
operating between Cefn Coed High Street and Trefechan, as identified in Section 3.3. 

 The remaining postcodes form the 50% of pupils travelling to school by private car or taxi. 

Based on these assumptions the travel mode of pupils to the existing school by postcode is illustrated 
in Figure 6.2. 

                                                      
 
 
 
10

 Based upon DfT recommended average walking speed of 4.8km/hr and cycling speed of 16km/hr. 

Figure 6.2. Assumed distribution of how pupils travel to school 

Page 156



DRAFT 

61 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

 

The origins of the existing vehicle trips to the existing school are shown in Figure 6.2. Based on these 
origins and understanding of the local highway network, the direction of the car/taxi trips to the school 
has been estimated. 

The existing school is located off Brewery Lane which can be accessed from High Street. 

It is expected that 62% of the trips made by car/taxi would access the existing school travelling from 
the north-west on High Street; this is illustrated in Figure 6.3. The remaining 38% are expected to 
travel from the south-east via Brecon Road or Gurnos Road.  

This distribution would result in 50 vehicle trips to the existing school from the north-west and 30 
vehicle trips from the south-west. This distribution is used to understand how trips would be 
reassigned on the local highway network if the school was replaced by a new school on one of the 
proposed sites. 

Figure 6.3 - Approximate percentage of car/taxi trips accessing the existing school from each 

direction 

Imagery © 2017 Google Map Data © 2017 Google 

Page 157



DRAFT 

62 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

STAFF TRIPS 

It has been assumed that origin of staff trips would follow a similar distribution to the pupil trips shown 
in Figure 6.2 and Figure 6.3. This means that 62% of the vehicle trips by staff are expected to be 
travelling from the north-west on High Street and 38% travelling from the south-east on High Street. 

For the expected 27 staff vehicle trips this would result in 18 trips from the north-west and 9 trips from 
the south east. 

6.2 TRIP REASSIGNMENT 

For trip reassignment the following assumptions are made: 

 The vehicles dropping off and picking up pupils at the existing school depart the site in the same 
direction from which they arrived. 

 Vehicles turning left onto High Street via Pontycapel Road using the one-way section of 
Pontycapel Road at junction with High Street. 

 The 73% of staff which travel by car to school arrive in the AM peak, park at the school and 
depart in the PM peak. 

 The school day starts at 09:00 and finishes at 3:30 with staff arriving during the modelled AM 
period (07:45-09:15) and leaving after the modelled PM period (14:45-16:15). 

 200 pupils travel to the existing school, based on postcode data provided. 

The assumed distribution for vehicle trips to the existing and proposed school are set out in Table 6.1. 

Table 6.1 - Assumed trip distribution of pupil and staff trips arriving and departing site. 

15 MINUTE TIME 

PERIOD BEGINNING 

PUPIL VEHICLE TRIPS STAFF VEHICLE TRIPS 

ARRIVALS DEPARTURES ARRIVALS DEPARTURES 

07:30 0% 0% 0% 0% 

07:45 0% 0% 0% 0% 

08:00 0% 0% 50% 0% 

08:15 0% 0% 50% 0% 

08:30 50% 50% 0% 0% 

08:45 50% 50% 0% 0% 

09:00 0% 0% 0% 0% 

09:15 0% 0% 0% 0% 

AM 2 hours 100% 100% 100% 0% 
     

14:30 0% 0% 0% 0% 

14:45 0% 0% 0% 0% 

15:00 50% 0% 0% 0% 

15:15 50% 0% 0% 0% 

15:30 0% 100% 0% 0% 

15:45 0% 0% 0% 0% 

16:00 0% 0% 0% 0% 

16:15 0% 0% 0% 0% 

PM 2 hours 100% 100% 0% 0% 

Page 158



DRAFT 

63 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

Table 6.2 sets out the expected number vehicle trips to the existing site which travel from the north on 
High Street and from the south on High Street. 

Table 6.2 - Direction of existing vehicle trips to existing school 

TYPE OF TRIPS 

MORNING PEAK (08:00 – 09:00) AFTERNOON PEAK (15:30 – 16:30) 

FROM HIGH ST TO 

NORTH 
FROM HIGH ST TO 

SOUTH 
FROM HIGH ST TO 

NORTH 
FROM HIGH ST TO 

SOUTH 

School pupil 

(two-way trips for drop-off and pick 
up) 

52 32 50 30 

Staff 

(one-way trips) 
15 9 0 0 

Table 6.3 sets out the expected number of vehicle trips to the proposed site from the north on High 
Street and from the south on High Street. 

Table 6.3 - Direction of vehicle trips to proposed development 

TYPE OF TRIPS 

NUMBER OF TRIPS BETWEEN 08:00 – 

09:00 
NUMBER OF TRIPS BETWEEN 15:30 – 

16:30 

FROM HIGH ST TO 

NORTH 
FROM HIGH ST TO 

SOUTH 
FROM HIGH ST TO 

NORTH 
FROM HIGH ST TO 

SOUTH 

School pupil 

(two-way trips for drop-off and pick 
up) 

62 38 62 38 

Staff 

(one-way trips) 
17 10 0 0 

 

6.3 MODELLING RESULTS 

Junction modelling has been undertaken to identify how nearby junctions will operate for the access 
options proposed for the new school. Capacity assessments have been undertaken on the following 
junctions, as labelled on Figure 6.4. 

Site 5  Maesgwynne Roundabout, 

Site 4A and 4B Junction of Pontycapel Road with High Street  

New junction  The proposed new junction with High Street. 

 

Page 159



DRAFT 

64 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

 

The following scenarios have been modelled for each junction: 

 Base year 2017, do nothing 

 Opening year 2020, do nothing 

 Opening year 2020 

 Do Something Scenario A 

 Do Something Scenario B 

 Do Something Scenario C 

 Do Something Scenario D 

 

The Do Something Scenarios have been identified to represent the key access options set out in 
Section 5. The four scenarios are explained in Table 6.4 and illustrated in Figure 6.5. 

Figure 6.4 - Assumed distribution of how pupils travel to school 

Page 160



DRAFT 

65 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

Table 6.4 Do something scenarios modelled for each junction and the access options they represent. 

DO SOMETHING 

SCENARIO 
DIRECTION OF DEVELOPMENT TRIPS 

Do something A 
All development traffic in via Maesgwynne Roundabout and all development traffic out via 

Pontycapel Road onto High Street 

Do something B All development traffic in and out via Maesgwynne Roundabout 

Do something C All development traffic in via Pontycapel Road 

Do something D All traffic in via new junction with High Street 

 

 

All scenarios are modelled for an AM peak period (07:45 – 09:15) and PM peak period (14:45 – 
16:15). 

The modelling is confined to the junction capacity under the future scenarios. Congestion on the local 
highway may also be caused by link capacity constraints resulting from parking, queuing and narrow 
carriageway widths which are not reflected in modelling outputs. 

Figure 6.5 – Illustration of modelling Do something scenarios A to D. 

Page 161



DRAFT 

66 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

MAESGWYNNE ROUNDABOUT – SITE 5 

Table 6.5 presents the expected queue lengths and Ratio of Flow to Capacity (RFC) for all scenarios 
on Maesgwynne Roundabout. The models provide results for each 15 minute segment within the 
peak. The values shown in Table 6.5 are the maximum values observed in a 15 minute segments. 

Table 6.5 - Modelling results of all scenarios for Maesgwynne Roundabout. 

SCENARIO 
TIME 

PERIOD 

BRECON ROAD MAESGWYNNE HIGH STREET 

QUEUE 

(PCUS) 
RFC 

QUEUE 

(PCUS) 
RFC 

QUEUE 

(PCUS) 
RFC 

Base Year 2017 
AM Peak 0.45 0.31 0.14 0.12 1.26 0.56 

PM Peak 1.06 0.51 0.12 0.10 0.76 0.43 

Opening Year 2020, Do nothing 
AM Peak 0.48 0.32 0.14 0.12 1.34 0.57 

PM Peak 1.15 0.53 0.12 0.10 0.80 0.44 

2020, Do something A 
AM Peak 0.59 0.37 0.14 0.12 2.96 0.76 

PM Peak 1.50 0.60 0.12 0.10 1.51 0.60 

2020, Do something B 
AM Peak 0.59 0.37 0.55 0.35 2.22 0.69 

PM Peak 1.50 0.60 2.78 0.74 1.51 0.60 

2020, Do something C 
AM Peak 0.51 0.34 0.14 0.12 1.46 0.59 

PM Peak 1.22 0.55 0.12 0.10 0.81 0.44 

2020, Do something D 
AM Peak 1.22 0.55 0.12 0.10 0.81 0.44 

PM Peak 1.22 0.55 0.12 0.10 0.81 0.44 

Scenario A for Maesgwynne Roundabout represents access options B7, B8 and B9 where it is 
proposed for all pupil and staff trips to enter the site via Maesgwynne. Scenario B for Maesgwynne 
Roundabout represents access options B10 where it is proposed for all pupils and staff to enter and 
exit the site via Maesgwynne. 

An RFC threshold of 0.85 is used as the industry standard to indicate whether a junction is operating 
within its theoretical capacity, above this value queues will generally begin to form. Table 6.6 shows 
that the roundabout performs within this acceptable limit for all scenarios. The highest value of RFC 
expected is 0.76 on the High Street arm for Scenario A in the AM peak. This corresponds with the 
maximum queue length of 3 PCUs on High Street for Scenario A in the AM peak.  

Page 162



DRAFT 

67 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

PONTYCAPEL ROAD WITH HIGH STREET – SITE 4A AND 4B 

Table 6.6 presents the expected queue lengths and RFC values for all scenarios on Site 4A, the one-
way section of Pontycapel Road forming a junction with High Street. It shows that the junction is 
forecast to operate within its theoretical capacity in all scenarios. 

  

Table 6.6 – Modelling results of all scenarios for Site 4A. 

SCENARIO 
TIME 

PERIOD 

LEFT TURN ONTO HIGH STREET RIGHT TURN ONTO HIGH STREET 

QUEUE (PCUS) RFC QUEUE (PCUS) RFC 

Base Year 2017 
AM Peak 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.03 

PM Peak 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.02 

Opening Year 2020, Do nothing 
AM Peak 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

PM Peak 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.02 

2020, Do something A 
AM Peak 0.26 0.21 0.04 0.04 

PM Peak 0.74 0.43 0.02 0.02 

2020, Do something B 
AM Peak 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

PM Peak 0.04 0.04 0.02 0.02 

2020, Do something C 
AM Peak 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

PM Peak 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.02 

2020, Do something D 
AM Peak 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

PM Peak 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.02 

Table 6.7 presents the expected queue lengths and RFC values for all scenarios on Site 4B, the main 
two-way section of Pontycapel Road forming a junction with High Street. It shows that the junction is 
forecast to operate within its theoretical capacity in all scenarios. 

Page 163



DRAFT 

68 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

Table 6.7 – Modelling results for all scenarios for Site 4B. 

SCENARIO 
TIME 

PERIOD 

LEFT AND RIGHT TURN ONTO 

HIGH STREET 
RIGHT TURN ONTO PONTYCAPEL 

ROAD   

QUEUE (PCUS) RFC QUEUE (PCUS) RFC 

Base Year 2017 
AM Peak 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.04 

PM Peak 0.08 0.07 0.04 0.03 

Opening Year 2020, Do nothing 
AM Peak 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.04 

PM Peak 0.08 0.07 0.04 0.03 

2020, Do something A 
AM Peak 0.26 0.20 0.06 0.04 

PM Peak 0.75 0.43 0.04 0.03 

2020, Do something B 
AM Peak 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.04 

PM Peak 0.08 0.08 0.04 0.03 

2020, Do something C 
AM Peak 0.06 0.05 0.69 0.30 

PM Peak 0.08 0.07 0.57 0.29 

2020, Do something D 
AM Peak 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.04 

PM Peak 0.08 0.07 0.04 0.03 

The base year and opening year generate RFC values which are within the acceptable limit; the low 
RFC values reflect the existing low flow rates on High Street. 

Scenario A for Site 4A and 4B represents access options B7 and B8 where it is proposed for vehicles 
to exit the site via Pontycapel Road on to High Street. Scenario C for Site 4A and 4B represents 
access Options A7 where it is proposed for vehicles to enter the Former Vaynor School Site via 
Pontycapel Road. 

The maximum RFC value for Site 4A and 4B is 0.43 for Scenario A which is within the acceptable 
limit. 

NEW JUNCTION WITH HIGH STREET 

Scenario D represents Options A4 and A5 which propose accessing the Former Vaynor School Site 
via a new junction with High Street. As such modelling of this junction has been undertaken only for 
Scenario D.  

Table 6.8 presents the expected queue lengths and RFC values for Scenario D at the new junction 
which shows that the maximum RFC expected is 0.23.  

Page 164



DRAFT 

69 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

Table 6.8 – Modelling results for all scenarios for New Junction 

SCENARIO 
TIME 

PERIOD 

 
RIGHT TURNING TRAFFIC INTO NEW ACCESS 

QUEUE (PCUS) RFC 

2020, Do something D 
AM Peak 0.45 0.23 

PM Peak 0.40 0.22 

 

6.4 SUMMARY 

The junction capacity modelling has forecast that junctions will operate within capacity in all future 
year scenarios. The modelling has been confined to study junctions. Some congestion on local 
highway links may still result from on-street parking, traffic queuing to access/egress site and the 
constrained highway widths surrounding the site. 

Page 165



DRAFT 

70 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

7 ACCESS OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

7.1 OVERVIEW 

This section of the report provides an appraisal of each of the vehicle access options identified in 
Section 5.5 of this report. 

An Appraisal Summary Table (AST), outlining the findings of this appraisal, is presented in this 
section of the report which summarises the scores of each option against the TPOs. 

 

7.2 METHODOLOGY 

All the access options that emerged following the sifting process were appraised using a ten point 
scale from -5 (major negative impact), to +5 (major benefit) against the scheme TPOs. The impact of 
the access options has been appraised against the current situation (i.e. the existing school location 
and layout). The material condition of the existing school means that a Do Nothing scenario where the 
school is not relocated is not a viable option but it can be used as a baseline. 

The scheme TPOs are as follows: 

TPO 1. Minimise the impact of school traffic and parking on the local highway network for all users. 

TPO 2. Provide pedestrian users with legible and safe routes to school. 

TPO 3.   Identify an appropriate access strategy which does not compromise the land required for a 
school building and associated facilities. 

TPO. 4  Provide an access option that minimises the impact on local residents and land-owners. 

TPO 5. Provide appropriate access for construction vehicles, service vehicles and emergency 
vehicles. 

 

7.3 APPRAISAL FOR FORMER VAYNOR SCHOOL OPTIONS 

Due to the topography of this site it would be much more practical for the school building to be 
constructed in an east-west orientation across the southern area of the site. This requirement has 
been taken into consideration when accessing the options against TPO 3. 

OPTION A4   

Vehicular access from north, via a new vehicular link and an eastbound one-way arrangement back to 
High Street. 

TPO 1.   Likely for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets due to limited parking and highway 
capacity on site. Limited visibility for drivers exiting the site. Potential for queuing back onto 
High Street. (-4) 

TPO 2.   Opportunities to provide pedestrian access to east, south, and west although limited 
connecting footway provision. (+1)  

TPO 3.   Minimal impact on site for provision of school building orientated east-west. Significant 
access constraints with limited area for drop-off/pick up. (-1) 

Page 166



DRAFT 

71 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

TPO 4.    Requires new junction from High Street and relocation of existing bus stop. Impact of one-
way TRO on local residents, and increased flows on Holford Street and Old Church Street. 
(-4) 

TPO 5.   Necessary to provide sufficient turning area for service vehicles. Exit from site is constrained 
and potential for blocking from parked vehicles. (-2)    

OPTION A5   

Vehicular access from north, via a new vehicular link and egress to South Terrace. 

TPO 1.   Likely for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets due to limited parking and highway 
capacity on site. Increased flows on six-arm junction. Potential for conflict with vehicles on 
South Terrace. Potential for queuing back onto High Street. (-4) 

TPO 2.   Opportunities to improve pedestrian provision to east and south although limited connecting 
footway provision. (+1) 

TPO 3.   Land required to north and west of site for vehicle access. Potential for east-west orientated 
building. (-3)   

TPO 4.   Requires new junction from High Street and relocation of existing bus stop. Impact of one-
way TRO, and increased flows on South Terrace and Triangle. (-3)  

TPO 5.   Constrained alignment for manoeuvres by large vehicles. (-2)   

OPTION A6   

Vehicular access from west, via South Terrace and egress to the south onto Pontycapel Road. 

TPO 1.   Likely for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets due to limited parking and highway 
capacity on site. Limited visibility for vehicles exiting the site onto Pontycapel Road. (-5) 

TPO 2.   Opportunities to improve pedestrian provision to north, east, and south. Although limited 
connecting footway provision. (+1) 

TPO 3.   To achieve an east-west orientated school building the through route will be squeezed to the 
edge of the site. (-4)  

TPO 4.   Impact of one-way TRO and increased flows on Pontycapel Road, South Terrace, and 
Triangle. (-4) 

TPO 5.   Constrained alignment for manoeuvres by large vehicles, limited visibility when egressing 
site. (-4)     

OPTION A7   

Vehicular access from south via Pontycapel Road and egress to South Terrace. 

TPO 1.   Likely for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets due to limited parking and highway 
capacity on site. (-2) 

TPO 2.   Opportunities to improve pedestrian provision to north, east, and south although limited 
connecting footway provision. (+1) 

TPO 3.   To achieve an east-west orientated school building the through route will be squeezed to the 
edge of the site. (-4) 

TPO 4.   Impact of one-way TRO and increased flows on Pontycapel Road, South Terrace, and 
Triangle. (-4) 

TPO 5.  Constrained alignment for manoeuvres by large vehicles. (-2)   

Page 167



DRAFT 

72 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

OPTION A8   

Access via rugby fields (new drop-off facility to the south of the site) and egress on Pontycapel Road 
supported by eastbound one-way restriction. 

TPO 1.   Provides dedicated parking provision although some on-street parking still likely to occur. 
(+3) 

TPO 2.   Opportunities to improve pedestrian provision to north, east, south, and west. Drop-off/pick-
up area is remote from school. (-1) 

TPO 3.   No land-take on development site for staff and pupil parking provision. Requirement to 
provide dedicated parking facilities for disabled users close to school building.  Requires 
service access. (+3) 

TPO 4.   Requires one-way TRO on Pontycapel Road and diversion to access properties on 
Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. Requires new access/egress. (-4) 

TPO 5.    Necessary to provide access to site for service and emergency vehicles. (0) 

APPRAISAL SUMMARY 

The scorings of the appraisal are shown in Table 7.1.  

Table 7.1: Appraisal Summary Table Former Vaynor School Access Options 

 
ACCESS 
OPTION 

TPO1 TPO2 TPO3 TPO4 TPO5 TOTAL 

A4 -4 +1 -1 -4 -2 -10 

A5 -4 +1 -3 -3 -2 -11 

A6 -5 +1 -4 -4 -4 -16 

A7 -2 +1 -4 -4 -2 -11 

A8 +3 -1 +3 -4 0 +1 

 
Access Option A8 scored the highest of the options to the Former Vaynor School Site with the 
remainder resulting in a negative impact.

Page 168



DRAFT 

73 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

 

7.4 APPRAISAL FOR GODRE’R COED FIELDS OPTIONS 

OPTION B7 

Vehicle access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens, egress via Godre’r Coed Road and 
Pontycapel Road. One-way restriction on Pontycapel Road. 

TPO 1.   Potential for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets to avoid entering site or if no spaces 
are available on site. (+3) 

TPO 2.   Provides traffic free route to school through Former Vaynor School Site and crossing 
facilities over Pontycapel Road. (+3) 

TPO 3.  Land take on development site will not compromise land required for a school building and 
associated facilities. (+5) 

TPO 4.    Requires one-way TRO on Pontycapel Road and diversion to access properties on 
Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. Requires new access/egress. Increased flows on 
local highways. (-3) 

TPO 5.   Necessary to make provisions on site for turning facility for larger vehicles to enter and exit 
via Cyfarthfa Gardens. (+2) 

OPTION B8 

Vehicle access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens, egress via Godre’r Coed Road and 
Pontycapel Road. One-way restriction on Pontycapel Road east of Godre’r Coed Road junction. 

TPO 1.   Potential for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets to avoid entering site or if no spaces 
are available on site. (+3) 

TPO 2.   Provides traffic free route to school through Former Vaynor School Site and crossing 
facilities over Pontycapel Road. (+3) 

TPO 3.  Land take on development site will not compromise land required for a school building and 
associated facilities. (+5) 

TPO 4.    Requires one-way TRO on east of Pontycapel Road and diversion to access properties on 
Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed Road. Requires new access/egress. Increased flows on 
local highways. (-2) 

TPO 5.   Necessary to make provisions on site for turning facility for larger vehicles to enter and exit 
via Cyfarthfa Gardens. (+2) 

OPTION B9 

Vehicle access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens, egress via Godre’r Coed Road and 
Pontycapel Road. No one-way restrictions on Pontycapel Road. 

TPO 1.   Potential for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets to avoid entering site or if no spaces 
are available on site.(+2) 

TPO 2.   Provides traffic free route to school through Former Vaynor School Site and new crossing 
facilities over Pontycapel Road. (+3) 

TPO 3.  Land take on development site will not compromise land required for a school building and 
associated facilities. (+5) 

TPO 4.    Requires new access/egress. Increased flows on local highways. (-1) 

Page 169



DRAFT 

74 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

TPO 5.   Necessary to make provisions on site for turning facility for larger vehicles to enter and exit 
via Cyfarthfa Gardens. (+2) 

 

OPTION B10  

Two-way vehicle access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. 

TPO 1.   Potential for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets to avoid entering site. (+1) 

TPO 2.   Provides traffic free route to school through Former Vaynor School Site and new crossing 
facilities over Pontycapel Road. (+4) 

TPO 3.  Land take on development site will not compromise land required for a school building and 
associated facilities. (+5) 

TPO 4.    Requires new access/egress. Increased flows on Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens.(-1) 

TPO 5.   Necessary to make provisions on site for turning facility for larger vehicles to enter and exit 
via Cyfarthfa Gardens. (+5) 

 

OPTION B11 

Two-way vehicle access via Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens for school pupil drop-off/pick-up 
only. Two-way vehicle access via Pontycapel Road and Godre’r Coed Road for staff parking. 

TPO 1.   Potential for drivers to drop off on surrounding streets to avoid entering site. (+1) 

TPO 2.   Provides traffic free route to school through Former Vaynor School Site and new crossing 
facilities over Pontycapel Road. Two way traffic on Godre’r Coed Road. (+3) 

TPO 3.  Land take on development site will not compromise land required for a school building and 
associated facilities.  (+5) 

TPO 4.    Requires new access/egress. Increased flows on Maesgwynne and Cyfarthfa Gardens. (-1) 

TPO 5.   Necessary to make provisions on site for turning facility for larger vehicles to enter and exit 
via Cyfarthfa Gardens. (+5) 

Page 170



DRAFT 

75 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

APPRAISAL SUMMARY 

The scorings of the appraisal for the access options to the Godre’r Coed Playing Fields site are shown 
in Table 7.2. 

Table 7.2 Appraisal Summary Table Godre’r Coed Playing Fields Site Access Options 

 
ACCESS 
OPTION 

TPO1 TPO2 TPO3 TPO4 TPO5 TOTAL 

B7 +3 +3 +5 -3 +2 +10 

B8 +3 +3 +5 -2 +2 +11 

B9 +2 +3 +5 -1 +2 +11 

B10 +1 +4 +5 -1 +5 +14 

B11 +1 +3 +5 -1 +5 +13 

Access option B10 scored the highest of the options to the Godre’r Coed Fields Site scoring 14. The 
appraisal shows that all access options to the Godre’r Coed Fields Site are expected to result in a 
positive impact compared to the existing situation. 

Page 171



DRAFT 

76 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

8 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

This report has set out a combined appraisal of access options related to two potential sites for the 
relocation of Ysgol y Graig primary school in Cefn Coed. An audit of existing highway conditions and 
personal injury collision records have been undertaken. It identified; 

 Significant highway constraints on roads to the north of Godre’r Coed Playing Fields linked to 
road alignments, widths, visibilities and on-street parking,  

 No common causal factors or spatial grouping of recorded personal injury collisions on the local 
highway network in the vicinity of the proposed development sites; and, 

 Existing geometrical constraints relating to deflection of Maesgwynne Roundabout. 

Analysis of existing parking demand and capacity on the highways surrounding the sites show that 
there is spare capacity at the start and end of the school day. However, congestion is likely to occur if 
the new school only provides on-street parking provision in the vicinity of the development sites.  

For some access options it will be necessary to consider TROs to manage additional traffic on narrow 
streets. This will impact vehicular access to some existing properties which would inconvenience local 
residents. 

The existing school benefits from a high usage of active travel modes for journeys to school. At 
present 41% of pupils walk and 3% travel by bike. There is potential to sustain high active travel 
usage if appropriate NMU provision is provided as part of the development. There is limited potential 
to improve footway provision on streets to the north of the Godre’r Coed Fields site given available 
highway widths between adjacent residential properties. There are several locations where 
pedestrians are required to walk on the carriageway with vehicular traffic.  

The following supporting measures are recommended to improve safe and legible access by 
pedestrians: 

 A 20mph speed restriction zone on the streets surrounding the chosen relocation site; 

 Improvement to footways on the surrounding streets including providing continuous footway 
provision on Godre’r Coed Road if Godre’r Coed Fields Site is to be used; 

 New crossing facilities across Pontycapel Road; 

 New crossing facilities across High Street near Maesgwynne Roundabout to provide access to 
existing bus stop on High Street 

 Potential for new traffic free NMU routes to be provided through the Former Vaynor School site if 
designated for community use; and, 

 Improvements to pedestrian crossing provision at Maesgwynne Roundabout if it is to be used as 
access route. 

Any improvement schemes for Maesgwynne roundabout for pedestrians should also seek to address 
other existing geometrical constraints relating to deflection and manoeuvrability by large vehicles 
(such as 15m coaches) 

The junction capacity assessment shows no existing junction capacity issues for the junctions 
modelled. The assessments show that there are no junction capacity issues expected in the future 
scenarios. 

Page 172



DRAFT 

77 

 

Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Project No 70033398 

Five viable options were presented for access to the Former Vaynor School Site and five options to 
the Godre’r Coed Fields Site.  

The access options appraisal shows that the Godre’r Coed Site Options score more highly in relation 
to transport access by all modes. Access option A8 scored highest for the Former Vaynor School Site 
and Option B10 scored highest for the Godre’r Coed Fields Site. 

The appraisal has been prepared in support of the consultation and the appraisal is constrained to 
considering access arrangement by all modes. 

 

 

Page 173



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Page 174



Opportunities

Constraints
û Requires new access/egress.
û Restricted width of highway boundary.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Complex six-arm junction arrangement.
û Limited opportunity for new site egress to the south

due to topography of site.
û On-street parking limiting road space on

surrounding network.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Diversion to access properties on Pontycapel Road

and Godre’r Coed Road.
û Restricted visibility when exiting site onto

Pontycapel Road.
û Potential for queuing and increased parking

demand on surrounding streets during drop-
off/pick-up.

Uncertainties
û Topographical limitations to provide new

access/egress to south of site.
û Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order.
û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements

at six-arm junction.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Uncertainty of potential to remove bounding wall of

Former Vaynor School to widen Pontycapel Road.

Option A1
Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

NMU Provision
ü Opportunity to improve access from

north via High Street.
ü Opportunity to formalise access from

South via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Retain/improve existing access to east

and west via Old Church Street and
South Terrace.

ü Utilise existing site access/egress to south.
ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Provide dedicated NMU access to site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve conditions for existing users.
ü Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to

acquiring third party land.

Former
Vaynor

School Site

Former
Vaynor

School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site
Godre’r Coed

Fields Site

P
age 175



Opportunities

Constraints
û Requires new access/egress.
û Restricted width of highway boundary.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Complex six-arm junction arrangement.
û Limited opportunity for new site egress to the south

due to topography of site.
û On-street parking limiting road space on

surrounding network.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Diversion to access properties on Pontycapel Road

and Godre’r Coed Road.
û Restricted visibility when exiting site onto

Pontycapel Road.
û Potential for queuing and increased parking

demand on surrounding streets during drop-
off/pick-up.

Uncertainties

û Topographical limitations to provide new
access/egress to south of site.

û Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order.
û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements

at six-arm junction.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Uncertainty of potential to remove bounding wall of

Former Vaynor School to widen Pontycapel Road.

Option A2
Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

NMU Provision
ü Opportunity to improve access from

north via High Street.
ü Opportunity to formalise access from

South via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Retain/improve existing access to east

and west via Old Church Street and
South Terrace.

ü Utilise existing site access/egress to south.
ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Provide dedicated NMU access to site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve conditions for existing users.
ü Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to

acquiring third party land.

Former
Vaynor

School Site

Former
Vaynor

School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site
Godre’r Coed

Fields Site

P
age 176



Opportunities

ü Utilise existing site access/egress to west.
ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Provide dedicated NMU access to site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Provide dedicated pick-up/drop-off area.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve conditions for existing users.
ü Potential to widen Pontycapel Road subject to

acquiring third party land.

Constraints

Uncertainties

û Requires new access/egress.
û Restricted width of highway boundary.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Complex six-arm junction arrangement.
û On-street parking limiting road space on

surrounding network.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Diversion to access properties on Holford Street.
û Potential for queuing and increased parking

demand on South Terrace and Holford Street
during drop-off/pick up.

û Restricted visibility when exiting site onto Holford
Street.

û Potential for queuing and increased parking
demand on surrounding streets during drop-
off/pick-up.

û Acceptability of one-way Traffic Regulation Order.
û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements

at six-arm junction.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.

Option A3
Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

NMU Provision
ü Opportunity to improve access from

north via High Street.
ü Opportunity to formalise access from

South via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Retain/improve existing access to east

and west via Old Church Street and
South Terrace.

Former
Vaynor

School SiteFormer
Vaynor

School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site
Godre’r Coed

Fields Site

P
age 177



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

Page 178



Former
Vaynor
School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site

Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

Option B1

Key Constraints
û Restricted width of highway boundary on the

Triangle, Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed
Road.

û Complex six-arm junction arrangement
û Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order
û Long and indirect diversion to access proposed

site.
û On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road

space on surrounding road network.
û Long and indirect route to site.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Diversion to access properties on Pontycapel Road

and the Triangle.
û One-way Traffic Regulation Order on Godre’r Coed

Road would cause long diversion for access to
residential properties.

û Difficulty in restricting right turn movements at
junction of Godre’r Coed Road with Pontycapel
Road.

Opportunities

Uncertainties
û Acceptability of one-way TRO, particularly for

residents of Pontycapel Road and the Triangle.
û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements

at six arm junction.
û Acceptability of new access/egress from residents

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Uncertainty of potential to remove bounding wall of

Former Vaynor School to widen Pontycapel Road.

NMU Provision
ü Retain/improve existing footway

provision via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and
Maesgwynne.

ü Provide pedestrian crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road to Godre’r Coed
Road access.

Provide crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road

ü Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from
Godre'r Coed Road.

ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic

calming measure.

Provide traffic-free
pedestrian route through
Former Vaynor School site.

P
age 179



Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

Former
Vaynor
School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site

Option B2

Key Constraints
û Restricted width of highway boundary on the

Triangle, South Terrace and Godre'r Coed Road.
û Complex six-arm junction arrangement
û Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order
û Long and indirect diversion to access proposed

site.
û On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road

space on surrounding road network.
û Long and indirect route to site.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Requires acquisition of land outside of

development boundary.
û Segregation of Former School Site which could be

provided as alternative recreational green space for
community.

û Cost of construction of new highway through given
uneven topography of former Vaynor School site.

û Diversion to access to properties on South Terrace
and the Triangle.

û Difficulty in restricting turning movements at
junction of Godre’r Coed Road with Pontycapel
Road.

NMU Provision
ü Retain/improve existing footway

provision via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and
Maesgwynne.

ü Provide pedestrian crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road from Old Church
Street and new link footway to Godre’r
Coed Road access.

Uncertainties
û Acceptability of one-way TRO, particularly for

residents of South Terrace and the Triangle,
û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements

at six arm junction.
û Acceptability of new access/egress from residents

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.

Provide crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road

Opportunities

ü Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from
Godre'r Coed Road.

ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic

calming measure.

Acquisition of land from
Former Vaynor School Site.

P
age 180



Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

Former
Vaynor
School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site

Option B3

Key Constraints
û Restricted width of highway boundary on Old

Chapel Road, Pontycapel Road and Godre'r Coed
Road.

û Limited visibility on Old Chapel Road at junction
with High Street.

û On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road
space on surrounding road network.

û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve
footway provision.

û Complex six-arm junction arrangement.
û Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order.
û Long and indirect route to/from site.
û Diversion for residents of Pontycapel Road and Old

Chapel Road.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Difficulty in restricting right turn movements at

junction of Godre’r Coed Road with Pontycapel
Road.

NMU Provision
ü Retain/improve existing footway

provision via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and
Maesgwynne.

ü Provide pedestrian crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road from Old Church
Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road
access.

Uncertainties
û Acceptability of one-way TRO, particularly for

residents on Pontycapel Road and Old Chapel
Road.

û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements
at six arm junction.

û Acceptability of new access/egress from residents
of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.

û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Uncertainty of potential to remove bounding wall of

Former Vaynor School to widen Pontycapel Road.

Provide crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road

Opportunities

ü Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from
Godre'r Coed Road.

ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic

calming measure.

Provide traffic-free
pedestrian route through
Former Vaynor School site.

P
age 181



Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

Former
Vaynor
School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site

Option B4

Key Constraints
û Restricted width of highway boundary on Old

Chapel Road, South Terrace, and Godre'r Coed
Road.

û Limited visibility on Old Chapel Road at junction
with High Street.

û On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road
space on surrounding road network.

û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve
footway provision.

û Complex six-arm junction arrangement.
û Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order
û Long and indirect route to/from site.
û Diversion to access to properties on South Terrace

and Old Chapel Road.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Requires acquisition of land outside of

development boundary.
û Cost of construction of new highway through given

uneven topography of former Vaynor School site.
û Difficulty in restricting turning movements at

junction of Godre’r Coed Road with Pontycapel
Road.

NMU Provision
ü Retain/improve existing footway

provision via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and
Maesgwynne.

ü Provide pedestrian crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road from Old Church
Street and new link footway to Godre’r
Coed Road access.

Uncertainties
û Acceptability of one-way TRO, particularly for

residents of South Terrace and Old Chapel Road.
û Acceptability of rationalising/restricting movements

at six arm junction.
û Acceptability of new access/egress from residents

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.

Provide crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road

Opportunities

ü Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from
Godre'r Coed Road.

ü Reduce potential vehicle conflict on local network.
ü Rationalise movements at six-arm junction.
ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic

calming measure.

Acquisition of land from
Former Vaynor School Site.

P
age 182



Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

Former
Vaynor

School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site

Option B5

Key Constraints
û Restricted width of highway boundary on Godre'r

Coed Road.
û Limited visibility at junction with Holford Street and

High Street,
û Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order.
û On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road

space on surrounding road network.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Requires acquisition of land outside of

development boundary.
û Requires relocation of bus stop on High Street.
û Cost of construction of new highway through given

uneven topography of former Vaynor School site.
û Difficulty in restricting turning movements at

junction of Godre’r Coed Road with Pontycapel
Road.

NMU Provision
ü Retain/improve existing footway

provision via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and
Maesgwynne.

ü Provide pedestrian crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road from Old Church
Street and new link footway to Godre’r
Coed Road access.

Uncertainties
û Acceptability of one-way TRO.
û Acceptability of new access/egress from residents

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Acquisition of 3rd party land.

Direction of access can be in either
northbound or southbound direction.
One-way TRO to be implemented in
direction of access.

Provide crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road

Opportunities

ü Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from
Godre'r Coed Road.

ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic

calming measure.

Acquisition of land used as
outdoor space land for
residents of Whitehorse
Court and car parking area.

Acquisition of land from
Former Vaynor School Site.

P
age 183



Vehicular access

NMU Access

One-way TRO

Former
Vaynor

School Site

Godre’r Coed
Fields Site

Option B6

Key Constraints
û Restricted width of highway boundary on Old

Church Street and Godre'r Coed Road.
û Requires one-way Traffic Regulation Order
û On-street parking and refuse bins limiting road

space on surrounding road network.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Limited opportunity to widen and/or improve

footway provision.
û Requires acquisition of land outside of

development boundary.
û Cost of construction of new highway through given

uneven topography of former Vaynor School site.
û Difficulty in restricting turning movements at

junction of Godre’r Coed Road with Pontycapel
Road.

NMU Provision
ü Retain/improve existing footway

provision via Godre’r Coed Road.
ü Opportunity to utilise existing pedestrian

footways on Cyfarthfa Gardens and
Maesgwynne.

ü Provide pedestrian crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road from Old Church
Street footway to Godre’r Coed Road
access.

Uncertainties
û Acceptability of one-way TRO.
û Acceptability of new access/egress from residents

of Cyfarthfa Gardens and Maesgwynne.
û Acceptability of increased traffic volumes.
û Acquisition of land outside of development

boundary.

Direction of access can be in either
northbound or southbound direction.
One-way TRO on Old Church Street
to be implemented in direction of
access.

Provide crossing facilities
over Pontycapel Road

Opportunities

ü Utilise existing vehicle site access/egress from
Godre'r Coed Road.

ü Improve footway network surrounding site.
ü Improve perceived safety of pedestrians.
ü Utilise incline on Godre’r Coed Road as traffic

calming measure.

Acquisition of land from
Former Vaynor School Site.

Provide traffic-free
pedestrian route through
Former Vaynor School site.

P
age 184



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 

Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 

Page 201



In
Out 0 86 86 32

0 0 0 86
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0

68 0 0 0 32 0 0 41
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

127
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something A - development traffic only
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 202



In
Out 0 68 68 32

0 0 0 68
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0

68 0 0 0 32 0 0 32
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

100
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something A - development traffic only
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 203



In
Out 0 86 86 0

0 0 0 86
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
0 68 68 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41
68 32 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

127
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something B - development traffic only
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 204



In
Out 0 68 68 0

0 0 0 68
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
0 68 68 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32
68 32 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

100
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something B - development traffic only
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 205



In
Out 0 118 32 32

0 0 86 0
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 41

0 0 0 0 0 0 41 0
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

127
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something C - development traffic only
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 206



In
Out 0 100 32 32

0 0 68 0
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
0 0 0 32

0 0 0 0 0 0 32 0
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

100
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something C - development traffic only
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 207



In
Out 0 32 32 32

86 0 0 0
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
41 41 41 41

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

127
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something D - development traffic only
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 208



In
Out 0 32 32 32

68 0 0 0
0 0 0

0
0 0 0 0
32 32 32 32

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

100
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

2020, Do something D - development traffic only
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 209



In
Out 605 612 608 582

0 0 17 17
0 0 6

1
348 0 0 2
0 329 328 284

28 13 0 1 20 0 18 28
40 61 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

107
83

-
-

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Base Year 2017
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 210



In
Out 478 480 467 497

0 0 25 29
0 0 5

0
544 0 0 0
0 524 523 571

24 12 0 1 29 0 33 70
29 56 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

83
83

-
-

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Base Year 2017
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 211



In
Out 628 635 631 603

0 0 18 17
0 0 6

1
361 0 0 2
0 341 340 294

29 14 0 1 21 0 18 29
41 63 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

107
83

-
-

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Opening Year 2020
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 212



In
Out 495 497 484 515

0 0 26 30
0 0 5

0
564 0 0 0
0 544 543 592

24 12 0 1 30 0 34 73
30 58 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

83
83

-
-

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Opening Year 2020
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 213



In
Out -27 -27 -27 -27

0 0 0 0
0 0 0

0
-34 0 0 0
0 -34 -34 -34

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-107
-83

-
-

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Trips to existing school to be removed from network
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 214



In
Out -27 -27 -27 -27

0 0 0 0
0 0 0

0
-27 0 0 0
0 -27 -27 -27

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-83
-83

-
-

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Trips to existing school to be removed from network
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 215



In
Out 601 695 691 609

0 0 18 104
0 0 6

0
327 0 0 2
0 307 306 260

97 14 0 1 53 0 18 69
41 63 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

127
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something A
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 216



In
Out 469 539 525 521

0 0 26 98
0 0 5

0
537 0 0 0
0 517 516 565

92 12 0 1 62 0 34 105
30 58 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

100
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something A
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 217



In
Out 601 695 691 577

0 0 18 104
0 0 6

0
327 0 0 2
0 375 374 260

29 14 0 1 21 0 18 69
109 95 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

127
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something B
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 218



In
Out 469 539 525 489

0 0 26 98
0 0 5

0
537 0 0 0
0 585 584 565

24 12 0 1 30 0 34 105
98 90 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

100
100

-
-

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something B
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 219



In
Out 601 727 636 609

0 0 104 17
0 0 6

0
327 0 0 2
0 307 306 301

29 14 0 1 21 0 59 29
41 63 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

127
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something C
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 220



In
Out 469 571 489 521

0 0 94 30
0 0 5

0
537 0 0 0
0 517 516 597

24 12 0 1 30 0 66 73
30 58 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

100
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something C
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 221



In
Out 601 640 636 609

86 0 18 17
0 0 6

1
327 0 0 2
41 348 347 301

29 14 0 1 21 0 18 29
41 63 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

127
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something D
AM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 222



In
Out 469 503 489 521

68 0 26 30
0 0 5

0
537 0 0 0
32 549 548 597

24 12 0 1 30 0 34 73
30 58 0

In
Out

In
Out

Scenario: Ysgol y Graig, Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil
Time period: Transport Options Assessment
Flows are shown in PCU for time period June 2017

-
-

-
-

100
100

Godre'r
Coed
Fields

Former
Vaynor
School

Existing
School

Year 2020, Do something D
PM 2 hours

Brecon Road A4054High Street A4054High Street A4054

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

M
ae

sg
w

yn
ne

Site 5Site 4BSite 4A

Po
te

nt
ia

ln
ew

ac
ce

ss

Po
nt

yc
ap

el
R

oa
d

O
ld

C
hu

rc
h

St
re

et

Godre'r Coed Road

O
ld

C
ha

pe
lR

oa
d

Pontycapel Road

South Terrace

Holford Street

P
age 223



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

WSP 

1 Capital Quarter 

Tyndall Street 

Cardiff 

CF10 4BZ 

 

www.wsp-pb.com 
Page 224


	Agenda
	3 21st Century Schools Programme  -  Proposed New Build for Ysgol-y-Graig Primary School
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


		2017-06-12T16:12:29+0100
	Sheady, Rhian


		2017-06-12T16:17:38+0100
	Goddard, Lisa


		2017-06-12T16:19:21+0100
	Taylor, Neil




